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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this annual report is accurate and
complete in all material respect and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Ms. Kuo Kwan
Ms. Xie Mengna (resigned with effect from 31 December 2023)
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley
(appointed with effect from 22 December 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman)
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.,.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Chairman)
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p.

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhou Li (Chairman)

Mr. Ji Zuguang

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

NOMINATION AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p.

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Yuet Kwai
(resigned with effect from 11 December 2023)
Ms. Tse Ka Yan (appointed with effect from 11 December 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Kuo Kwan
Ms. Chan Yuet Kwai
(resigned with effect from 11 December 2023)
Ms. Tse Ka Yan (appointed with effect from 11 December 2023)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARER
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TEHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | am pleased
to present to you the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2024.

The economies of the PRC and Hong Kong are still in the
process of recovering from the pandemic; the global economic
environment is still expected to be challenging and remained
uncertain. Our wine business and loan financing business
are still under suppression in the current year due to threats
from variants of the COVID-19 and the uncertain economic
environment. The Board and all our staff will carry on with
the spirit of dedication and diligence, to provide high-quality
products and services, optimize business portfolio of the
Group as well as to find new direction and potential business
collaboration to reduce the impact as well as creating more
value for shareholders.

The Group believes that it could bring in synergies which could
enhance our current fundamental business as well as additional
stream of income to the Group through business diversification
and to reduce the impact of increasing cost structure under the
competitive environment, which will deliver long term increase in
shareholders’ value.

Finally, | would like to express my greatest gratitude to the
Board, management and staff for their strenuous contribution
towards the Group. Furthermore, | would also like to thank
our executive Directors, Ms. Kuo Kwan and Dr. Cheung
Yuk Shan Shirley. | also extend my sincere gratitude to our
business partners and shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) for their continuous support and trust. | believe
all members of the Group will dedicate their best efforts to
drive business growth and to deliver enhanced returns to the
Shareholders.

Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEEBESE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Kuo Kwan (“Ms. Kuo”), aged 54, was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company on 25 September 2017 and
holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group. She
has over 25 years of accounting and auditing experience and
held senior management positions in various listed and private
companies in Hong Kong. She was the chief financial officer
from December 2010 to May 2016 and the company secretary
from November 2011 to July 2014 of Credit China Holdings
Limited ((currently known as Chong Sing Holdings FinTech
Group Limited), a company whose shares were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and cancelled on 30 November 2020 (stock
code prior to cancellation of listing: 08207)). Ms. Kuo was an
executive director of GreaterChina Technology Group Limited
(currently known as Viva Goods Company Limited, a company
whose shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 08032), and had transferred from GEM of the Stock
Exchange to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00933) in June 2023), from January 2005 to September 2008.

Ms. Kuo is a member of CPA Australia and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). She graduated from University of Melbourne in
Australia with a bachelor’s degree in commerce.

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley (“Dr. Cheung”), aged 49, was
appointed as the executive Director of the Company on 22
December 2023. She was the chairlady and executive director
from May 2002 to September 2017, and the non-executive
director and honorary chairlady from September 2017 to July
2018 of SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED (stock code:
08200), whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
In 2004, she was awarded as one of the “100 Outstanding
Women Entrepreneurs in China” by the Women Enterprises’
Association of China. In 2006, Dr. Cheung was awarded as
one of the “World Outstanding Chinese” by the World China
Business Investment Foundation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Cheung founded the Shirley Cheung Charity Foundation in
2012, which is granted as an approved charitable organization,
and served as the chairlady to lead the foundation to participate
in social welfare services and fulfill social responsibilities. Dr.
Cheung is currently the honorary advisor of the Against Elderly
Abuse of Hong Kong, the vice chairman of the Shanghai Soong
Ching Ling Foundation Maternal and Infant Safety Fund, and the
chairman of the Food for Good Community Kitchens, to spare
no effort in improving the lives of various recipients such as the
elderly and children.

Dr. Cheung has served as a mentor of the Business-School
Partnership Program of the Young Entrepreneur Development
Council for many times, and a committee member of the
Employer Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong College of
Technology, allowing young people to understand the industry
environment and provide professional industry advice.

Dr. Cheung holds an Honorary Doctorate degree from
Armstrong University, U.S.A. and an Executive Master degree of
Business Administration from Peking University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ji Zuguang (“Mr. Ji”), aged 67, was appointed as a non-
executive Director and chairman of the Company (“Chairman”)
on 3 October 2019 and 31 July 2020 respectively. He holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group, among which
Mr. Ji has been a director of Starlight Financial Holdings Limited
(“Starlight”) since August 2012, which is an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company since March 2019.

From 1992 to 2000, he served as secretary and engineer of
the Shanghai Postal, Telephone and Communication Bureau
(LB ESEEIE Jrespectively. Since 2000, Mr. Ji served as
the Deputy General Manager of LT International Holdings Ltd.
(I 55 B £ B B BR A A )where he was mainly responsible for
the overall operation of property development projects and well
experienced in the property development industry. In 2003,
he participated in the establishment of Shanghai Yintong and
has since gained around 9 years of experience in the secured
financing industry.

Mr. Ji graduated from the Party School of the Central
Committee of C.P.C ( # # /1 R & 4 ) in 1992 majoring in
Economic Management. In 2006, Mr. Ji received his master’s
degree in Advanced Business Management from the Nanyang
Technological University of Singapore.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERERNEEEEEFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, u.r. (“Mr. Ip”), aged 73, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director (“INED”) and a member
of each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the nomination and corporate governance committee (the
“Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee”) and
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
of the Company on 1 February 2017. He was subsequently
redesignated as a non-executive Director (“NED”) and resigned
as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 March
2019. Mr. Ip possesses extensive experience in education.
He is a registered teacher, an educational consultant and a
teacher development expert. He is also a guest speaker of
universities and educational bodies in Hong Kong. Currently,
Mr. Ip is a consultant at the Centre for Education Research
and Development of the Hong Kong Policy Research Institute.
He was the Guest Professor of Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute from 2014 to 2020, the Project Coordinator of the
Education Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Speciall
Administrative Region (the “Education Bureau”) from 2010 to
September 2022. He was the Deputy Project Director of the
Education Bureau from 2004 to 2010 and the Chief School
Development Officer of the Education Bureau from 2002 to
2004. Mr. Ip was a teacher of Pui Kiu Middle School from 1973
to 1997 and became the principal from 1997 to 2002.

Mr. Ip was a member of Appeals Board (Education) from 2000
to 2001, a member of Board of Education from 1998 to 2002,
an elected member of Council on Professional Conduct in
Education from 1998 to 2002, a member of Quality Education
Fund Steering Committee from 1997 to 2001, a Standing
Committee member of the Hong Kong Federation of Education
Workers from 1993 to 1999. Mr. Ip was an elected member of
District Board (Islands) from 1994 to 1999.

Mr. Ip obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics at
University of Waterloo in Canada in 1972 and a diploma in
education at the School of Education of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in 1982.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (“Mr. Chu”), aged 59, was
appointed as an INED on 21 September 2015 and is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. From December 2008 to September
2020, he was the executive director of Chinese People Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 00681), whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From August 2021
to March 2022, he was the executive director of Momentum
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 01152), whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu
has/had been an independent non-executive director of the
following companies, whose shares are/were listed on the Main
Board or GEM of the Stock Exchange:

Name of listed companies Stock code
EHmARER Bz 151X 5%

HITEE (%)

KBERE(KREE]) 595 0 W20156F9A21H
BEZEABYFHTES RAEAERZESZE
B URTHEEeHRERCEERZESRE
ZHE - 2008 12 A £2020F 98 » HETHE
TRRBR AR (MDA  00681) © — A& 5D R B
RETERLETHRABZHITES - BH2021F8AE
2022%3H  WALESRIERAER QA (RHARR
01152)  —ERNPBRXAER LT R ZAITE
FEoREE—EH/ R T RBRMERKGEMET
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Period of appointment

54

Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited,
whose shares were delisted on
23 April 2024
HEIRIZERER A A
(B 202454 A23BEUE £)

00988

Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited 08512

JEEEEZERERAA

Peking University Resources (Holdings) 00618
Company Limited

IEREREZER)BER QA

Xinming China Holdings Limited 02699

TR ZERAR A A

Mingfa Group (International) Company 00846
Limited

PHEEE(HE)ERAF

SuperRobotics Holdings Limited 08176

BAZRZERERAA

China First Capital Group Limited 01269

PEEEEEERAR

Huayu Expressway Group Ltd. 01823

EISREBERADQA]

Tianli Holdings Group Limited 00117

AMEREEBR QA
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
master’s degree in business administration in December 1998.
Mr. Chu is a fellow member of HKICPA, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the
Chartered Governance Institute.

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean (“Dr. Lau”), aged 60, was
appointed as an INED on 4 June 2019 and is also a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee. Dr.
Lau has been a solicitor of Cheung & Co., Solicitors since July
2017. She was a partner of Reimer & Partners from May 2004 to
June 2014. Dr. Lau is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and
England and Wales and has over 19 years of post-qualification
legal experience.

Dr. Lau obtained her master of laws from the University of Hong
Kong in 2001 and her doctorate degree in civil and commercial
law from the China University of Political Science and Law in
2006. Dr. Lau is a manager of Kam Tsin Village Ho Tung School
and Hotung Secondary School, and a legal adviser to several
organisations and associations.

Mr. Zhou Li (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 58, was appointed as an INED
on 9 August 2022 and is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee and the Audit Committee.
He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Computer Science from
Zhejiang University in 1986 and a Master of Science from
Michigan State University in Computer Science in 1991.

From 1991 to 2000, Mr. Zhou worked at Microsoft Corporation
as a software engineer and subsequently as a technical director.
Since 2000, Mr. Zhou became an entrepreneur and started
several information technology and internet companies in the
PRC. During the period from 2009 to 2014, Mr. Zhou had also
served as the chief executive officer of Shanghai Wicresoft
Co. Ltd., a company established in the PRC that principally
engaged in the provision of software development and network
integration services with over 5,000 software engineers. After
leaving Shanghai Wicresoft Co. Ltd. in 2014, Mr. Zhou became
heavily involved in investment and mergers and acquisition
activities, mostly related to new technologies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBREFS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cho Yin (“Mr. Cho”) joined as financial controller of a
subsidiary of the Group, Madison (China) Limited, in January
2022. He is principally responsible for financial and accounting
matters of the Group.

Mr. Cho is a member of the HKICPA.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tse Ka Yan (“Ms. Tse”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative with
effect from 11 December 2023. She is responsible for handling
the company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Tse is an associate member of both the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom. She graduated from Lingnan
University in Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration in October 2007. She has over 15 years of
experience in company secretarial sector of listed companies
and a professional firm. She was the Company Secretary of the
Company from May 2015 to September 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) were principally
engaged in (i) the retail sales and wholesales of a wide
spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic beverages in
Hong Kong with a focus on red wine (the “Wine Business”);
(i) the provision of loan financing and consultancy services (the
“Loan Financing Business”); and (iii) the provision of financial
services (the “Financial Services Business”).

During the Year, the Group’s revenue decreased by
approximately 29.9% to approximately HK$68.1 million (2023:
HK$97.2 million). Such decrease was mainly due to (i) the
decrease in revenue generated from the Wine Business to
approximately HK$21.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 45.1% (2023: HK$39.9 million); and (ii) the
decrease in revenue generated from the Loan Financing
Business to approximately HK$46.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 19.4% (2023: HK$57.3 million).

The Group’s loss for the Year was approximately HK$17.8
million (2023: HK$1.4 million), representing an increase in
loss of approximately HK$16.4 million as compared with last
year. The increase in the loss was mainly attributable to (i) the
increase in net impairment recognised on loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$9.9 million; (i) the decrease in
gross profit of approximately HK$14.9 million; (iii) the decrease
in gain on the change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments of approximately HK$13.0 million; and partially
offset by (i) the decrease in finance costs of approximately
HK$7.1 million; and (ii) the decrease in income tax expense of
approximately HK$10.9 million which turned to income tax credit
of approximately HK$2.0 million for the Year.

X% E R

HE2024F3A31IBIEFEUF]) KRR REKNB
ANE( R AEBDEEXREN)VESETE LILE
ZEGEALREMBRESRNS  TEIRAB(ESE
BERK]D  ((REEXBRERFZARE((EREE
¥ RiilVRESBRRE((SRBREEEK]) -

TR ANEB R D #29.9% % £68,100,000/%5
70 (20234 : 97,200,000/ L) - B L £ Z HR()
BEBEBEEN KRS E421,900,000% 7T + #8
BRI 445.1% (20234 : 39,900,000 70) + K (ii)
BERmEEBEENWER D E 446,200,0008 7T
HERNR A #19.4% (20234 : 57,300,000/ 7T) °

RKEBAFEFBIBL A17,800,000% JT (2023 F
1,400,000 70 ) » 8 & F 518 1 10 49 16,400,000 7
T - EBEEAFZHNRFANRERERRF EH®
R 2R AEF 58 FH 499,900,000 7T ¢ (i) FE F R 4
14,900,000 7  (iVfTHE M T EZ A FEEZH UK
=58 4 #713,000,0007% 7 ¢ 30 4 () @R B AR AR D 4
7,100,000 7T + K (i) PT 15 4 B SR 4> 910,900,000
7 JT I & B %92,000,00008 JT HY BT 15 B 3K G AT S8 0 4K
8 o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Wine Business

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the Wine Business
decreased by approximately 45.1%, which amounted to
approximately HK$21.9 million (2023: HK$39.9 million) and the
Group recorded a decrease in segment loss of approximately
44.4%, which amounted to approximately HK$2.5 million (2023:
HK$4.5 million). As indicated by the drop in the average Hang
Seng Index of approximately 1,900 as compared with the
corresponding period last year and even hit below 15,000 in
the January 2024 which was one of the bottom in the recent
years, the investment atmosphere appeared to be pessimistic
during the Year. Accordingly, the demand for wine, in particular
the premium wines which were purchased mainly for collection
purpose, decreased accordingly.

Loan Financing Business

During the Year, the Loan Financing Business recorded a
decrease in revenue of approximately 19.4%, which amounted
to approximately HK$46.2 million (2023: HK$57.3 million) and a
segment loss of approximately HK$2.3 million (2023: segment
profit of approximately HK$19.9 million), which were mainly due
to an increase in net impairment recognised on loan and interest
receivables.

The size of Group’s loan portfolio was reduced to approximately
HK$287.2 million (2023: HK$303.5 million) as compared to last
year. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease
in average loan portfolio from HK$374.9 million in the last year
to HK$295.4 million for the Year. The management has been
prudent in granting new loans in light of the prevailing economic
conditions in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group aims to
grant new loans that could be covered by sufficient collaterals,
preferably properties and assets with good quality, and to
borrowers with good credit history. The target customer of the
business are individuals and corporate entities with both long-
term or short-term funding needs for business purposes and
could provide sufficient collaterals for their borrowings. The
Group has a stable source of loan deals from its own business
network and its sales agents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Loan Financing Business (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount, after allowance for
loan and interest receivables, of the loan portfolio held by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$264.7 million (2023:
HK$286.9 million) with details as follows:

Interest rate

Category of borrowers per month

B AR A&
%

Corporate 0.3-3

(3

Corporate 0.3-3

=F3

Individual 0.3-3

& A

Individual 0.3-3

& A

As at 31 March 2024, approximately 31.6% (2023: 42.9%) of the
carrying amount of the loan portfolio was secured by collaterals
with approximately 68.4% (2023: 57.1%) being unsecured. At
the Year end, the loan made to all borrowers were term loans
with maturity from one to five years, and the loan made to
the largest borrower and the top ten customers of the Loan
Financing Business accounted for approximately 10.0% (2023:
11.1%) and 31.1% (2023: 40.8%) of the Group’s loan portfolio
respectively.

XKEE e

BEXBMEEKF)

MR2024F3A31H AEBERFRBENERESENKRE
IWESAMF B #FEEMNREEEEL A264,700,000%
7t (20234 : 286,900,000/ 7T) » BT -

Approximate
weighting to the
carrying amount of
the Group’s loan

Maturity portfolio
EEAEEERAS

E|H B HEZBAOLE

2024 2023

% %

Within one year 18 25
1F AR
2-5 years 10 8
2E5F
Within one year 71 65
1F AR
2-5 years 1 2
2E5F

H ZE22024F3H31H * 431.6%(20234F : 42.9% )
MERAARESEAETRMRIER - £68.4%(2023
F571A%) BEER - RER - MAABERAZER
MERHAHBRA—FERAFNTHER HWE—K
BRARTRERREEBRFPERNE RS MG
REBEHRHEER10.0%(2023F : 11.1%) %31.1%
(20234 : 40.8%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss

The Group performs impairment assessment on loan and
interest receivables under the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”)
model. The measurement of ECL takes into account the
historical default experience, the financial position of the
counterparties, value of collaterals as well as the future
prospects of the industries in which the borrowers operate,
considering various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information for estimating the probability of default of
each of these financial assets occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon and the loss upon default in each
case. As at 31 March 2024, the impairment allowance for loan
and interest receivables recognised primarily represented the
credit risk involved in collectability of certain default and non-
default loans determined under the Group’s loan impairment
policy, with reference to certain factors including but not limited
to the credit history and financial condition of the borrowers
and the realisation value of the collaterals. Moreover, forward-
looking information including the future macro-economic
conditions affecting the borrowers has also been considered.

The Group has a system in place to closely monitor the
recoverability of its loan portfolio, its credit monitoring measures
including regular collateral reviews against market information
and regular communication with the borrowers in respect of their
financial position, through which the Group would be able to
keep updated with the latest credit profile and risk associated
with each individual borrower and could take appropriate
actions for recovery of a loan at the earliest time. If necessary,
the Group will commence legal actions against the borrowers
for recovery of the overdue loans and take possession of the
collaterals pledged.

A net impairment on loan and interest receivables (the “Loan
Receivables”) of approximately HK$29.8 million (2023:
HK$19.9 million) (the “Impairment”) was recognised during the
Year, including approximately HK$9.7 million (2023: HK$10.9
million) being attributed to the ECL to Loan Receivables and
a direct written-off of approximately HK$20.1 million (2023:
HK$9.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

U

Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and
Written-off Loans

As at 31 March 2024, there were 526 loans (2023: 557
loans) (the “Impaired Loans”) to which Impairment was
made in the Year based on the assessment of ECL, out
of which (i) 273 loans (2023: 273 loans) were overdue
and remained outstanding (the “Overdue Loans”); and
(i) 32 loans (20283: 920 loans) had been written-off (the
“Written-off Loans”). The majority of the Impaired Loans
were micro loans. The Overdue Loans and the Written-off
Loans amounted to approximately HK$30.4 million (2023:
HK$37.3 million) and HK$20.1 million (2023: HK$9.0
million) respectively, representing approximately 10.6%
(2023: 12.3%) and 7.0% (2023: 3.0%) of the Group’s
overall loan portfolio.

Details of the identities of the borrowers and the date on
which the Overdue Loans were granted are set out as
follows:

XK EOEE 2
WEEE(Z)

()

CREEXR BHERRCHHEERNFE

HZE2024F3A31H * B526F E 7 (20234 :
5572 B ([BEER ) EAFTERERS
EEBEMNTEETTRME  HEF()273FEH
FR(2028F : 2732 EF AP AREE([AHE
;) RK(i) 32 B (20234 : 9202 ER)E
W ((HMEER]) - KEDPBEERENEE
Koo mEIER LM EE RS B4 A30,400,000
7 7T (20234 : 37,300,0005 7T ) 220,100,000
75 70 (20234 9,000,000/ 7T ) » #4915 A &= [E &
BEEZEAM10.6%(2023%F  12.3%)F7.0%
(20234 : 3.0%) °

ERAFORBAREREL BHFENT :

Number of

loans granted

Frig

For the year ended 31 March BZ3A3MBLEE ERHNEH
2020 or before 20204 =X, 2 Bl 132
2021 20214 16
2022 20224 65
2023 20234 57
2024 20244 3
273
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)

(i) Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and

Written-off Loans (Continued)

Details of the identities of the borrowers and the date on
which the Written-off Loans were granted are set out as

XK EOEEz)
WEEE &)

EREEXR AHMERRCHMEERNFEE)

ERAFDEMEERR L BHFENT ¢

follows:
Number of
loans granted
Frig
For the year ended 31 March BZ3A3MBLEE ERHNEH
2020 or before 20204 3k 2 A 25
2021 20214 6
2022 20224 1
2023 20234 -
2024 20244 =
32

Among the Overdue Loans, there were 8 loans (2023: 36
loans) with special mention grading where there was a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
but with no credit impairment (the “Stage 2 Loans”), and
265 loans (2023: 237 loans) with a substandard/doubtful/
loss grading which are assessed to be credit impaired with
one or more event(s) that has/have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset occurred
(the “Stage 3 Loans”). The Stage 3 Loans represent loans
with borrowers (i) whose businesses were still in operation
in the past few years but were only unable to repay the
last few installments of the loans; or (ii) who/which were
able to repay but require additional time to the original
repayment schedule and/or may only be able to repay in
smaller installments. As at 31 March 2024, the average
outstanding amount of each of the Stage 3 Loans was
approximately HK$111,000 (2023: HK$104,000), and the
aggregate outstanding amount of the Stage 3 Loans was
approximately HK$29.3 million (2023: HK$24.7 million),
representing approximately 10.2% (2023: 8.1%) of the
Group’s overall loan portfolio.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)

U

(i)

Details of the Impaired Loans, Overdue Loans and
Written-off Loans (Continued)

In view of the above, the Board is of the view that, despite
the fact that a large number of the Overdue Loans was
categorised as Stage 3 Loans with credit impairment, the
Stage 3 Loans represent a relatively small proportion of the
Group’s overall loan portfolio. As at the date of this annual
report, the Group is still in the process of recovering these
Stage 3 Loans in accordance with the established internal
control and recovery procedures of the Group.

Reasons for and the circumstances leading to the
Impairment

The economic recovery in the PRC in the post-COVID-19
era has fallen short of expectation. Further, the outbreak
of debt crisis of the real estate developer in the PRC
has aggravated the situation. As such, corporations in
the PRC, in particular the small enterprises, continue to
operate under significant pressure.

By reasons of the above, the repayment ability of the
borrowers was severely impeded, resulting in a rise in
loan defaults and delinquent payments. The amount of
Loan Receivables written-off represented the outstanding
principal loan amount and interests proven to be
irrecoverable in light of the death or bankruptcy or wound-
up of the debtors. During the Year, the Court of Chongging
approved the restructuring plan for a corporate borrower
which declared bankrupt in 2017. According to the
restructuring plan, certain portion of the Loan Receivables
due from the borrower will become collectible in the
foreseeable future while a further written-off of HK$16.7
million was recorded. Further, the increasing loan default
rate has raised the historical loss rate, which would amplify
the valuation of the allowance. Taking into account the
increasing credit risk and the slight recoverability of certain
loans, the Impairment was made accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Reasons for and the circumstances leading to the
Impairment (Continued)

In the light of the rise in loan defaults and delinquent
payments under the current global and regional economic
condition, the Group recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$2.3 million during the Year (2023:
segment profit of approximately HK$19.9 million) after
deducting impairment and operating costs, and the total
net impairment loss recognised, including the Written-off
Loans, comprised approximately 10.4% (2023: 6.6%) of
the total amount of the Loan Receivables. When granting
loans to potential borrowers, the management strives
to strike a right balance between the relevant risks and
profits, and has taken into consideration the prevailing
economic environment.

Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in
the valuation

The Company has engaged BonVision International
Appraisals Limited (“BonVision”), an independent valuer,
to conduct valuation of the ECL of the Loan Receivables as
at 31 March 2024 in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong
BonVision adopted the probability of default method
(the “PD Method”) for the valuation of ECL of the Loan
Receivables in Hong Kong. Major inputs of the PD Method
include (i) exposure at default (“EAD”); (ii) probability of
default (“PD”); (iii) loss given default (“LGD”); and (iv)
discount factor (“DF”). The valuation is based on the
following formula:

ECL = EAD x PD x LGD x DF
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BUSINESS REVIEW (cContinued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in
the valuation (Continued)
Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the amount of EAD was approximately
HK$14.9 million. Details of which are set out below:

Gross balance of the Loan Receivables
in Hong Kong and EAD

a) BANMEERE(HTT)

a) Hong Kong Gross Domestic
Product (Note 1)

Add: Intercept m:EE

Logistic Forward Looking Global AEHERHRENE
Probability of Default EEER

Forward Looking Global AIEE 2 IREN X

Probability of Default

b) Global Probability of Default
(Note 2)

b) 2B (HiE2)

c) Credit Rating Specific Factor c) EEIREERE(HE3)
(Note 3)
Forward-looking Adjustment

ARG £ 30 &

Probability of Default EOBR
d) Recovery Rate (Note 4) d) W & (KfiF4)
e) Discount Factor (Note 5) e) BRI A F (H:E5)

Notes: Total figures may not sum up due to rounding

XK EOEE 2
WEEE(Z)

(iii) HEFEANBAERKANEIERR(E)

BEENE SRS RERIGE (&)

MR2024%F3A31H * EADMIE %4 514,900,000

BT o HIFES

Percentage
change

BOLED

2.900%

2R -

B8 B W B TR 45 #R 4B B )R EAD

Sensitivity
HRE

(12.377)

As at

31 March 2024
202445
3A31H
HK$°000
FET

14,900

Sensitivity
Weighted Return
R nFEE 3

(0.359)

(3.930)

(4.289)

1.353%

2.280%

1.100% - 31.350%

0.668

2.259% - 22.480%

0.000%

0.873 - 1.000

Wit - BBEROERBEREM

FERERE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

XK EOEEz)
WEEE &)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in (iii) FEPFEANBAEREANETERR(E)

the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of the Loan Receivables in Hong Kong EBENE SR FER s EEEEE(EZ)

(Continued)

1)  Hong Kong Gross
Domestic Product

BARMEELE
2)  Global Probability of Default
RHREBHE
3)  Credit Rating Specific
Factor
EEIREERE
4)  Recovery Rate

{EE=

5)  Discount Factor

Based on the percentage change in the Hong Kong gross domestic
product as at the date of valuation as extracted from International
Monetary Fund.

BRERSFAEEREEECELNEE  RTGRHSNEEENEER
BB D L& -

2023 global probability of default as extracted from Moody’s.
i ERBEM2023F 2 RELHHE -

Average cumulative issuer-weighted global default rates by alphanumeric
rating as extracted from Moody’s.

BEEBENBE  WFEBEFIARREENBITAMELZREOXN
FHRFEUE -

Proportion that expected to be recovered when there is a default on the
loan.
BEERERENRSEH YDA -

Calculated based on the applicable discount rate and the expected time
period before settlement.

BhIR A F BEEAMAREEEFT A MTEARMETE -

Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC o B fE UL B A B TR S BB PR 1 (E

BonVision adopted the provision matrix (the “Provision TEEMABHEEE((REERE D TTPEERE
Matrix”), which is based on the Company’s historical loss HOWTBHEEBERETMHE  EERAQRE
rates over the expected life of the Loan Receivables and EWERTEHFHANESLEEEX  WHATE
is adjusted for forward-looking factor, for the valuation MERERAZ BEEENIEHAEBRE
of ECL of the Loan Receivables in the PRC. Major inputs EAD » JEHiE 18R (TELR]) &2DF » {5 1E S5 E R A
of the Provision Matrix include EAD, expected loss rate TAR :

(“ELR”) and DF. The valuation is based on the following

formula:

ECL = EAD x ELR x DF

JEHA=E & 18 = EAD x ELR x DF
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥XKOE s
Impairment loss (Continued) WEEEE)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in (iii) FEPEANBAEBREANETERR(E)
the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC e ENE S TER S B EE G E(E)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the amount of EAD was MR2024%F3A31H EADM & BOHAE AR
approximately RMB255.6 million (equivalent to 255,600,000 7t ( #H & R #) 272,300,000 /#
approximately HK$272.3 million). Details of which are set o) o sEIBEEY WM T ¢
out below:
As at
31 March 2024
R2024%F
3H31H
HK$°000
FET
Gross balance of the Loan Receivables B R IR E B 4 #R 4R R ) EAD
in the PRC and EAD 272,300
Percentage Sensitivity
change Sensitivity  Weighted Return
BOLL#E BRE SR h0RE B R
a) PRC Gross Domestic Product a) WEEBEMET) 4.200% (17.293) (0.726)
(Note 1)
Add: Intercept e EE (3.044)
Logistic Forward-looking Global AEMRIENR (3.770)
Probability of Default BEER
Forward-looking Global Probability A #& | & HE 4 & 2.252%
of Default
b) Average Global Probability b) FHRIKELH XK 2.024%
of Default (Note 2) (Ktat2)
Forward-looking Adjustment A E M & 1.113
c) Historical Default Rate (Note 3)  ¢) B E5EE (f153) 1.848% - 97.291%
Probability of Default RS 2.056% - 100.000%
d) Recovery Rate (Note 4) d) Wm=E(f7iF4) 0.000% - 100.000%
e) Discount Factor (Note 5) e) BYIRAF (B :5) 0.821 - 1.000
Note: Total figures may not sum up due to rounding KiaE - RERELDERMNERBT
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(iii) Value of inputs used or key assumptions adopted in

the valuation (Continued)

Valuation of ECL of Loan Receivables in the PRC

(Continued)
1) PRC Gross Domestic

Product
s NEEBE

2)  Average Global Probability
of Default
FHRIREHEX

3) Historical Default Rate

FELERE

4)  Recovery Rate

[ 2

5)  Discount Factor

XK EOEEz)
WEEE(Z)
(iii) HETFEANBAERRANIESBER(E)

FE N E SRR S BRI E (&)

Based on the percentage change in the PRC gross domestic product as at
the date of valuation as extracted from International Monetary Fund.
BERASZEEREYEEBABOEE R G BAHEEH N A E AR
BENBEDE -

2019-20283 average global probability of default as extracted from
Moody'’s.
Hix BB @ M2019F Z2023F FH R RELNBE -

Rate calculated from the data in prior years including historical receivables
settlement pattern and loss incurred.
BESBIFENHBE(BREELRURBLAERAREFNER)TED
b= o

Recovery Rate of senior secured bonds and senior unsecured bonds as
extracted from Moody’s further adjusted with the security status and risk
category of the Loan Receivables.
mEEBaENBEEEERESREEEERESFO KO X T RIEEK
EREEIRAR KRR R R E — R EE o

Calculated based on the applicable discount rate and the expected time
period before settlement.

MIRAT BEBEEANUREXELEFNNERRERTE -
(iv) Valuation methods and reason for their adoption (iv) HEFERERMKE

The Group’s impairment assessment policy on Loan
Receivables was set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) of the
Company as included in this annual report.

The Group estimated the ECL of Loan Receivables in Hong
Kong and in the PRC under the general approach and
the simplified approach in Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 9 respectively, according to the accounting
policy of the Group.

As stated in note 4 to the Financial Statements, the
measurement of ECL is a function of the PD, LGD and
EAD and the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Impairment loss (Continued)

(iv) Valuation methods and reason for their adoption

(v)

(Continued)

Based on the valuation reports, BonVision adopted the
PD Method and the Provision Matrix for the valuation
of ECL of Loan Receivables in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively, which are commonly used in measuring ECL
of receivables.

With the support of the valuation results, the allowance of
approximately HK$22.5 million was recognised as at 31
March 2024. The Impairment of approximately HK$29.8
million was recognised for the Year.

As at the date of this annual report, there are no
subsequent changes to the valuation methods as referred
to above following their adoption.

Internal control procedures

The Group has credit policies, guidelines and procedures
in place which cover key internal controls of a loan
transaction including (a) due diligence, (b) credit appraisal/
approval, (c) proper execution of documentations, (d)
continuous monitoring and (e) collection and recovery.
Before granting loan to a potential customer, the Group
performs credit appraisal process to assess the potential
borrower’s credit quality and defines the credit limit
granted to the borrower. The credit appraisal process
encompasses detailed assessment on the credit history
and financial background of the borrower, as well as the
value and nature of the collateral to be pledged. The credit
limit of the loan successfully granted to the borrower will be
subject to regular credit review by the management as part
of the ongoing loan monitoring process.

The following is a summary of the key internal controls of
the Group’s money lending operation:

(a) Due diligence

Identity check and financial background check on
the loan applicant will be performed. Information
provided by the loan applicant including identity,
financial statements and income proof of the
applicant will be checked and verified by the
responsible loan officer, where appropriate,
company, legal, credit and bankruptcy search on the
loan applicant, and land search and site visit on the
property offered as collateral, will be conducted.

¥(KOEE %)
WAEEE &)
(iv) EESEREFRMAREF)

(v)

REBEGHEERS  BEDBIRAPDE KB EERE
HEBLTENERERNEREEERET

Bl ZEH LA ERVFBBHEESE
MERFE-
EHEELEROIET  M2024F3A31HER

B % 4922,500,000 8 70 - AFEERBELY
29,800,000 T o

$$ﬁa% LR ERERERMNE L E
AMEEERF

AEBECHEEERER I REF REEXK
THZERANTER  RIEQERES DEE

AHfh A OB EBRAI XM  (AFEEER ()
ERRWE - RABEEEFPREERZA - A&
EetTEEFEEFUFLEEERAZE
EEXR UREABRARLDZEERE -5
EFEAREERFANEERAZEERER
%W“E AEBEERZERm 2 BERYE
ERFEEREEBREZ 8D &%E%
F*Azﬁﬁmﬁfﬁr%mAﬁFm%

A—pcA
l:l/\

MTAAREERERBNEZRIMEEME

(2) BUEE
YRR EFARTEDRERY G H R A
5 - BHE A%%Tzéﬂ e

Az BBRERRBAE %EE
BEERAERELRRE WE K
EXBABAETRE ERE ET&WF

HE - WHAREESERMZWEETT
EMEEMEE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥XKOE s
Impairment loss (Continued) BEESE(£Z)

(v) Internal control procedures (Continued) (v)

NEZERF (&)

(b)

Credit appraisal/approval

Detailed assessment on the credit history and
financial background of the loan applicant, as well as
the value and nature of the collateral to be pledged,
will be conducted. There will be credit assessment
including analysis on the repayment ability and credit
history of the loan applicant, and analysis on the
potential recovery from realisation of the collateral.
The credit assessment process will be conducted
by the responsible loan officer and reviewed by the
responsible loan manager. Credit limits to be granted
to each loan applicant are determined based on the
result of such assessment.

In respect of the approval process of the key internal
control procedures, as a matter of enhanced internal
control, the higher the amount of the loan, the higher
the hierarchy of approvers is required. Details of
which are set out follows:

(b) 5B
BHEATEERRBAZEERHERETB
BE UREFRZEEREE - 58T
EEREINMERBRBAZERENRE
Btk UERSWERER QB 2EEE
W - ZEFHREFEHEEERAESE
T UTHEEERLERER - R SRIE
FHERAERPBEARTEREE -

MEARAMEZEREFOREBENS - &
R AMEZENER  EXERES
BERANEELES - HFBHIOT ¢

Loan size (RMB)
EXRRBE(ARYE)

Approval hierarchy
#E & B &R

Above RMB1,000,000
A K#1,000,0007T JA £

Loan approval committee
BERELZESR

RMB800,001 — RMB1,000,000

General manager

AR #800,0017T £ AR #1,000,0007T IR
RMB300,001 — RMB800,000 Assistant general manager
AR #300,0017TE A R#800,0007T 48 438 By 18

RMB200,000 — RMB300,000
AR #200,0007T = A R #300,0007T

Risk control department manager
J=2 ez 122 1) B T 4% 32

Below RMB200,000
AR #200,0007T A T

Responsible officer of risk control department

REREI PR R A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (cContinued)
Impairment loss (Continued)
(v) Internal control procedures (Continued)

()

(d)

Proper execution of documentations

For loan application recommended by the responsible
loan manager and duly approved by the designated
approver in the approval hierarchy of the Group’s
money-lending subsidiary, the responsible loan
officer will arrange preparation and proper execution
of the loan documentations under the supervision of
the responsible loan manager, and usually with the
support of professional lawyers.

Continuous monitoring

There will be continuous monitoring on the
repayments from borrower, regular communication
with the borrower of its updated financial position,
and regular review on credit limit of the loan granted
and market value of the collateral pledged performed
by the responsible loan officer and manager.

The loan collection department of the Group will also
review the risk level of each loan on a weekly basis
and submit a report to the general manager at least
on a monthly basis on their recommended risk level.
Where necessary, the loan collection management
department will alert the senior management and/or
the general manager of the money lending business
segment on events (such as default in repayment)
which requires further actions, including legal
actions, and advise the Group on the appropriate
actions. The accounting department and treasury
department of the Group will also keep track of the
repayment schedule constantly and alert to senior
management in case of any failed or late repayment.

XK EOEE 2

AR R ()

AEZERF(#F)

(c) RZJZFITXM
WEFRFREEEERKEERLMAE
EREMBARZARERLAZREAM]
o HEEERAERBLHERBREZER
REREETZERITERXG - ABF
EEXFMEHE -

(d) FHEEHR

BRBEEERAZERBR - EHEE
RABBAEREPHEMRR  YHEEE
RABRREHMBETERZEERLE
HmZmEETEHRR -

AEENERERBPITHEEENS
FEFMARKY YELBAMALE
RX-—OBEREZZRBKFHORE -
FE CEREKREEHMFABRSRERE
R/ RE F 5 5 B ) 48 A8 I8 & R R BRER
E—FZTH(BEEZRTH)NEH(IE
REF)  UHEENTHMAEEELE
& o ANE B EETAPFT R B 7 #R PO S 1
BRMERFHR  AEERKRIAY
MERTRBREEEEHER -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Impairment loss (Continued)

(v) Internal control procedures (Continued)
(e) Collection and recovery

Formal reminder and legal demand letter will
be issued to the borrower if there is an overdue
payment. Where appropriate, legal action will be

KOk 7
BEEE(Z)
(v) ABEZRRE(E)
(e) EF UL [E]
MBS SAERABEERBOR
EERRRE . MER  BHERAREE
AFALKE B S EA AL R IK

commenced against the borrower for recovery of the mm e
amount due and taking possession of the collateral

pledged.

The Group has in place a set of established recovery
procedure for recovering outstanding debts, details

of which are set out as follows:

AEBEEET-ERENREERFAKD
RAREENER  EFBIIHNT

Timetable

i ) &

Action(s)
78

Upon expiry of the maturity date of the loans
EREEEEME

The collection department will call 3-5 times a day to
remind the debtor to repay the loan as soon as possible.
If the debtors were not found, the collection department
will contact the co-borrower, guarantor or other contact
person directly.

ERBFABRGRITIESEET  REGHBAZTRERE
B o MR AEEBA - BIERERPI S BB R A
A BERASCE MEEAR A o

st

Overdue balance not settled within 3-7 days
after the maturity date of the loans
BHERNERIN A BEIETRAREE

A “collection notice” will be issued, and the staff will visit
the debtors and understand the reasons of the delay in
repayment, and demand for the repayment. Under limited
circumstances, the Company may modify the term of loan
or sign an extension agreement if there is a solid proof of
the repayment ability of the debtor.

BHERRD] BIRFFEBA  THRTEEERNR
U BRKER - EARMBAT  WBEBREBFZARRK
BENHBEEER  ARFAXSEREFPRAFEZLEH R
B

Overdue balance not settled within 30 days
after the maturity date of the loans
BEESRN EREN BB R30RAKREF

Several door-to-door visits will be arranged, and the
Company may exercise other appropriate measures in
order to ensure the debtors to repay the overdue balance
in a timely manner.

BEHLZREFFD BRI RS HMEMEE RS
INHEREE A R EEE &R -

Overdue balance not settled within 30-40 days
after the maturity date of the loans
MEAHRNERE B HEI0Z40RKAKREE

Legal actions will be taken against the debtors.

R EREE H B ARERITE ©
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately HK$68.1 million (2023: HK$97.2 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$29.1 million or
29.9% as compared with last year. The revenue comprised of
(i) approximately HK$21.9 million (2023: HK$39.9 million) from
the Wine Business; and (i) approximately HK$46.2 million (2023:
HK$57.3 million) from the Loan Financing Business. No revenue
was generated from the Financial Services Business during the
Year (2023: Nil).

Gross profit margin from the Wine Business was increased to
approximately 24.5% (2023: 22.8%). Such increase was mainly
attributable to more sales in proportion on wines supplied by
contracted suppliers and the purchasing price of those wines
are relatively lower. Total gross profit margin was increased to
approximately 75.7% as compared with that of approximately
68.3% last year due to the increase in the proportion of revenue
generated from the Loan Financing Business.

Gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$51.5
million (2023: HK$66.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 22.4% as compared with last year and was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from the Wine Business.
Details of the reasons of the decrease in revenue and gross
profit were disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business
Review” above. Staff cost and administrative and other
operating expenses for the Year were approximately HK$31.7
million and HK$8.6 million respectively (2023: HK$33.4 million
and HK$12.3 million respectively), representing a decrease
of approximately 5.1% and 30.1% respectively as compared
with last year. Depreciation was approximately HK$4.2 million,
which was decreased by approximately 19.2% when compared
to approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Other income decreased from approximately HK$20.1 million
to approximately HK$15.0 million for the Year. It was mainly
attributed to a decrease in the gain on disposal of a subsidiary
and gain on deemed disposal of right-of-use assets of a total of
approximately HK$3.4 million.

The finance costs for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$13.5 million (2023: HK$20.6 million) which were mainly
incurred on borrowings, lease liabilities and loan from a non-
controlling shareholder.

Bt % [ B8

FR - AEBRWKZEL A68,100,0007 7T (20234
97,200,0008 70 ) © & £ F IR 2 #929,100,0007 T sk
29.9% - Wz BIE()2R B 8 &N % 7%/ 421,900,000
7 7T (20234 : 39,900,000 7T ) : K (i) 8 E XA
& ¥ 158 #946,200,0007% 7T (20234 : 57,300,000
TC) cFN  RREEBAREE W (20234F : &) o

BEHBEEBHEN XL INZE L24.5% (2023 F
228%) c WM EFZARAGHNEEFEENT EE
HELFIEN  BEZEHHBENRBEREERE -
BEMERAEEFNL68.3%BENMENTS. 7% FER
BERBMEEBEENRIS LA -

F£R - EFA AE51,500,0005 7T (20234 : 66,400,000
BIL) BMEFERADH22.4%  TERREEBESHW
HRDH - WEREFBRIOORAFBR X5
CE|DEHE - FRH BEIXRARITHEREMEEH
% 9 Bl49431,700,000/% 7T & 8,600,000 7T (20234 :
% Bl 533,400,000 7T % 12,300,000/ 7T ) * 9 BIE *=
FR A #I5.1% %30.1% ° ITE %) 54,200,000/ 7T + 8
#H E£2023F 3 A31H LEFE /45,200,000 7T iF  4)
19.2% o

H #Ug A B 49 20,100,000 TR D B AR FE B L
15,000,000 7C - T EZEF AR EHE—HHWEBE QA
ZHBERREHEFRAEEEZRSZARR LY
3,400,000 7T °

NEEHFE K AR 4 A& 13,500,000 JT (2023 4F -
20,600,000 7)) T EmER HEBFEERKE —
LI R 2 EREL -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

The Group’s loss for the Year was approximately HK$17.8
million (2023: HK$1.4 million), representing an increase in loss
of approximately 11.7 times as compared with last year. The
increase in the loss was mainly attributable to (i) the increase
in net impairment recognised on loan and interest receivables
of approximately HK$9.9 million; (ii) the decrease in gross
profit of approximately HK$14.9 million; (iii) the decrease
in gain on the change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments of approximately HK$13.0 million; and partially
offset by (i) the decrease in finance costs of approximately
HK$7.1 million; and (ii) the decrease in income tax expense of
approximately HK$10.9 million and turned to income tax credit
of approximately HK$2.0 million for the Year.

The loss included a net impairment loss recognised on loan and
interest receivables arising from the Loan Financing Business of
approximately HK$29.8 million (2023: HK$19.9 million), details
of which are disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business
Review” above.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net current assets were
approximately HK$63.7 million (2023: HK$97.3 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$34.4
million (2023: HK$72.9 million). The Group had both interest
bearing and non-interest bearing borrowings, which mainly
comprised borrowings and loan from a non-controlling
shareholder amounted to approximately HK$100.6 million
(2023: HK$120.8 million). The Group’s financial resources were
funded mainly by loans and its shareholders’ funds.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current ratio, as calculated by
dividing current assets by current liabilities, was approximately
1.3 times (2023: 1.4 times) and the gearing ratio, as measured
by the debts of non-trade nature, excluding derivative financial
instruments and lease liabilities, divided by total equity, was
approximately 88.8% (2023: 80.8%).

Foreign Currency Exposure

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had certain bank balances and
payables denominated in foreign currencies, mainly Renminbi
(“RMB”), Japanese Yen (“dPY”), Euro (“EUR”) and Pound
sterling (“GBP”), which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluation of the financial conditions
of its clients. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can
meet its funding requirements.

Capital Structure
As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares of the
Company was 623,127,227.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital are set
out in note 35 to the Financial Statements.

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).

Charges on Group Assets
Details of charges on the Group assets are set out in note 32 to
the Financial Statements.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
DISPOSALS AND ACQUISITIONS

During the Year, there was no significant investment, material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures by the Group.

Bf ¥ EBE (2)

EEBE
AEEUEBEERERDRTHEE - AEEERY
EEMBHRRETRENEETE  UBESHAR
h o BTERRDESAR EEETYERAEE
MRBESRN  URRAEENEE  BEMARE
MR B EBENTERELER -

B A 4 18
MR2024F3A31H  RRAAWMERITRMHESRE
623,127,2270% °

ARBIZBABEHFBHNERA W HRMKRMESIS -

BRI
MR2024F 38318 » A& B I & & AN FIE (2023
F | o

RAREE

MR2024F3A31H » AEB L EL MR E E (2023
F | o

EEEERW
FRAEBEEZBIFFBHNYBIRERM E32 -

RS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the Year, the Group’s business comprised three principal
segments, namely (i) the Wine Business; (ii) the Loan
Financing Business; and (iii) the Financial Services Business
which accounted for approximately 32.2%, 67.8% and 0%
(2023:41.1%, 58.9% and 0%) of the total revenue respectively.

As disclosed in the sub-section headed “Business Review”
above, the sluggish economic recovery in the PRC had a
material impact to the Group’s financial results. As compared
with last year, the Group recorded a decrease in revenue in the
Wine Business and Loan Financing Business of approximately
HK$18.0 million and HK$11.1 million respectively and no
revenue was generated from the Financial Services Business for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s result of operations may fluctuate significantly
from time to time due to seasonality and other factors. The
Directors of the Company are aware that the Group is exposed
to various risks and the principal risks and uncertainties which
are summarised below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and
comprehensive statement of all potential risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, but rather those risks which the Group
currently believes may have a significant impact on the Group’s
performance and future prospects.

The Wine Business (i)  slow-moving inventory
(i) product liability claims
(iii)  fluctuation in the foreign currency
exchange rates

The Loan Financing (i)
Business

customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument failing to meet
its contractual obligations

(i) failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

withdrawals and terminations of

projects or defaults or delays in

payments by clients

(i) failure to retain and motivate key
management personnel to conduct
business

(iiiy exposure to professional liability

and litigation

The Financial Services (i)
Business
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 113 employees
(2023: 120). The Group determines the employees’
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions and years of experience. In addition, the Group
provides comprehensive training programs to its employees or
sponsors the employees to attend various job-related training
courses. Apart from basic remuneration, share options may
be granted under the share option scheme of the Company to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance
as well as the individual’s contribution. In addition, each of the
sales team members is entitled to a commission with reference
to the sales volume achieved by them. The Directors believe that
the compensation packages offered by the Group to its staff are
competitive in comparison with market standards and practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation and always takes the environmental protection
issues into consideration during daily operation. The Group
does not produce material waste nor emit material quantities of
air pollutants. The Group also strives to minimise the adverse
environmental impacts by encouraging the employees to recycle
office supplies and other materials and to save electricity and
water.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” below. No material impact of
the relevant laws and regulations in relation to environment is
identified on business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company itself is an investment holding company, the
shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
The operations of the Group are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong. As such,
the Group’s operations shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong accordingly. During
the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material respects.
The Group shall continue to keep itself updated with the
requirements of the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Hong Kong and adhere to them to ensure compliance.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

The global economic environment in 2024 is still expected to
be challenging and remain uncertain, and is likely to be affected
by the development of geopolitical issues, Russian-Ukraine
War and conflicts in the Middle East. The economy of the PRC
and Hong Kong are still recovering from the pandemic, and the
operating environment for the business segments in 2024 is
expected to remain challenging. The Directors will continue to
enhance the Group’s businesses through reviewing its existing
business portfolio from time to time as well as tightening the
Group’s cost control measures. In addition, the Group will
proactively seek other investment opportunities in other streams
so as to broaden the source of income of the Group and
diversify the Group’s business portfolio on an on-going basis.
The Group may seek new investors to meet its financial needs
for expanding its businesses.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Such discussion
forms part of this Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the performance by the Group for the Year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 138 and 278 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$112.3 million (2023: HK$124.1
million).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 134 to 135 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules, and regulations and subject to the memorandum
of association and articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”). Subject to compliance
with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of
Association, in deciding whether to propose any dividend
payout, the Board will take into account the Group’s financial
results, the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations
and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on
the credit lines, and the development plans of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Friday, 2 August 2024. For the purpose
of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 30 July 2024 to Friday, 2 August 2024 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order for a shareholder of the Company to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied
with the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 July 2024.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 280 of
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted by
the Shareholders on 21 September 2015 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and the movements in the Company’s share options
held by the Directors during the Year are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements and “Share Option
Scheme” section contained in this Directors’ report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association and there is no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares) during the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
are as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Kuo Kwan
Ms. Xie Mengna (resigned with effect from 31 December 2023)
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley
(appointed with effect from 22 December 2023)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman)
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association,
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley shall retire at the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, she offers herself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus and Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, they offer
themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 5 to 10 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
AND APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then-current term and shall be terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than three months’ notice
in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party, which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either party, which is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the Directors’ service contracts as disclosed in this
report and the granting of share options to the Directors, details
of which is set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the Year.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The
Group adopted the following main principles in determining the
remuneration of the Directors and other employees;

(1) No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration;

(2) Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies
with whom the Group competes for human resources;

(3) Remuneration should reflect performance and
responsibility with a view to motivating and retaining high
performing individuals and enhancing the value of the
Company to its Shareholders; and

(4) Share options are granted to the senior management or
staff as incentives for their contribution to the growth and
development of the Group in the intermediate to longer
time frame.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to the securities transactions by the directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERBERETHRAERRQAAZEM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN B EIZERG  HERAOARESZHOE
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES mRRB (&)
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)
Long Position in the Company’s Shares and REAATROREBROAZHE
underlying Shares
Approximate Number of Approximate
Number of percentage underlying percentage
issued Shares of actual shares of aggregate
Capacity/ held/ shareholding pursuant to Aggregate interests over
Name of Directors nature of interest interested in  over the Shares*  share options interests the Shares*
i/ #E BERER
EHENERT ERBHA REBREZ BEBERE
ESp 5/ ERME R4 A BOL* HBERHHA B LR
Ms. Kuo Beneficial owner - - 1,800,000 1,800,000 0.289%
(Notes 1(a)
and 2(a))
Bt ERBERA (Hiz#1(a) R 2(a)
Mr. Ji Beneficial owner - - 100,000 100,000 0.016%
(Note 2(b))
ke ERfBA (Hi2M)
Mr. Ip Beneficial owner - - 130,000 130,000 0.021%
(Notes 1(b)
and 2(c))
B4 EREAA (HaF1w)R2oe)
Mr. Chu Beneficial owner - - 30,000 30,000 0.005%
(Note 1(c))
RE4E ExBEA (Bitilc)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERBETHRAERADAHEM

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN MHELZERY  HERORESHE

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES BRRB(#)

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and RAEAQXTROREBROZER(EZ)

underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes: B -

1. On 3 April 2018, the Company granted a total of 219,000,000 1. H2018F4HA3H » &~AA A4 H# H219,000,0000% i
share options, of which 5,600,000 share options were granted B&4E - E 5,600,000 ERETIFEFUTAL - BT
to the following persons entitling them to subscribe for a total of HAPILATT B F A% 1.897%8 L3R ME & $£5,600,000% iE A%
5,600,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$1.89 per Share. o BREMRM A FR2022F1A20B £ W1k - FAER
Immediately upon the share consolidation became effective on 20 HERERME R RARBHITHEESD B A560,000
January 2022, the adjusted number of share options and adjusted A% B A% R }218.978 7T

exercise price would be 560,000 share options and HK$18.9
respectively.

a. 500,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for a. SPRZETIEAIITE EEE F500,0000% ¥ % #
500,000 Shares) were granted to Ms. Kuo in her capacity as (Fff #5500,0000% R HE4E )
an executive Director;

b. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for b. ELAEABY IEHTTE EE R F30,0000% 88
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his then capacity A% FE (Bt 25 30,000X R BERE) - M 2019F3A7
as an independent non-executive Director (‘INED”). He was ARAEARIENTES K

re-designated as a non-executive Director (“NED”) on 7
March 2019; and

c. 30,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for c. KREEERBIIFHNITESER T30,000HE
30,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Chu in his capacity as R (Mt #530,000R% R BE#E ) -
an INED.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(Continued)

Long Position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. On 6 December 2019, the Company granted a total of
355,400,000 share options, of which 15,000,000 share options
were granted to the following persons entitling them to subscribe
for a total of 15,000,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.207
per Share. Immediately upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022, the adjusted number of share
options and adjusted exercise price would be 1,500,000 share
options and HK$2.07 respectively.

a. 1,300,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
1,300,000 Shares) were granted to Ms. Kuo in her capacity
as an executive Director;

b. 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ji in his capacity as an
NED; and

(o} 100,000 share options (carrying the right to subscribe for
100,000 Shares) were granted to Mr. Ip in his capacity as an
NED.

* The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2024 is 623,127,227
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporations or individuals (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had any
interests or short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO (“Register of
Shareholders”) were as follows:

AN

FE
18 8

X

IR R K H Aty
IR 4D B9 #E 1

MR2024F3A31H  BEEA  BREBZFNLBERK
BIEXVERE 2R IDH 2 G HBRADRHFEL Z R
RIBEEALRBEKOIEICEFENECMTRE
B OFREQERN RABROES EREE R
KREREESLFENAL(RRREETRERHITHA
BRINZHBIT -

Long position in the Company’s Shares and NAEAARRGOEEBROZHE
underlying Shares
Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
BRHER
REEHEN ERG REBREZ BERERG
e 5t/ BEME it ROBE  BOEIL REROEAE aEx  BOEAL
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited ~ Beneficial owner 1,285 195,920,000 31.44% - 195,920,000 31.44%
(“Royal Spectrum”)
Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited ~ EZ#8 A
(TRoyal Spectrum))
Devoss Global Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 1,2,3&4 195,920,000 31.44% 600,000 196,520,000 31.54%
(“Devoss Global’) corporation and beneficial
owner
Devoss Global Holdings Limited RELEENERR
([Devoss Global ) EnEBAA
CVP Financial Group Limited (“CVP”) Beneficial owner 385 50,487,272 8.10% = 50,487,272 8.10%
EReREEERAA(ER]) EREAA
Mr. Ting Pang Wan Raymond Interest in controlled 1,2,3 485 259,093,893 41.58% 600,000 259,693,893 41.68%
(“Mr. Ting’) corporation and
beneficial owner
TREX4E(TT4E]) REHEBNERR
EGZBERA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares (Continued)

RERXARGREBRO 2HFR(Z)

Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
BEBR&ER
BEESN tRE REBREZ BRERERG
#e 1/ BnME firit BREBE  BOEAL BERHEAE BEE  HBOEAL
Ms. Luu Huyen Boi (‘Ms. Luu’) Interest of spouse 6 259,093,893 41.58% 600,000 259,693,893 41.68%
Luu Huyen Boir - ([LuuZ £ J) [k 3
Software Research Associates, Inc. Beneficial owner 7 40,454,545 6.49% - 40,454,545 6.49%
("SRA")
Software Research Associates, Inc. EREEA
(TSRAJ)
SRA Holdings, Inc. (“SRA Holdings”) Interest in controlled 7&8 40,454,545 6.49% 85,922,330 126,376,875 20.28%
corporation and
beneficial owner
SRA Holdings, Inc. ([SRA Holdings ) REHEBNERR
EnAEA
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 9 68,224,500 10.95% - 68,224,500 10.95%
(“ACGHL") corporation
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings Limited RENEENER
(TACGHL))
Ms. Liu Yang (‘Ms. Liu") Interest in controlled 9 68,224,500 10.95% - 68,224,500 10.95%
corporation
Hrat((8kL)) REMEENER
Ample Cheer Limited (“Ample Cheer”) Interest in controlled 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,323,638 35.52%
corporation
Ample Cheer Limited ([Ample Cheer]) — SiE&IZEMER
Chu Yuet Wah (“Mrs. Chu”) Interest in controlled 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,323,638 35.52%
corporation
ZRE(T)K]) REH BN ER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FTERFREMATITRAETLIATRLR
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HERONEZRAXE (&)

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and RAEQNTROREBEROZEHE(#£)
underlying Shares (Continued)

Approximate Number of Approximate
percentage underlying percentage
of actual shares of aggregate
Number  shareholding pursuant interests
Capacity/ of Shares over the to share Aggregate over the
Name nature of interest Notes interested Shares* options interests Shares*
ERER
BEEHN tRE REBREZ BRERERG
#e 1/ EHME first REBE  BOEAL BEROEAE mEE  HOELL
Kingston Finance Limited (“Kingston”) Persons have a security 10 221,323,638 35.52% - 221,323,638 35.52%
interest in shares
2728 %ER A7 (Kingston]) BARBERRDHA
Bartha International Limited Beneficial owner 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
(“Bartha International’)
Bartha International Limited EREEA
(TBartha International |)
Mr. Li Ran Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
THEL RETZENER
Mr. Pu Xueyuan Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
REREHE RETZENER
Ms. Wang Xuping Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
IRt REMEENER
Ms. Zhang Fengge Interest in controlled 11 36,770,000 5.90% - 36,770,000 5.90%
corporation
KBERT REtEENER
Ms. Wang Hui Beneficial owner 12 42,139,200 6.76% - 42,139,200 6.76%
TEq+ ERBEEA

EMREREESRAT F%202324 43



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWmE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and

underlying Shares (Continued)
Notes:

TERRREMAIREAITIRG R
HEROHWERERKXE (&)

RERXARGREBRO 2HFR(Z)

44

The entire issued share capital in Royal Spectrum is legally and
beneficially owned as to 96.63% by Devoss Global and 3.37% by
Mr. Zhu Qin respectively. Devoss Global is legally and beneficially
owned by Mr. Ting. Devoss Global is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Royal Spectrum. Mr. Ting is a director of both
Royal Spectrum and Devoss Global.

On 27 November 2017, Royal Spectrum pledged 199,600,000
(19,960,000 upon the share consolidation became effective on 20
January 2022) Shares in favour of an independent third party as a
security of a loan in the amount of JPY2,000,000,000.

Each of Devoss Global, CVP, Plan Marvel Investment Limited
(“Plan Marvel”), Kaiser Capital Holdings Limited (“Kaiser
Capital”) and Highgrade Holding Limited (“Highgrade”) is wholly-
owned by Mr. Ting. Plan Marvel is interested in 208,978 Shares,
Kaiser Capital is interested in 1,217,200 Shares and Highgrade
is interested in 1,067,200 Shares. Mr. Ting is deemed to be
interested in 248,900,650 Shares, held by Devoss Global, CVP,
Plan Marvel, Kaiser Capital and Highgrade under Part XV of the
SFO.

6,000,000 (600,000 upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022) share options were granted to
Devoss Global on 17 December 2015.

On 27 October 2021, Royal Spectrum and CVP pledged
1,708,363,655 Shares and 504,872,727 Shares respectively
(170,836,365 Shares and 50,487,272 Shares respectively upon
the share consolidation became effective on 20 January 2022)
in favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in
the amount of HK$44,992,109 provided by the independent third
party to the Company as general working capital.

Ms. Luu is the spouse of Mr. Ting. Ms. Luu is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying shares in which Mr.
Ting is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.
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Royal Spectrum# &b 2 %17 & 2 % 5l A Devoss Global
REAREEREREZHEH96.63%%3.37% ° Devoss
Globalli T £ A AR BB - Devoss Global#f {7
AR Royal SpectrumFTRF R P #E B Ewm o T 4R
A Royal Spectrum [z Devoss Globalz E = -

72017411 8278  Royal Spectrumif#199,600,000
(FR2022F1 A20H &5 & B £ %1% /& 19,960,000) %
R F—BBILE=F1ER—2E%£%2,000,000,000H
EWEFER -

Devoss Global * #& % * Plan Marvel Investment Limited
(T'Plan Marvel]) - 2EFIERER B ([ 2HER )
K Highgrade Holding Limited([Highgrade ]) &M T %&
42 E¥A - Plan Marvel# 5 208,978 % 15 ~ £ 4P
RS 1,217,2000% B% 19 & Highgrade# & 1,067,200
R - RBEFHFRBEROIEXVE - TEERRR
7 Devoss Global * & & + Plan Marvel + 2 #1% & &
Highgrade$ & #9248,900,6500% % 15 # # 5 #E 25 o

®20159 12 A 17 B & 116,000,000 (7 20224 1 A 20
B 1% & 0 &£ % 1% & 600,000 ) B% B A% # F Devoss
Global °

2021410278 * Royal Spectrum M ix & 2 5l K
1,708,363,655 % 504,872,727 % (FA202241 A208 %
DA B EKRE D BIA170,836,3650 1 50,487,2720% )
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Long position in the Company’s Shares and
underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

7. SRA is directly wholly-owned by SRA Holdings. As such, SRA
Holdings is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which SRA is
interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

8. On 5 December 2023, a call option has been granted to SRA
Holdings which may be converted into 85,922,330 new Shares
upon full exercise of the option.

9. Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by ACGHL
and Ms. Liu both dated 14 January 2022, Atlantis Investment
Management Limited is wholly-owned by ACGHL, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Ms. Liu. As such, ACGHL and Ms. Liu are both
deemed to be interested in 68,224,500 Shares held by Atlantis
Investment Management Limited, under Part XV of the SFO.

10. Kingston is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ample Cheer, which is in
turn wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu. As such, Ample Cheer and Mrs.
Chu are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Kingston
by virtue of the SFO.

11. Based on the notices of disclosure of interest filed by Mr. Li Ran,
Mr. Pu Xueyuan, Ms. Wang Xuping and Ms. Zhang Fengge all on
22 December 2020 respectively, Bartha International is owned as
to 20% by Mr. Li Ran, 25% by Mr. Pu Xueyuan, 26% by Ms. Wang
Xuping and 29% by Ms. Zhang Fengge respectively.

12. Based on the notice of disclosure of interest filed by Ms. Wang
Hui on 8 April 2021, Ms. Wang Hui is interested in 421,392,000
Shares (42,139,200 Shares upon the share consolidation became
effective on 20 January 2022).

* The number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2024 is 623,127,227
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.

TERRREMAIREAITIRG R
HEROHWERERKXE (&)

RAERTARBREBRD2FR (&)
M (%

7. SRAJIHSRA HoldingsE# 2 & A - IRIEFEH Kk H
E ISP FEXVED - SRA Holdings# 18 & X SRAE & 1 25
2R -

8. 7 20234F 12 A5 &% i R B8 B8 I # T SRA Holdings °
RT3 2 #R TR0 B R M B 3 3 /585,922,330 % 3T X

,T/\ o

9. IRIEACGHLE Z|Z Lo BIR2022F1 B14B TR M
EEFEERN AREEEEABERARIIAACGHLE
BEWEA  MACGHLEIRZZt2&HA - AL - RE
BHERHEGEOIEXVE - ACGHLE Bl t 8 AN T
RIEEEEERARIFENGS,224, 500 HES
M o

10. KingstonJyAmple Cheerz 2 BB BE AR - HMH
KAE2EHA - At REZHFRBEKD - Ample
Cheer & 2k K # 18 A A Kingston# A& # I 1) o % B #

N3
25 o
fm

11, BEZTHEE  BE2RAAE  IHIFLEIERRBEELR
T RIR2020F 12 A22H TR XX WE R -
Bartha International PR ZE B L £ - BEREE - £
BELXLRERBELZ IO REE20% * 25% * 26% &
29% o

12. REIEBELTN2021F4A8HAM RN ERFER
o EEB 4+ 421,392,000 8 K& () A S (R
20229 1A 20R &5 & tF £ %1% 5H42,139,2000% ) °

* 2024 3A31HE BTN E B £623,127,2278 -

B EXFEEEI - N2024F3A8318 » #HEMEMA A
T (ARAEEREZRTHRABBRIINBNEEARR -
ERARARBRGOKEERDAEEREELMAFZR
SRR ER AR o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to a written resolution
of the shareholders passed on 21 September 2015 (the
“Adoption Date”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
The participants of the Share Option Scheme shall be:

(1) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, any of the subsidiaries and any Invested
Entity;

(2) any director (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive) of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(3) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(4) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(5) any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity
that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; and

(6) or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any Invested Entity eligible for options under
the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(C)

(D)

(E)

Total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all Share Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the number of the issued shares as at 9 August 2022
unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the
Shareholders.

As at the beginning of the Year (i.e. 1 April 2023), the
number of share options available for grant pursuant to the
scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme,
was 62,312,722 shares, representing approximately
10.0% of the issued Shares as at the date of this report.

As at the end of the Year (i.e. 31 March 2024), the number
of share options available for grant pursuant to the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
62,312,722 shares, representing approximately 10.0% of
the issued Shares as at the date of this report.

As at the date of this report, a total of 62,312,722 Shares,
representing approximately 10.0% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this report, are
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant of the options must not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the grantee under the Share
Option Scheme

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of
grant.

BRESTE (#)
(C) REEEREFS THBTZROAR

(D)

(E)

REBRERE  ATEREBRETEREK
AEEMEMBRENER T2 MEEREN
AFRERBITIBROHBEAERATEBRER
20228 HOHEEITRHEEBE 210% * AR
A) A X R ERAS TR AEBR AN ©

REH(BI2023F4818) RIBEEREASEZER
EREE AIHRENEREHRE 562,312,722
f% - MRS BEE 2 BT £910.0% °

NAREEERE(BN20245F3A318)  BIEE
T ERERSE  AIHRENBERERE B
62,312,722% * R ARE B EHEE ZHTRH L
10.0% °

RAREAH  REBREFSTRITZIK
MEE & #£/62,312,722/ - RA{E B BAG
BEEHITRMON10.0%(TREBEFRND) °

BRESETZSRETERER LR
EBREAISEENBERRERL A (8

BEB)EEAM2EABENESRENFER
EEITHRNEE1% -

ERATRBEBRESETEBREZH
PR

BREATOTEZHRBETERNBEE -
TEHERE 2 ARTFEBI0F -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(F)

(G)

(H)

m

The vesting period of options granted under
the Share Option Scheme
As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option where the grantee should accept
or decline the offer of grant of an option within the date as
specified in the offer letter issued by the Company, being
a date no later than 21 business days from the date upon
which it is made.

The basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
and notified to an eligible person, and shall be at least the
higher of: (1) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
grant; (2) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding the date
of grant, and (3) the nominal value of a share on the date of
grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date until 20
September 2025.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

(Continued)

Details of movements of the share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the Year were as follows:

BRESTE (#)
() BRENECRABAENH &)

BEAFEARBBREFIRD Z2BREE
BAFEHINMT

Number of share options

BEREHA
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 the Year the Year 2024
iy
20235 ERfTE/  RN2024F
5 B A T8 BRTEE 4818 REARHE EH/ KX 3A31H
Shareholders
I
Devoss Global (Note 1) 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 600,000 = = 600,000
16 December 2025
Devoss Global (A71) 2015%12817H 2016%6A17THE 8.00% T
2025% 12 16H
Montrachet Holdings Limited 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000
(‘Montrachet’) (Note 2) 16 December 2025
Montrachet Holdings Limited 2015F12/17H 2016%6A17HE 8.00% T
(TMontrachet])(#1:2) 2025612168
Directors
Bz
Ms. Kuo 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 500,000 - - 500,000
2 April 2028
Pt 20185 4A3H 2019F1A1AZ 18.90% T
2028F 428
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000
201951268 (Hit3) 207

ZE AR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

BRESE (#)

() BRESEHZRGERY (&)

(Continued)
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 the Year the Year 2024
i
R2023% ERfTE/  M2024F
Ehl it A s BRIEE 4818 REARHE R IES, 3A31H
Mr. Ip 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 30,000 - - 30,000
2 April 2028
BxE 20184434 2019F1A1AZE 18.90% T
2028F4H2R
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 100,000 - - 100,000
2019%1286H (#3t3) 207ET
Mr. Ji 6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 100,000 - - 100,000
R 20195 12/6A (Bi3) 207
Mr. Chu 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 30,000 - - 30,000
2 April 2028
REE 20184 H3H 2019F1A1AZE 18.90% T
2028%4A28
Consultants (Note 4) 17 December 2015 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00 16,000,000 - - 16,000,000
16 December 2025
BRE(HH4) 2015% 128170 2016%6A17HE 8.00% T
202512 16H
3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 18,450,000 - - 18,450,000
2 April 2028
2018F4H3H 2019518182 18.90 T
20285 4R 28
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

BRESTE (#)

() BRESEHZFNGERY(E)

(Continued)
Number of share options
BREZE
Exercised/
Cancelled/
Exercise As at Granted Lapsed As at
price per 1 April during during 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 the Year the Year 2024
i
R2023% ERfTE/  M2024F
Bl it A8 s BROEE 4818 REARHE RE VRS, 3A31H
13 December 2018 1 July 2019 to HK$11.20 4,800,000 - - 4,800,000
12 December 2028
2018F12/13H 2019F7R1H2 11.2087T
2028F12R12H
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 5,190,000 - - 5,190,000
2019512868 (#3t3) 207ET
Employees 3 April 2018 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90 780,000 - 210,000 570,000
2 April 2028 (Note 5)
Eg 201854 A3H 201951 A1RZ 18.907% T - (Hi#t5)
20285 4H28
6 December 2019 (Note 3) HK$2.07 1,250,000 - 50,000 1,200,000
(Note 5)
20195 12A6A (Bi3) 207 - (frits)
50,630,000 - 260,000 50,370,000

i AR I
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(I) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
(Continued)
Notes:

1. Devoss Global is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ting,
being the controlling shareholder of Royal Spectrum, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

2. As at the date of the grant of share options to Montrachet
on 17 December 2015, Montrachet, being a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhu Hui Xin, the father of Mr. Zhu
Qin (former executive Director), held 2.7% interest in Royal
Spectrum, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

3. Exercise period: (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable
from 6 December 2020 to 5 December 2029 (both days
inclusive); and (i) 50% of the share options are exercisable
from 6 December 2021 to 5 December 2029 (both days
inclusive).

4. Consultants are corporations and individuals which render
consultancy services to the Group. The Board considers
that the share options granted to the consultants would
help to motivate these non-employees to optimize their
future contributions to the Group and reward them for their
past contributions. The share options were granted as an
incentive to the consultants for helping the Group expand
its business network, acquire and explore new business
projects and opportunities and to provide ongoing services
to the Group and maintain a long-term relationship with the
Group.

58 During the Year, no share options were exercised or

cancelled but 260,000 share options were lapsed upon the
resignation of the relevant employees.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share options were granted during the Year.

On 9 August 2022, an ordinary resolution had been passed by
the Shareholders to refresh the scheme mandate limit under
the Share Option Scheme, such that the maximum number of
shares that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of
Share Options which may be granted by the Company under
the scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 62,312,722
shares, being 10% of the total number of issued shares as
at the date of passing of the resolution approving the said
refreshment.

No share-based payment expenses were recognised/reversed
(20283: Nil) by the Group for the Year in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

For further details, please refer to note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT

On 3 October 2023, the Company, as an issuer, entered into a
second option agreement (the “Second Option Agreement”)
with SRA Holdings, as a subscriber, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to grant an option (the
“Option”) to SRA Holdings at a nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 SRA Holdings shall be entitled to require the Company
to allot and issue up to a maximum of 85,922,330 option shares
at the option price of HK$1.03 per Share subject to the terms
and conditions stated in the Second Option Agreement upon the
exercise of the Option. The option price of HK$1.03 per option
share represents a premium of approximately 379.07% over the
closing price of HK$0.215 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the date of the Second Option Agreement.

As at the date of the Second Option Agreement, Wine
Financier Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was indebted to SRA Holdings, in the principal
amount of JPY1,500,000,000 (the “SRA Loan”) which was due
for repayment on 30 September 2023. In consideration of the
Company agreeing to enter into the Second Option Agreement
to grant the Option to SRA Holdings, on 3 October 2023 SRA
Holdings has agreed to enter into a second loan extension
agreement (the “Second Loan Extension Agreement”) with
the Company to extend the maturity date of the SRA Loan to 30
September 2024.
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GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT (Continued)

Having considered, among others, (i) the SRA Loan in the
principal amount of JPY1,500,000,000 indebted to SRA
Holdings which was due for repayment on 30 September 2023,
being the extended maturity date and remains outstanding as at
the date of the announcement of the Company dated 3 October
20283; and (i) other equity financing such as rights issue would
be relatively costly and time-consuming, the Directors are of the
view that the grant of the Option serves as a good alternative
to cash repayment of the outstanding amount under the SRA
Loan which may not have an immediate dilution effect on the
shareholding of the existing Shareholders as that in the case
of other equity financing, such as placing of Shares, and the
entering into of the Second Loan Extension Agreement also
allows a further extension of time for the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the SRA Loan to SRA Holdings. In
addition, the principal amount of the SRA Loan may be payable
by set off against the option price payable by SRA Holdings on
a dollar-for-dollar basis upon the exercise of the Option and the
allotment and issue of the option shares, and therefore would
not create any cash flow burden on the Group. Due to the set-
off, no proceeds will be received by the Company upon the
exercise of the Option.

In light of the above, the Directors consider that the terms and
conditions of the Second Option Agreement and the Second
Loan Extension Agreement are on normal commercial terms, fair
and reasonable, and the Option and the further loan extension
are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

On 5 December 2023, the Option was granted by the Company

to SRA Holdings in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Second Option Agreement.
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GRANT OF OPTIONS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE AND SECOND LOAN
EXTENSION AGREEMENT (Continued)

For further details of the Second Option Agreement and the
extension of the SRA Loan, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 3 October 2023, 24 November 2023 and
5 December 2023 and the circular dated 7 November 2023.
Details of movements of the option granted under the Specific
Mandate during the Year were as follows:
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SRA Holdings 5 December 2023 the period of one (1) year HK$1.03 - 85,922,330 - 85,922,330
from the date of grant
of the Option
SRA Holdings 2023%12F5H BRERL AR —(1)F 1.03%7T
- 85,922,330 - 85,922,330
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION & T T E R

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
throughout the Year and is still in force. In addition, the
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of sales attributable to the
five largest customers combined is approximately 21.5%
(2023: 15.1%) and the largest customer included therein
is approximately 9.5% (2023: 7.0%). The percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers combined
is approximately 44.6% (2023: 22.5%) and the largest supplier
included therein is approximately 20.9% (2023: 5.9%).

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholder(s) who own(s) more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share
capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the Year, which constitute exempted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) are engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group or have any other
conflicts of interest with the Group nor are they aware of any
other conflicts of interest with the Group which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance with the controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance
been entered into for the services provided by the controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition dated 29 September 2015 (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) was entered into among the
Company and the controlling shareholders of the Company,
namely Royal Spectrum, Devoss Global and Mr. Ting, in favour
of the Company (for the Company and for the benefit of its
subsidiaries) regarding certain non-competition undertakings.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition were disclosed in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” to
the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to an arrangement that
would enable the Directors or their close associates to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float
required by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year and as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 21
September 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the financial system of the Group; to
review the accounting policy, financial position and financial
reporting procedures of the Group; to communicate with
external auditors; to assess the performance of internal financial
and audit personnel; and to assess the internal controls and risk
management of the Group.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary
Jean, Mr. Ip Cho Yin, 4.p. and Mr. Zhou Li, and is chaired by
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience as required by the GEM Listing
Rules. Save for Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p., who is a NED, all other
members of the Audit Committee are INED.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which is of the
opinion that such financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable accounting standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Prism Hong Kong

and Shanghai Limited as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 May 2024, the Company as vendor, CVP Financial Group
Limited (the “Purchaser”), as Purchaser and Mr. Ting, as the
Purchaser’s guarantor entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to purchase, 38 shares of Hackett Enterprises Limited (the
“Disposal Company”), representing 38% equity interests in the
Disposal Company for a total consideration of HK$56.4 million.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 28 May 2024, 4 June 2024 and 18 June 2024
respectively.

Save as the above, there was no significant event relevant to the
business or financial performance of the Group that came to the
attention of the Directors after the end of the reporting period.

By order of the Board
Madison Holdings Group Limited
Ji Zuguang
Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhancing its corporate value. The Company
has adopted the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules as its corporate governance practices.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Company had complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the Year.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standards of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have fully
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

CORPORATE VALUES, STRATEGIES
AND CULTURE

The Board understands that it plays an important role in
identifying the corporate culture and ensures it aligns with the
purpose, values, and strategy of the Company. Pursuant to
code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, all directors must act with
integrity, lead by example, and promote the desired culture.
During the Year, the Board has reviewed and discussed the
following vision, mission, values, and strategies to achieve
alignment with the Company’s culture.
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CORPORATE VALUES, STRATEGIES
AND CULTURE (continued)

Our Mission

The Group has been devoted to promoting wine culture since
our founding.

The Group provides convenient and personal financial services
for small, medium and micro enterprises and individual
customers to promote the development of the real economy.

Our Vision

With an agile mindset and strong dedication, the Group seeks
to set its footprint in the future development of both Hong Kong
and worldwide.

The Group aims at providing the best possible wine products
and related services to our customers.

The Group continues to seek to connect traditional financial
services with new ideas, aiming to become a first-class financial
service provider.

Our Values

° Dedication

° Diligence

° Collaboration
° Synergies

Our Strategies

The Group provides clients and wine aficionados with a
full range of products and value-added services, aiming at
enhancing customer satisfaction and retention by improving
customer convenience. The Group has its operational strategy
of running an e-commerce retail online store to accelerate
customer growth and to develop customer brand, and diversify
the operations by offering wine storage services.

The Group actively explores and improves financial services and
development models and technologies, and cooperates with
multiple platforms to serve small, medium and micro enterprises,
mainly in Chongging and Hong Kong, with broader business
channels and more convenient financial models.

The Group strives to strengthen the all-round market position
in Hong Kong as well as to explore business opportunities
overseas in an attempt to create synergies with different
businesses.
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CORPORATE VALUES, STRATEGIES

AND CULTURE (continued)

Our Culture

(1) Culture of Commitment
The Group believes that the culture of commitment is
to carry on the spirit of dedication and diligence of the
Group, i.e. committed to provide high-quality products and
services, and optimize business portfolio.

(2) Culture of Agile

Ever since the 21st Century, the shift in human lifestyles,
the scope of information dissemination, the variation of
new innovations and the impact of new world order have
demonstrated that ‘change’ is irrevocably the universal
truth in today’s world. In the future world, an agile mindset
to anticipate changes becomes the key to maintain one’s
superiority. With flexible and efficient execution capability,
the Group will provide comprehensive and high-quality
services in response to the rapidly changing financial
environment in Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. We are
ascertained with strong dedication that the Group will
create remarkable footprints in the future development of
both Hong Kong and worldwide.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is the
Directors’ responsibility to create value for the Shareholders
and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole by discharging their duties in a
dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good
faith.

The primary functions of the Board include:

(i)  deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational
and financial performance and formulating appropriate
policies to manage risk exposure associated with realizing
the strategies and goals of the Group;

(i)  monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and renewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board composition (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

being held accountable for the internal control system of
the Group and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial
accounts and discussing the performance, financial
conditions and prospects of the Group in a balanced,
clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities
are applicable to interim and annual reports of the
Company, other price-sensitive announcements published
in compliance with GEM Listing Rules and disclosure of
other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory
bodies and information discloseable under statutory
requirements;

being responsible for affairs involving the overall policies,
finance and the Shareholders, namely financial statements,
dividend policy, significant changes to accounting policies,
annual operating budgets, material contracts, major
financing arrangements, principal investment and risk
management strategy, whereby the executive Directors
shall be responsible for the daily management of the
Group, and the implementation and execution of the above
is delegated to the management;

regularly reviewing its own functions and the powers
conferred upon executive Directors to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place; and

determining the nature and extent of significant risks
(including the environmental, social and governance risks)
that the Group are willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulating the Group’s risk management
strategies.

The Board has overall responsibility for the leadership,
strategic direction, control and performance of the Group
and for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising its affairs. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to
the management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the
Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs
of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition (Continued)

The management is well informed of its powers and duties
with clear guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding
situations under which reporting to the Board is necessary
and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the
Company.

The Board has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The current
composition of the Board has a strong independence element
and provides a sufficient balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in leading the Company to achieve its
goal. The independent non-executive Directors also provide
independent judgment to the Board’s overall decision-making
process. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the board independence mechanism for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and considered it to be effective.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, with two executive Directors, namely, Ms. Kuo Kwan
and Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley, two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ji Zuguang and Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p. and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Kin
Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean and Mr. Zhou Li. The
biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report. The independent non-executive Directors and
the non-executive Directors bring a diverse range of expertise,
skills and experience and provide effective guidance and
independent views on major decisions of the Group. To assist in
the discharge of their duties, the Directors have free and direct
access to both the Company’s internal and external auditors
and procedures are in place to allow the Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

64 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

EE® ()

BEESAKE)
EEEBCRAEE IR EESBEWNNIESI RIER &
AlEEMBEBERTEAESSER  URERRAQ
BEHEMRE R LM EAF I ERESES S I #
LEHo

EFQCRUMY  URREFSGUNESEBEINE
RiE#E ZE=FgEMAKEERENE LN - X
EREQRBEREBETEAD FE T HEE - &R
BRHNZEE BUFRRTESNHESTTNER
REBERBBLHEG EFTSCFHEE20245F
BABTHLEFEMNEFTSBILEH 2 HIE1S MK
M URREAK -

RAREAH ZEECGHLRESHN  EFMEB A
HITEE BEBHLETREREMEL  MAIERTT
EE PRAEBXETERERELEE  x7m+ K
—HEBUFRTEE  BRAREREE IS RIE
TREANAE BEZREINARE [EShaRE
BEBRHAB]— & BUFRATEETLIIEHNTES
WRLZFTEMEEME  HEMER  RAETNEBIR
HAEKRIES  TAAEBEHERKRARET KRB HE
2o AR ERBTRE  ESFUBNEAQAZAD
BATRRINEZEMEZEER  MAKXQRINERIAL
EHREF FEESXKBUNITEER  HHEAB
S RAN/N R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TXRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition (Continued)

The Directors, with relevant and sufficient experience and
qualifications, have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group and have exercised due care and fiduciary
duties in relation to the significant issues of overall business
planning, management and strategic development of the Group.

Given the overall composition of the Board and the expertise,
skills and experience of each of the Directors, the Group
believes that the Board is appropriately structured to provide
sufficient checks and balances to protect the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
the Board members have no material financial, business, family
or other relevant relationships with each other.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times complied with the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules of having at least three
independent non-executive Directors sit on the Board (more
than one-third of the Board members) and at least one of
them having appropriate professional accounting or related
financial management expertise. All the independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a term of three years,
and are subject to rotation and re-election in accordance
with to the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.
Details of their appointments are referred to the section headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment Letters” on page
36 of this annual report. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers these Directors to be independent.

BEEg(2)

BEEgARE)
ETHAGHBRLYENLERRER  ERAEES
BHRTRABEBELRE T TERMAEEBREERS
Z EEREBEEEEAENEATEERR T REST
BAERA

ERNEFENEREOMABNET Z2ERAH - KB
MEk  ARBEHREESERBREREMEERENZ
EEkHE  WREAQ B RBERAMER -

BEEMM  FENMME EFSEXNECHLES
REH X5 BB EMEBREE -

BYFITES

FA BEFE-HETCGEMLETHRAMNKRE  BNES
EELA-RBUFNTEFT(HEFEXNERBB=
DZIRELEFZ - ABEENEXEHNAH
MBERMNE MEBUFATESZIEHRR=F "
REZFEMURCGEMETRA - FERABFEET R
BREL - ARANSFZIREIHE  F2HAFHEI6
BIEERBEOREEE] - BBUFNTERER
GEMLEMR A FES.0MFKELFEBLIEER - A F
RRZEFEEHEBYIE -

SHARREESRAT F%5202324 65



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board practice and conduct of meetings

The full Board meets at least four times a year, at quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance of each period,
material investments and other matters of the Group.

The attendance records of each Director and each member of
the Board committees for the Year are as follows:

EE® ()
EEZeFERANEHER
EEeEFELAANKEE  BEEH K UE

BMAKEEHEzHBERER EAREHEEMER -

EEEREFCZEENERTFENLF LN
T

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/ARLEERNY
Nomination
and Corporate Annual Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Governance General General
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
RERDE
EZg ENZEE FMZEEE ERZEEE REBEAE RRBHAS
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Kuo Kwan PELT 99  NATER NATER  NATEE 1 11
Ms. Xie Mengna' RER L 5/8 N/A T iE A N/A RNE N/A T E A 11 11
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley? REMEL2 2/2 N/A T A N/A RNE N/A T iE A 0/0 0/0
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ji Zuguang LA 99  NATHRE 2/2 2/2 1/1 1
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p. ERERE  trH+ 9/9 33 NATER 2/2 1/1 11
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus REEEE 9/9 3/3 212 212 1 in
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean IR L) 9/9 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1 1
Mr. Zhou Li AA%sE 9/9 3/3 2/2 212 i il

U Ms. Xie Mengna has resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 31 December 2023.

e Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley has been appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 22 December 2023.

Information of material issues, due notice of meetings and

minutes of every meeting have been sent to all Directors for their
information, comment and review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years which is
automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each
upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than three months’ notice
in writing.

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley, who has been appointed as an
executive Director during the year ended 31 March 2024, has
obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise
on Hong Kong law as regards the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a director of a
listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a false
declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on
9 January 2024, and she has confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a Director of the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the GEM Listing
Rules, and shall be terminated by either party upon a one-month
prior written notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years, which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules, and shall be terminated by either party upon
a one-month prior written notice.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(Continued)

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment of new Directors.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to Article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall have the power
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or addition
to the existing Board but so that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed any maximum number determined
from time to time by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any
Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to the code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, the
further appointment of independent non-executive Directors
who have served more than nine years should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders and the
papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution should
state why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board in
arriving at such determination. The Board confirms that as at
the date of this report, none of the independent non-executive
Directors has served more than nine years.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG code,
the Directors had participated in continuous professional
development during the Year to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skKills, to ensure that the Directors’ contribution
to the Board remains relevant and informed. As part of the
Directors’ continuous professional development programme,
each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) EEg(x)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional EEEIYRESEEERE(£Z)

Development (Continued)

During the Year, all existing Directors were provided with £ & A& TE AR T2 5124458 GEM L i 8
updates on the latest developments and changes in the R EMBEBEIENEEETHNEILRELEHEE
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory - IS REMAEBE NS R ESHABERETS
requirements from time to time to develop and refresh the 1B - IEE - AR AR BELAEETLHERE o
Directors’ understanding and knowledge in respect of their

duties and responsibilities. Continuing briefings to Directors are

arranged whenever necessary.

The individual record of each Director who received training for AXFEZESFE BN 2@ ALLEALEWNT -
the Year is summarized as follow:

Course/Seminar/

Workshop
organized by Reading
Professional Body materials
HEXEREERY
R e
T e R AR
Directors 2=
Executive Directors HITESE
Ms. Kuo Kwan EpEF L+ v v/
Ms. Xie Mengna?® Rtz 13 v 4
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley* o T M £ v 4
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ji Zuguang ST A v v
Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.P. BHEBLYE  trmt v 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BAIFHITES
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KRR E v 4
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean SFREL v 4
Mr. Zhou Li Epaptes v 4

= Ms. Xie Mengna has resigned as an executive Director with 3 RENLTEIEHNITES - B2023FE 128318 4% -
effective from 31 December 2023.

¢ Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley has been appointed as an executive ¢ EIMEBELEEZTAEHITES  B2023F12822H
Director with effective from 22 December 2023. HE o
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. As at the date of this report, the gender ratio amongst
members of the Board is 4 males to 3 females. All Board
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contributions that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group (including senior
management) for the Year was approximately 46.02% male and
approximately 53.98% female. The Group encourages gender
diversity across its workplace. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination and
Corporate Governance Committee, each overseeing and being
responsible for affairs in different aspects of the Company. All
Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference.

The written terms of reference for each board committee are
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and they are posted
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee. It currently
comprises one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.~.,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chu
Kin Wang Peleus (Chairman), Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean and
Mr. Zhou Li. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a
former partner of the auditors of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management,
internal control systems and relationship with external auditors,
and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise
concerns under the protection of confidentiality about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant laws, regulations and
rules are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance
are appropriately identified and managed. The systems and
internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings
for the purposes of reviewing the first quarterly, interim and
annual financial results and reports and significant issues on
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems, and the other matters
in accordance with the Audit Committee’s written terms of
reference. The Group’s audited annual results for the Year have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee. It
currently comprises one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Ji Zuguang, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhou Li (Chairman), Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
and Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; establishing a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy and to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration; and to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings to review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of all Directors and newly appointed
Director and other related matters in accordance with the
Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the member(s) of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band
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Number of individuals

AB

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
The Board has established the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. It currently comprises two non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Zuguang (Chairman) and Mr.
Ip Cho Yin, u.r., and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean
and Mr. Zhou Li. The primary functions of the Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee include reviewing the
Board’s structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of directors, assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, and determining the
policy for the corporate governance of the Company.

According to the policy of the Company, appointment of Board
members will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria. The selection criteria used
in assessing the suitability of a candidate include:

° the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and knowledge
which are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate
strategy);

° the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;
° the candidate’s character and integrity;

° the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote
adequate time in discharge of a director’s duties;

° whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a
diversity of perspectives;

° where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director whether the candidate
is in compliance with the criteria of independence under
the GEM Listing Rules; and

° any other factors as may be determined by the Board from
time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
(Continued)

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member
may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a
Director to be considered by the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee. The Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee will then evaluate the personal profile
of the candidate based on the selection criteria set out above,
undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate and make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.
For the nomination of an independent non-executive Director,
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will also
assess the candidate’s independence in accordance with the
CG Code and the GEM Listing Rules. For the re-appointment
of retiring Directors, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee will review the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance (including the candidate’s attendance at Board
committee meetings, Board meetings and general meetings,
his/her level of participation and performance on the Board), and
make recommendations to the Board and the Shareholders for
re-election at general meetings.

During the Year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee held two meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new
Director and the re-appointment of Directors and other related
matters in accordance with its written terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the auditor, Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited, to the Group for the Year amounted to HK$690,000 and
HKS$0 respectively.

Ranger Advisory Co. Limited provided internal audit services to
the Group for the Year amounted to HK$140,000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Ms. Tse Ka Yan. She has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge in the Year. For details and professional
qualifications of Ms. Tse, please refer to page 10 of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group on a going concern basis. Statements of Directors’
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial
statements and external auditor’s reporting responsibilities are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining the Company’s internal
control system and risk management procedures and for
reviewing the effectiveness of these controls annually.

To enhance corporate governance, the Group implements
internal control and audit supervision to reduce operating
risks. The Group has established an internal audit system
in accordance with relevant regulations. Internal audit is an
independent consultation, evaluation, control and supervision
activity carried out within the Group. Through systematic and
standardized methods, the Group reviews and evaluates within
various departments of their operating activities and target
achievement, the establishment and implementation of internal
control, the utilization of resources, etc. It also provides relevant
analysis, recommendations, assistance, and supervision for
management personnel to perform their duties in due diligence.

During the Year, the Directors evaluated and were satisfied
with the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function as well as their training programmes and budget for
the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as
well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and
reporting, and reported to the Board that in all material respects
the systems of risk management and internal control over
risks associated with the Group’s operations were sufficient,
appropriate and operated effectively on a continuing basis.
In addition, the Directors have continuously reviewed and
are satisfied that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including, in particular, financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions, are
effective and adequate to safeguard the Group’s assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual report and interim report offer comprehensive
information to the Shareholders on operational and financial
performance whereas annual general meeting provides an
opportunity for the Shareholders to exchange views directly with
the Board. The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and
the Board.

According to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
on a one vote per share basis, shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business or
resolution specified in such requisition. The requisition must be
lodged with the registered office of the Company. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the EGM, and (ii) must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for attention
of the Board or the Company Secretary, and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisitions will be
verified by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will inform the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving sufficient
notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting
will not be convened as requested.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, please
refer to the procedures as set out in the Articles of Association
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect

of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company establishes different
communication channels with investors to update the latest
business development and financial performance including
the publication of interim and annual reports, the publishing
and posting of notices, announcements, and circulars on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in order to
maintain a high level of transparency, and to ensure there is no
selective disclosure of inside information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles of Association have been amended and restated
with effect from 9 August 2022. Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has published its latest Articles
of Association on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction to the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) provides an overview of the initiatives, plans
and performance of Madison Holdings Group Limited (the
“Madison”, the “Group” or “We”, together with its subsidiaries)
in Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

This ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024 (the “Reporting Period”, “Year”, “2024").

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses primarily on the Group’s ESG
performance within its subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) of the Group, which
is the major operating revenue activity controlled directly by
our management. The Group’s formwork business principally
includes (i) retail sales and wholesales of wine products and
other alcoholic beverages (“Wine Business”), (i) the provision
of loan financing and consultancy services (“Loan Financing
Business”), and (iii) the provision of financial services
(“Financial Services Business”).

Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Reporting Principles

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has
applied the Reporting Principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting
Guide as follows:

° “Materiality” — A materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues during the Reporting Period,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the
focus for preparing this ESG Report. The materiality of
issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board. Please
refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” for
further details.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

Reporting Principles (Continued)

° “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion
factors used to calculate environmental key performance
indicators (“KPIs”).

° “Balance” — This Report aims to provide a holistic and fair
view of the sustainability performance of the Group and
has not omitted any information related to material ESG
topics.

° “Consistency” — The approach adopted for preparing this
ESG Report was substantially consistent with the previous
year, and explanations were provided regarding data
with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

Forward-Looking Statements

This ESG Report contains forward-looking statements based
on the Group’s current expectations, estimations, projections,
beliefs, and assumptions about the businesses and the markets
in which it operates. These forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to market
risks, uncertainties, and factors beyond the Group’s control.
Therefore, actual outcomes may differ from the assumptions
made and the statements contained in this ESG Report.

Confirmation and Approval
This ESG Report was endorsed by the ESG Working Group and
approved by the Board in June 2024.

Contact us

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and
we welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on
this ESG Report or our future ESG strategy in general. Please
share any comments or suggestions regarding the Group’s ESG
performance at info@madison-group.com.hk.
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THE GROUP’S ESG GOVERNANCE

STRUCTURE

The Board - Decision-making Level

° Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities

° Formulate ESG management approaches, strategies,
priorities and goals

° Regularly review ESG-related targets

° Review the disclosures in the ESG Report

o Oversee all ESG issues

ESG Working Group

o Collect and analyse ESG data, evaluating the effectiveness of
policies and procedures

° Ensure the implementation of plans to achieve ESG targets

o Ensure compliance with relevant ESG laws and regulations

o Support the preparation of the annual ESG Report

° Report to the Board on all ESG-related issues

THE BOARD STATEMENT

To strengthen our sustainable development management, we
have established an ESG governance structure, and developed
our ESG targets. The board of Directors of the Company
(“Board”) is solely accountable for the Group’s ESG governance
and sustainable development. The Board is responsible for
regularly reviewing the Group’s material issues, performance,
and ESG risks and opportunities. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls. With the Board’s approval, the ESG
working group reviews and evaluates the concerns and interests
of stakeholders through a materiality analysis to determine the
Group’s approach, strategy and goals for ESG management.
The ESG working group is also responsible for collecting
and analysing ESG data, identifying the Group’s ESG issues,
reviewing the progress of goals and targets, and reporting
findings to the Board.
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ESG WORKING GROUP

The ESG Working Group (“Working Group”) was formed by
core members from different departments and operational
teams with approval by the Board. It assists the Board with risk
assessment and efficient policy implementation.

The Working Group’s duties encompass ESG data collection
and data analysis for ESG report preparation. Additionally, the
Working Group is responsible for monitoring and evaluating
ESG performance to ensure full compliance with regulations.
Regular meetings are conducted to assess the effectiveness
of current policies and drive ongoing improvements in ESG
aspects. The Working Group promptly discusses essential ESG
topics, integrating ESG concerns into strategy development
for risk management and opportunity optimisation. Through
analysis and discussion, the Working Group establishes diverse
ESG goals as part of the sustainable development process,
transforming identified threats into opportunities through
policy formulation and implementation. The Working Group
periodically reports to the Board, assisting in assessing and
identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, evaluating
the implementation and effectiveness of internal control
mechanisms, and reviewing the progress of set goals and
targets.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Madison values the feedback and opinions of its stakeholders.
Stakeholder engagement is an important exercise for the Group
to understand the views of different stakeholders, which forms
the basis of its sustainability framework.

With reference to industry trends and development, Madison
has developed an approach to identify relevant topics that may
be considered as material. The stakeholders are then engaged
to collect their feedback on these topics. The Group can hear
their perspectives and voices, and timely responses can be
provided by the Group. A summary of the stakeholder groups,
key issues concerned, and engagement channels is listed in the
following table.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

HERERBRS

BHES
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Stakeholders

Expectations and Concerns

Communication Channels

B E HMERETE BERE
Government and regulatory e Compliance with local policies, laws e \Written or electronic correspondence
authorities and regulations EZWsEFEA
AT K BE B R BETEMBE  RERER e Visits and inspections
e On-time tax payment PG EERE
Eedisg ol

Shareholders and investors

BREEEE

Sustainable economic performance
ARECBERR

Risk management

[\ bz & 12

Sound corporate governance
practices

RFEEERTR

Annual general meeting and other
shareholders’ meetings
RRBFARGRHEMKRRRS
Financial reports

MEmE

Announcements and circulars
YNBSS =N

Company websites

NGIE b

Good employment practices

RFEBER

Safe and healthy work environment
T2 RERIERE

Customers e Knowledge of wine suggestions from | e Visits to online flagship store
BEE the sommelier 2B FEEE
MALEMFEME BN EH® e Customer service hotline and emails
o H|gh—qual|ty services B R R IS B4R K B E
BERS
e Customer satisfaction
BEmEE
Employees e Remuneration and benefits e Training, seminars, and briefing
(== o & E T sessions

= AHERERE
Performance reviews
B ET S

Emails

£H
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (Continued) &S H (%)

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
BHE HMEREEE BERE
Suppliers and business e QOperation with integrity e Business meetings and discussions
partners W& e E kW
HEFREBRH e Fair and open procurement process | ® Site visits
RNEFAFRHRERIE B ZR
e On-time payment
1R 5T 3R
Industry e Establishment of industrial standards | e Participation in industry forums
1% I ATRIBAE DEITERE
e Participation in industrial e Field visits
development i E 5
DRITEER
Loan and debt holders e Regular discussions e Regular meetings
BEREHRHEE FHIEE EHEHE
e Compliant operation
BREE
Media and the public e Transparent information disclosure e ESG reports
HEEAR = VN R ESGH &
e Company website
NGIEED
e Social media platforms
HRERBFA
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEMFTML

Madison conducted a survey with its internal and external ZEEBZEHE RN LN BEHMHEETHAST - LERlE
stakeholders to identify material ESG issues. The material topics ZEESGET - RIESFEHEO MR EE H {44 2
were identified and prioritised based on each stakeholders’ & - HPEEHBEWHTELRNT - HER2EWO TR -
analysis, and a summary of the materiality assessment results.

The results are illustrated below:

Materiality Matrix

BERE \’
Waste management I—\ \
EEYEE . Training and development
ism

| Whistle-blowing mechan

R

IR ER

Community Participation
HESE R

High &
A
Product quality management
Prevention of child and Dato privacy protection EmnEER
forced labour o ?
: PULET RAHST i R —
ﬁ Advertising and labelling Health zlnd safety \ .\
® B RIS BRREZZ .\ Customer satisfaction and
° Business ethics complaint management
g A BERBERRHER
. . o— )
g Use of packaging material Emfloyees rights and
3 : BEMEHEAR Supply chain management welfare
° Enargy efficiency e D & B B
]
X
©
=
(2]
c
o
et
o
©
o
E

Water consumption | | Greenhouse gas emissions Climate change mitigation and adaptation
FERE REREBEN R REERIEE
Low fE& Impact on Business # ¥R E High &
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group acknowledges that environmental protection
requires both collective and individual efforts. With the
growing concern over climate change and environmental
conservation, we understand the significance of reducing
emissions and minimising our environmental impact. To
achieve this, we have integrated a range of sustainable
practices into our business operations.

To guide our green initiatives, we have implemented
an Environmental Policy with specific guidelines
encompassing four key areas: emissions, resource usage,
environmental and natural resources, and climate change.
The following sections provide detailed information about
our relevant green measures.

Environmental Target

In order to support global efforts in addressing climate
change, accelerating the pace of transition to a green and
low-carbon economy, resolutely achieving the target to
progressively decrease office paper disposal by 2027, and
assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s strategies and
measures to mitigate the impact of climate change, we had
set environmental targets for the Group, using 2022 as
baseline, as below.
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5
AEENEREREZTEEBREANKARS
e BEHRBEECRRRBRENBE THEBAE
B RMAAMRDBERREEREHRENY
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RESBHRMANZEER  RMACERE -BERE
BE HbeEmERRERNARES &
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BRRER

AYHRBRBEARELNEN  NRELE
BB 4GB B M 5 1 - R B IR B 2027 6 1B
SRLEEM AR MM IRIZ - T A% ER
BRIRE LB B S0 R SR RPN
2022 F RER - AALEHTBRIEE - A
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2022
Environmental Aspects Units (baseline) 2024 Progress
BEEMR B 20226 (H %) 20245 EE
Electricity Consumption Intensity MWh/million 2.45 3.74 On progress
revenue (HK$) HEITH
HEAE kR, BEWKE(ET)
Water Consumption Intensity ms3/employee 7.10 5.6 Achieved
FKEE NAK/EE BERK
Non-hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/million 0.02 0.02 Achieved
revenue (HK$) BERK
BEREVEE M,/ B EWa=(ET)
Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity tCO,e/million 1.55 1.44 Achieved
revenue (HK$) BEK

BERBHREE M-fltiEE AERE

(&)

To achieve the aforementioned environmental targets in
the future, the Group will continue to record and monitor
the GHG emissions and other relevant environmental data
from time to time.

REKEARKORRER  ARESEET
BBt BN EREHENENEMERRR
2R -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A1. Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
environmental-related laws and regulations in relation
to exhaust gas and greenhouse gases (“GHGs”),
emissions, water and land discharge, and the
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
Such laws and regulations include but are not limited
to the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Water Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Air Emissions

To align with the global development of the low-
carbon economy, the Group pays attention to the air
emissions that arise from its daily operations. The
principal sources of air emissions are the combustion
of diesel and petrol arising from company vehicles. In
response to the above emission sources, we actively
take the following emission reduction measures:

° Optimise fuel consumption by proactively
planning routes in advance to minimise route
repetition;

° Maintain optimal engine performance and
fuel efficiency by regularly servicing company
vehicles;

° Minimise fuel consumption by actively turning
off the engine when the vehicle is idling.

The Group’s Emissions performance is summarised
below:

A. BE (#)

Al. BERYD
RBEMERN - AEBRERTMEA
EREAFARAZSE((RAER®]) - 5
WKRTHEBESUARES BEEREERE
EYAEBMBERBEER AR EHAS
BiEmEATE REFAREZEBER
TRNEBNEYEE ) R(EBKS
P8 1) o

B SR BE R

ARAEHERKENRR  AEEB
HAREEPELMBEREN - BERFEN
B E B RIR S A ) AT E A WSO8 MO
R o #H 8 EAHERURSE - B ER
BREUA TR PRE 6

s HHRIEAMMRERG BERIERE
B REMEE R IERE

. EHEEATER  REREIEH
B R MRS

s HGHEWMEERTIPHMEASIE KWK
KR E R = &K e

AEEMPRBERBMEMT

Type of Air Pollutants Unit 2024 2023
ERSRMER B 20244 2023%F
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 17.78 19.24
AAILT(NO) FTr
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 0.06 0.06
H a1 % (SOy Tr
Particulate matter (“PM”) kg 1.63 1.79
BT RN (BB ) Tr
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A. %iﬁ &)
A1. Emissions (Continued) EFH%(%)
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions BERE(REERE DMK
Madison generates GHG emissions through the HhRBAEHAER - ﬁl\ﬁﬁ 77 LA R b7 3%
use of vehicles, purchased electricity, as well as HEENERELERERBHEM -AKH
paper waste at landfills. The Group is committed to BAORBADEER - jﬁ?}?ﬂxé’qiﬁtﬁﬁjﬁ%m
reducing its emissions and adopting practices that =i
are sustainable to the environment.
The Group’s GHG Emissions performance is ANEBEMEEREIMBEREMmT -
summarised below:
Indicator’ Unit 2024 2023
BE By 20244 2023%F
Direct GHG Emission (Scope 1) tCOe 11.32 10.42
. Petrol and Diesel Consumption @E*S&Lﬂ: RE =
EEAERBER(EE—)
hd /‘L/EE &K/EE /ﬁ%%
Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) tCO,e 83.45 89.43
o Purchased Electricity @E_i{t REE
MR ERE Ekﬁﬁz(%el_)
o INEEE
Other Indirect GHG Emission (Scope 3) tCO,e 3.50 3.29
D Paper Waste Disposal @E_%ﬂ: =
HiEZEAEREHEK(BE=
o MOREEE
Total GHG Emission tCO L€ 98.28 103.14
BAEREBHERRLE %MI: i E £
Intensity? tCOze/mllhon 1.44 1.06
revenue (HK$)
HEe “StIREE
ﬁ%ﬂﬂlm (&)
Notes: BtaE -
1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon 1. BAERBHMBEEBU-_SLELREERT -
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited ER(BEERTERR)  ERERMEAMN
0, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Mt RAFERREEESSEMHN R
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the EREETE  CESHNBERE]
World Resources Institute and the World Business BE X P B ) [0l 4R B ESG ¥R & — B 8%
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to T CRBEREBIEZERKS ] &
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting BHNPEESEAERERE T UK
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the BEEHNREBRARZEME [2022F 1]
HKEX, the latest released emission factors of China’s BEEERS] -
regional power grid basis and the “Sustainability
Report 2022” published by HK Electric Investments
Limited.
2. As at 31 March 2024, the total revenue in the 2. M2024%3A31H AEEEFRSEHEN

Reporting Scope of the Group was HK$68.1 million
(as at 31 March 2023: HK$97.2 million). This data is
also used to calculate other intensity data.

ey

K 48U 2 A 68.1 8 B8 T (7R 20234F 3 A
318 :97.2B 8B L) o BRI AR ET
BEHMREEE -
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A1. Emissions (Continued)

RIE(#)
Al. BE¥ (&)

Sewage Discharge

Due to the nature of its business, the Group’s
business activities do not generate much sewage
discharge. As the wastewater discharged by the
Group is sent to the local sewage treatment plants
for treatment through the municipal sewage network,
the Group’s water consumption amount is about the
same as sewage discharge.

Waste Management

We have an internal waste management guideline
that ensures all waste is properly collected and
handled by licensed contractors, and according to
local laws and regulations. The guideline identifies
responsible personnel and details of their duties. It
also explicitly outlines garbage collection, storage,
and disposal methods. We encourage our employees
to follow the guidelines and to embrace the challenge
of circularity.

Hazardous Waste

Considering the nature of Madison’s business,
the generation of hazardous waste was immaterial
during the Reporting Period. However, the Group
has also formulated guidelines for the management
and disposal of hazardous waste. If hazardous
waste is generated, the Group must engage qualified
chemical waste collectors to treat such waste such
that it complies with relevant environmental laws and
regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RRE - HEREBRS

A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A1l.

Emissions (Continued)

Non-Hazardous Waste

The non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group’s business activities are office paper,
general waste and wooden boxes used for storing
alcoholic beverages. Madison is actively increasing
employees’ awareness regarding the significance
of waste reduction. As part of this commitment,
the Group has established a target to progressively
decrease office paper disposal as mentioned
in section “Environmental Target”. In pursuit of
improved environmental performance, Madison has
implemented the following environmentally friendly
initiatives for waste management:

° To implement a recycling programme by
designating specialised bins for the collection of
recyclable materials like plastics and paper;

° To maximise the reuse of single-sided
wastepaper and office supplies, such as folders,
envelopes, and plastic files;

° To choose recyclable products and
rechargeable batteries instead of disposable
alternatives, prioritising sustainability and waste
reduction;

° To enact proper recycling protocols for office
paper and electronic equipment after their life
cycle; and

° Not to print electronic correspondences, only
when necessary.

A. RE (&)

A1l.

BER (4 )
AEBEXBEDEEINEZTBERZRYBEMN
RA® —REEZDEAREREER®
AN BEREEBEBIRSEEH®D
BEVPNEBRNES - FRUAREN—
D AKREEHEELBLEER AR
MR FRIRREF] /- BIESR
RER  BERCEEEVEETEER
ATRRER

B @ UEt 81 - 5 E BT E AR A MK
SR U E - HIIE R AR

e EBURBEEEREEEMALRELA
g IR EEHRBRXES

. EBTBKERRAEBEL - ABR
—RIEERE - A FRRADEE
mhE

s EMABAALETFRENEBERE
Rig - GIEEENEUERE R

o TIEHEBEFEH(EELER) -
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RE - HEREBRS

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A. RE (&%)
A1. Emissions (Continued) Al. BER (&)
Non-Hazardous Waste (Continued) BEBEY(E)
During the Reporting Period, Madison generated a RBERHER - FHERDELEH1.04BE
total of 1.04 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. The EEEY AEBEEERZEYHIENXR
Group’s performance of non-hazardous wastes is WP T -

summarised below:

Types of Wastes Unit 2024 2023
EEEEY A By 20244 20234
Office Paper tonnes 0.2 0.68
EE/NE R 07
General Waste tonnes 0.76 0.69
—REEY i
Cans and Bottles tonnes 0.08 -
2 P MO L7
Discarded Wooden Box tonnes - 0.13
REE A ]
Total Non-hazardous Waste Disposed tonnes 1.04 1.50
EEREREEVERE 07
Intensity tonnes/million 0.02 0.02
revenue (HK$)

®E WE, B & e (Eor)

A2. Use of Resources A2. ERERA
Madison continues to introduce resource efficiency BRREE T AEBR L ER I AEBRYE
and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations NERARER U OREREXKEEES
and is committed to optimising resource use in all BLLERER KAEBCDHETERETERE
business operations. Our Group has established BRAHIES S EHEERSEHIRIE
guidelines to govern resource utilisation effectively, M EREHIE -

aiming to minimise the environmental impact of its
business operations.
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A2.

Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy Management

The primary source of energy consumption for
the Group is electricity, particularly in our wine
cellars and cabinets. Recognising the importance
of integrating energy conservation and emission
reduction into our business operations and
development objectives, we have taken proactive
measures to address such an objective. One such
initiative is implementing an insulated warehouse
facility, designed to minimise the need for excessive
electricity usage. By employing advanced insulation
techniques, we aim to substantially reduce our overall
energy consumption while maintaining optimal wine
storage conditions. The relevant specific measures
are as follows:

° Maximise the efficiency of light fixtures and
lamps by keeping them clean;

° Optimise energy consumption by utilising split-
type air conditioners with grade 1 energy labels;
and setting the air conditioning systems to a
minimum temperature of 25.5 degrees Celsius;

° Enable automatic standby or sleeping mode on
computers when idling; and

° Power down electronic appliances, lights, and
air conditioners before breaks, at the end of
the workday, and during holidays to conserve
energy.

Furthermore, Madison conducts sustainability
education and training from time to time, promotes
practical suggestions on eco-friendly lifestyles, and
raises employees’ awareness of energy conservation
by posting electricity-saving slogans.

A.

RIE (4

A2. ERER (&)
BREE
AEBERYUENTIERRAE N  £LE
RHRMABEERBE - BAMNEE SR

BHWAXBEEREREEZENEE
mEREERE B EIR I B R
HmERARREER

% &
o Hp —IA%E

W LNRERLBE

HEMEE - BBEKBLENRRSI

BPEEARREEERBEET

LI

URFE - R R

BeENEGELEHETEHRG -HHEAEBER
RIFRIAE S REBRF  NERH
= AEE
FH—HRERZENIENEH -
THEEFANZELEEREBEK25.5

Itk S

-3

& AEILREIRIEFE

REKBERRESBDFHIE

MR &
ERER - TER&RKHKEREY
FMEREERS  BRENIZEH  ASORE

R o
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A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

RIE(#)
A2. ERFER (&)

Energy Management (Continued)
A summary of energy consumption performance
listed below:

REREE(E)
RERERRIMAES T

Types of Energy Unit 2024 2023
RERERE B 20244 2023%F
Direct Energy Consumption MWHh 42.83 39.60
HERRER KE
o Petrol 18.29 13.983
LI W
o Diesel 24.54 25.67
o LM
Indirect Energy Consumption MWHh 211.95 198.71
% ge R B FE K F
o Purchased Electricity 211.95 198.71
*  HNEBES
Total Energy Consumption MWh 254,78 238.31
gERERAS JK FL B
Intensity MWh/million 3.74 2.45
revenue (HK$)
®E KEF BEWSCET)

Water Management

The Group’s water usage is mainly concentrated in
the area of domestic cleaning in offices and facilities.
As the Group recognises the prevailing global water
scarcity, we proactively implement strategies to
address this critical issue. We promote a culture
of water conservation among employees and have
implemented a range of measures to mitigate
water usage. The following are some of the water
conservation initiatives we have established:

° Recycle and reuse grey water to clean and
water plants in offices;

° Minimise water pressure to the lowest
practicable level; and

° Address dripping taps promptly to prevent
additional leakage and wastage.
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RRE - HEREBRS

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A.
A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

RIE(#)
A2. ERFER (&)

Water Management (Continued)
A summary of water consumption performance is
below:

KEEBE(E)
KBEEFERBER MO T ¢

Indicator Unit 2024 2023
BE B 20244 20234
Total Water Consumption m3 644.50 852.00
FKkEE 377K

Intensity m3/employee 5.60 7.10
oy ST KBS

Use of Packaging Materials TEM R EA

Packaging materials such as carton boxes and
plastic packaging rolls are commonly used in the
Wine Business. However, the Group is committed
to minimising reliance on plastic packaging rolls
whenever feasible and actively promotes the
implementation of simplified packaging. As part
of this commitment, the Group prioritises the
incorporation of paper-based materials as substitutes
for plastic, while also emphasising the reuse of paper
boxes and plastic packaging rolls whenever possible.

The surge in online shopping has led to increased
requirement for packaging materials to safeguard
products during shipping and guarantee their secure
arrival. Consequently, there has been a notable
upturn in the overall usage of packaging materials.
Despite this trend, the Group remains steadfast in
its pursuit of sustainable packaging practices and
continues to explore ways to further reduce its
environmental impact.

BELOXBERERAABREHERER
FREME - AWM AEERAREATT
BRATEERDEBHBEBENKAE -
VEBHESEERROEE - (FAUL AR
- AEEELARAGENHRE
B REEARATEERREREHNE
KR -

REBYOBEERHEBREMBNERIE
M AREEHEBETNERLERED
Z2EE At BRMHERERRL
TreBEML  AEBDEEIBUHIENR
ARERRER YHERIE DR
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EHERREMSRAT F5202324 93



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued) A. BE (#)
A2. Use of Resources (Continued) A2. ERFERE)
Use of Packaging Materials (Continued) BEMBENER(E)
Types of Packaging Material Unit 2024 2023
BEMRER By 20244 2023%F
Plastic Products kg 1.5 40.00
R Em T
Paper Products kg 121 4,941.00
ME Fr
Total Packaging Materials Used kg 122.50! 4,981.00
PEMEERE T
Intensity? kg/thousand 0.009 0.20
bottles of alcoholic
beverages sold
HE2 Fr/FHRELZ
B AE R G
Note: Bt -
1. Due to the paper carton boxes purchased in 2023 was 1. HR2023FMEMNMELRBIKRER -

recycled and reused, the paper products of packaging
materials in 2024 have significantly decreased.

2. During the Reporting Period, 12,560 alcoholic
beverages (2023: 24,602) were sold.
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B BB EARE
A. ENVIRONMENT (continued) A. BB (&)
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources A3. RERKXKAER
The Group pursues the best practices in NEBBERIBIERE E’jEF M - M BEOE
environmental protection and focuses on its impact %‘Jh&%&iw‘ﬁﬁﬁ’l T -AEEE K
on the environment and natural resources. The iﬁ{%f@,@ﬁﬂ)\ﬁ BEEE LNERIIREA

A4.

Group has integrated the concept of environmental
protection into its daily operations so as to achieve
environmental sustainability.

Indoor Air Quality

Madison monitors and assesses the indoor air quality
within its premises on a regular basis. Throughout
the year, the indoor air quality maintained by the
Group has remained consistently excellent. To
further enhance the quality of indoor air, the Group
has implemented several measures. Air purifying
equipment has been strategically placed within
the premises. These devices effectively filter out
pollutants, contaminant, and dust particles, ensuring
a cleaner and healthier indoor environment for
employees and visitors alike. Furthermore, the Group
places great importance on regularly cleaning and
maintaining its air conditioning systems.

Climate Change

Madison is fully aware of the critical threat of
climate change and is actively taking measures
to mitigate its carbon footprint. Recognising the
significance of identifying and addressing climate-
related issues, the Group maintains a vigilant watch
over the potential impact of climate change on its
business and operations. To ensure comprehensive
risk management, Madison has implemented an
enterprise risk management (ERM) system that
encompasses climate change as a key consideration.
Proactively, the Group conducted a thorough climate
change assessment to identify and analyse potential
risks associated with its business operations.

A4,

FEER -

Wﬁﬁ%

MR THEARTHEEMANERSE
ﬁﬁ% BE—F AEEBERBHERZE
RERBRRFER - BE—TREE
TREE ALECERZSEER - R
BERBMEMNEMANE TR FERE -
ZERBREBIBESAEY - S ERD
EEN BREBRBERIRREHEBZR -
FREEMNENIRE - I AEBIEE
ERTHERREETTHZRZS -

Rzt
BERRREDANBABEELNRERE -
I FE AR BRERFE R D ik R B o AN B ME
FHALKBAREHABEEAENEZNH YR
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A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

A4.

Climate Change (Continued)

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events such as typhoons, storms, heavy
rains, and extreme cold or heat bring acute and
chronic physical risks to the Group’s business.
Worldwide product shipping and transportation may
be disrupted as a consequence of extreme weather
incidents, as a result, cargoes may be delayed or
lost. Besides, the damaged products due to improper
handling during the transportation process may also
affect the quality of the Group’s products. These
will expose the Group to risks associated with non-
performance and delayed performance, leading to
a direct negative impact on the Group’s revenue.
To minimise potential risks and hazards, the Group
has established mitigation plans, including flexible
working arrangements, precautionary measures
and extra formwork protection during bad or
extreme weather conditions. The Group will explore
emergency plans to further reduce the vulnerability
of our installations to extreme weather events and
enhance business stability.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision of carbon neutrality,
the Group expects the evolution of the regulatory,
technological and market landscape due to climate
change, including the tightening of national policies,
the emergence of environmentally-related taxes,
and shifting customer preference to an eco-friendlier
operation. In response to the policy, legal and
reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends
on climate change to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines or reputational risks due to delayed
response.
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RIE -HERERBKRS
B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

The Group recognises that employees are the
most essential and indispensable cornerstone of its
development. To ensure optimal human resource
management, the Group has implemented a
comprehensive set of formal procedures meticulously
documented in the Employee Handbook. These
procedures encompass various critical aspects,
including recruitment, promotion, termination,
remuneration, benefits, diversity, and equal
opportunities. Furthermore, the Group prioritises
the occupational health and safety of its workforce.
Creating a secure and healthy working environment is
paramount, and the Group takes proactive measures
to ensure the well-being and safety of its employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any material non-compliance with any relevant
laws and regulations in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

Madison upholds an approach revolving around fair
and equal opportunity when carrying out promotions
and dismissals. Promotions are evaluated annually,
considering objective performance indicators.
Supervisors actively engage in open and constructive
communication with employees, discussing their
performance and facilitating career advancement
opportunities. Regular performance appraisals are
conducted to assess employees’ work performance,
capabilities and growth potential, serving as a
foundation for future promotions and training
initiatives.

AEEERED  REERGCXZERRZEER
RTMARROED - BEFRELCADER
B ARECEREELARRF X
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REHmENER BEEET  IE K
ERH  FERE  Zl REAEUR
ﬁ@ik&ﬁﬂmﬁ%%&&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
SEEREATE

BE - BEAREE
BHRECETEARGEERBRFERED
IRIFEHRENRE - BFHEFETHT
H TEEREMNERERZ FEREH
BEETEHBAMEIMENER TmER
B WTREBREZRREE - BT EET
BEREZ LT HEEMNIERE - &
REBEREN  BARARNEARIEFIGTEE
TEERE o

EMREREESRAT F3m202324 97



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B .

HERERBRS

B. SOCIAL (continued)

B1.

Employment (Continued)

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
(Continued)

Encouraging internal promotion, Madison provides
employees with additional avenues for personal and
professional development. The Group places great
importance on nurturing talent from within its ranks,
fostering a culture of growth and recognising the
potential of its workforce.

In adherence to ethical practices, the organisation

B %:I: = 7z
B1. Eﬁ(@?)
PR - BARRBREE)

BKOZEDASLEH  AEBRHEEINE
ARBEEENGT - AEBIEFTERK
NETFEAL - BEKEXE - WRAIE
THEN -

BRTHEEED  HAEABRZEEMRES

strictly prohibits unjustifiable dismissals. If the need T -MBEEREET  BIEREAER
for dismissal arises, it is to be based on reasonable AR EK  EREBAEMNIER T AR
and lawful grounds, in accordance with the Group’s B -HERBERANEGH AFREEXY

internal policies. Madison ensures that all dismissals
are handled with sensitivity, fairness, and respect for
the affected employees.

Compensation and Benefits

Madison actively recruits and attracts talents,
providing fair and competitive compensation.
Employees’ salaries and year-end bonuses are
determined based on factors such as qualifications,
work performance, performance appraisal results and
market trends. In addition, the Group is committed to
providing different career development pathways for
its employees. The Group has no tolerance for unfair
dismissal and ensures that the dismissal procedure
is fair and open. The Group has formulated and
stated the procedures and conditions of dismissal
and contract termination in the Employee Handbook.

EREMNAREMERESE -

ﬁ@&%ﬁ
BREGBEE LRSI AL - BEQF

ﬁm?ﬁm o BREMFHEFRES
REBEEE  THEXRR BRAERERET
LRESHRET - Wi AEEB IR
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There is also a list of handover tasks to ensure
the seamless transition of job duties of departing
employees.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B1. Employment (Continued)

B. € (&)
B1. B (&)

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-Discrimination

Madison is committed to strict compliance with all
national and local governmental laws and regulations.
We uphold a fair, equitable, and transparent
recruitment process, establishing policies that
prevent discrimination in recruitment. We strive to
provide equal and fair treatment to all employees,
encompassing areas such as recruitment,
remuneration, training, promotion, dismissal,
retirement, and other aspects of employment.

If an employee faces intimidation, bullying, or
harassment, including sexual harassment, they are
encouraged to report the matter to their designated
employee representative or directly to the general
manager. The Group takes such complaints seriously
and will employ appropriate measures to promptly
address and resolve these issues upon receipt of the
complaint.

Employee Communication Channels

The Group actively recruits and attracts talents,
providing fair and competitive compensation.
Employees’ salaries and year-end bonuses
are determined based on qualifications, work
performance, performance appraisal results and
market trends.

To ensure a fair and transparent process, the
Group has established guidelines in the Employee
Handbook. It stipulates that employees should report
any irregularities or concerns to their supervisors or
the Human Resources Department.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. £t (%)
B1. Employment (Continued) Bi. EfE (&)
Employee Communication Channels (Continued) EEBERE(E)
As of March 31, 2024, the employee structure is HE2024F3A31H ' BELEUO T~ :

shown below:

2024 2023
Number of Employees ETAH 20244 20234
Total FEE 113 120
By Gender &Rl
Male B4 52 53
Female peglis 61 67
By Age Group & F R4 B
Below 30 305 AT 10 17
30 to 40 30k 2 408% 66 80
Over 40 4075 A £ 37 23
By Employment Type REFER
Full Time 2 B 113 110
Part-Time F B 0 10
By Employment Category ZESEH
Senior Management SRERRE 13 9
Middle Management RRERE 19 24
General Staff —RIEE 81 87
By Geographical Region HiE
Hong Kong B 44 36
The PRC B 69 84
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &t (%)
B1. Employment (Continued) Bi1. Ef& (&)

Employee Communication Channels (Continued) EEBERE(E)

During the Reporting Period, the overall employee REEHABAN  ERBEBRAEXAE39.48%

turnover is 39.48% (2023: 30.83%). The breakdown (20234 : 30.83%) ° R B MK A K A

of employee turnover information is as follows: R

2024 2023

Turnover Rate (%) K E (%) 20244 2023%F

By Gender BBl

Male B 54.00 37.74

Female pegc 30.00 25.37

By Age Group B AE B

Below 30 308K AR 40.00 58.82

30 to 40 30 £ 408% 32.00 23.75

Over 40 4058 A £ 57.00 17.39

By Geographical Region BitE

Hong Kong BB 48.00 44.44

The PRC s 36.00 25.00

Notes: e -

1. The overall turnover rate is calculated by dividing the 1. BRAEDEREHANERE T AR
number of employees leaving employment during the NSEBHARMBETASBGTESE -
reporting period by the number of employees as at the
end of the reporting period.

2. The turnover rate by specific category is calculated by 2. RETHEINORAEDERSHANEE
dividing the number of employees leaving employment HABBE T ABKRAREHRNETHE
in the specified category during the reporting period ABTABGESL -

by the number of employees as at the end of the
reporting period in the specified category.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety

B. t€ (&)
B2. @FREZZ

Madison highly values the health and safety of its
employees; and is committed to providing a healthy,
safe, and comfortable working environment. The
Group has established, implemented, and closely
monitored a series of health and safety codes
of conduct, drawing upon industry conventions
and regulatory guidelines. Led by the Group’s
management, the administration department, and
supervisors from different departments; collectively
undertake safety management responsibilities.
This entails identifying potential risks, coordinating
comprehensive health and safety training,
disseminating relevant information to employees,
and ensuring adequate first aid supplies and fire
safety equipment. The Group has implemented
specific safety procedures for jobs that involve
hazardous tasks, ensuring that every employee
is responsible and accountable for the Group’s
safety objectives. Regular fire drills and evacuation
exercises ensure employees are well-prepared and
informed about the necessary actions to take during
emergencies. Furthermore, to facilitate the safe
and efficient movement of heavy boxes of alcoholic
beverages within our warehouse, we have equipped
our employees with electric pallet trucks. These
specially-designed trucks provide a convenient and
ergonomic solution for transporting heavy loads,
minimising the risk of injuries.

Madison has established a system for reporting
hazards, accidents, injuries, and illnesses. This
system enables prompt responses and necessary
interventions to address any safety concerns
that may arise. During the Reporting Period, we
lost seven working days due to work injuries. As
details of all previous cases have been archived,
Madison has regularly reviewed and used them
as references for the Group’s occupational health
and safety precautions. Furthermore, relevant
safety procedures, working instructions, machines
and equipment maintenance safety guidelines, in-
house safety rules, and suitable personal protective
equipment provisions have been implemented and
updated to ensure the safety and health of employees
during their daily operations.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. #&#)

Health and Safety (Continued) B2. REEZZ(£)

Fiscal Year Unit 2024 2023 2022

MEREE By 20244 20234 20224

Fatalities due to work Cases 0 0 0

AT T (BES

Fatalities Rate % 0 0 0

Boe =

Lost days due to work injury Days 7 256 151

EATEERATIIEHE H#

Note: e -

1. The Group has subscribed to employees’ 1. AEBEAFEREREREFHERR -
compensation insurance for all employees, and it has RERERATIZEGMHEO[E -
covered the compensation required due to work-
related injury.

Development and Training B3. & ERIEI

B3.

Recognising talent as the cornerstone of its
competitive advantage, Madison places paramount
importance on the development of its employees,
considering it a vital responsibility. With the aim of
providing enhanced career growth opportunities
and a conducive working environment, the Group
consistently endeavours to refine its internal
training system. This system caters to the diverse
needs of employees at all levels, offering a range
of training modes and courses such as induction
training, generic skills development, professional
development, and leadership programmes. The
induction training, meticulously crafted by the Human
Resources Department and the Administration
Department, acquaints new employees with essential
aspects such as rules, regulations, and business
functions. The Group provides targeted management
and leadership enhancement programmes for
experienced managers, senior executives, and
key talents, cultivating exceptional individuals who
contribute significantly to Madison’s success.
Additionally, the Group collaborates with external
trainers to deliver comprehensive vocational skills,
training, enabling employees to refine their expertise
in specific domains. Moreover, the Group offers
meticulously designed and refined training programs
to enhance employees’ soft skills, empowering them
to excel both personally and professionally.

BRAIATREBRBFEBINER  HE
BRIFEGREER  UYHEBRR A
EZET-ARHEEZBEERKERE
MR IEMNRRE  NEETH<ZAEE
IR - -ZBEWNEEEREINZ TS
Ko R —RIFIRARRE - AR
Bl - BAREEER  BEXERLEMG
2L - AANERMPIRITHEBPIB LR

MABEI - EHEIRTRE - RO
REBBESEEZEAND  AEEHELER
CENKEE SRITHRABRIZASE
HERREGHEFHE  BER/TER
MARNELERERMNEBAL © Lo
$Elﬁ%%ﬂ%é¢'%ﬁ%ﬁ%¥&
EREI EREERSEFERIENE
%&%°%% AEBREEBLOR KT
EZMHIIEE - AiEmEEMNERE - &
HeEWERARBEZRR D EEUSERK

==
& o
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B. +2 (%)

B3. Development and Training (Continued) B3. %E&i"‘%uuz%
During the Reporting Period, Madison provided A EEIREA - FEBRE IR 480/ N K
around 480 hours of training, with an average training i; 3 FHEMNTINEENEIEEYN A
hour of approximately 4.17 training hours per trained AATENNEE - R RIESEAH BN

employee. The breakdown of t
gender and employee categor

he employee trained by ZIEERMALNT :
y is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023%

Percentage Breakdown Average Percentage Breakdown Average

of employees  of employees  Training Hours  of employees  of employees  Training Hours

trained (%) trained (%) (Hours) trained (%) trained (%) (Hours)

fh%ilER ZilES Pl N XIEE  FHRAEH

Indicators pik| BAL(%) B (%) RE (1) BAL(%) 4 (%) ()

By Gender iRl

Male L1 65.38 425 39 62.26 41.25 3.15

Female i 75.41 575 452 70.15 58.75 378
By Employee Category RESER

Senior Management BRERE 76.92 125 462 66.67 7.50 544

Management EEE 73.68 175 4.4 45.83 18.75 2.04

General Staff —#ES 69.14 70 415 7241 78.75 3.70

B4. Labour Standards

B4. &5 T %8|

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour BFItETRES% T

The Group has zero tolerance and strictly prohibits REFHET LA LTHEREA R B
the use of child labour and forced labour in our B BECLREFRERETINAGHLT -
operations. The measures mentioned below have BRPZEIEFREBETAEA  ANEBEDER
been taken to avoid these illegal employment TF)$E 5 o

practices.

Prevention of child labour

PFIEET

Prohibition of forced labour

B LE 5% 85 T

During the recruitment process, the human resources department will verify the
applicant’s identity documents and ensure that they have reached the minimum
age for employment.

EHREAES  ANBRBFABZERFIANTOHEMS  UTRERLEIZER
EFH o

The Group specifies overtime compensation provisions in the Employee
Handbook. The Group carefully monitors the employee working time and
working schedule to ensure they work voluntarily and freely.
AEBEETIFMAPARKENBEFEGRNK AEEREEBEE TN ITIERM
NI(ERRE HMREIEM BhEMIHE-
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B4.

B5.

Labour Standards (Continued)

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
(Continued)

In case of any illegal labour practice discovered, the
Group will stop their employments immediately. An
investigation will be carried out subsequently and the
case will be reported to the relevant authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with child and
forced labour-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

Qur supply chain management incorporates
the principle of sustainability in every part of
the procurement process, including logistics,
sourcing, selection of materials, distribution and
inventory management. Our Group gives priority to
products and services which are environmentally
friendly and socially responsible. We regularly
evaluate our vendors based on their compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in relation to
safety, environmental protection, and other social
aspects. Regular assessments covering professional
qualification, service quality, financial status,
integrity, and legal compliance are conducted as
needed. When the result is not satisfactory, the
supplier will be removed from the approved supplier
list.

B %:I: = 7z

B4. %I&EIJ(,{%)
BLETRBEST(E)
—BBRBREMEEEITA $%.hi
B IFER - BEREETRE  YHOEH
PR E M -
RBERER - NEBRE Eﬂiki
R % I K8 4l 4 Immﬁiéﬁiﬁﬂ
WAREBEEREATE -

B5. HEHEEE
KM ESERESTRESRRAR
ARBRRENE @RS BEYR K

BOMHER SHEREREE - AKH
BEEERRIHUEEEENER LR
BoRMREHERELE  BRRIREM
HeTEHERERIERNETER
ERHHETHG - RMSRFELETE
HFE AT EREXRERE  RBE
ZMBRR - BERERERARML -
WA mEREER LA KRR
ERBERRE -
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)

B. &+ (%)
B5. HESEEE £)

Every supplier is required to comply with our code of
practice, which prohibits the offering of gifts, loans,
hospitality, services or favour in an improper manner.
In addition, the Group encourages our business
partners to adopt the best environmental and social
practices and to integrate sustainability into the core
business, through developing energy-saving and
consumption-reduction policies. For example:

° Reduce the use of virgin materials;

° Avoid single-use disposable items and replace
them with durable, reusable and/or recyclable
alternatives;

° Minimise the use of packaging;

° Adopt specifications for greater energy
efficiency, water efficiency and clean
technology; and

° Opt for recyclable toner and ink cartridges
and procure paper from responsibly-managed
forests, including post-consumer recycled
content as demonstrated through sustainability
certifications.

In the Wine Business, the Group acquires wine
products primarily through (i) purchases from wine
merchants and wineries, (ii) purchases through
auction houses, and (iii) purchases from individual
wine collectors.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B.
B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)
The number of suppliers by geographic region is as

%t = (&
B5. {,\@ﬁ"éﬁ({%)
ZwEESMEERHBENT

follows:

2024 2023
Geographical Region & 202445 20234
Hong Kong B 68 69
China s 4 -
United Kingdom HE 23 32
United States =35 3 7
Australia SEM - -
Europe M 16 21
Japan =[N 1 -
Others Hib - 4

B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmE{E

Maintaining high-quality standards within the BREERASIZIIINERFEAEZZE  #

MBEEFEETEN  ALEREE AR

Group is crucial, given the vulnerability of alcoholic

beverages to external environmental factors that
can significantly affect their integrity. To ensure
optimal conditions for wine storage, our self-operated
warehouses strictly adhere to the Fine Wine Storage
Management Systems Standard established by the
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (HKQAA).
These facilities are equipped with advanced
temperature and humidity control systems to uphold
an ideal storage environment.

To safeguard our wine products from potential
damage caused by heat and vibration, we have
taken proactive steps to enhance the infrastructure
of our warehouses. Insulation and anti-vibration
materials have been meticulously installed on both
the floors and ceilings, providing an additional layer of
protection.

RESEHEEZEEZWSE - BREHDD
BRERE S  RFMNEEEEREY
FESREIRE B HKQANG T B EE S
BEREERERIEE B LRERET
EEMRERREEH RS g
B R B -

RTRERMNBEEEREZRANLE
BEANBEERS  BMADKBEGREE
LADnog & B ey BB R e - FAAIEMIR R R
EREBLEETRGEMRDEYH - =H
BIMRE o
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

B. +2 (%)
B6. EREE (&)

If a power failure happens, our warehouse is
equipped with a reliable backup power system that
can autonomously sustain the temperature and
humidity control system for up to eight hours.

In addition to fulfilling stringent storage requirements,
our Group conducts meticulous inspections of
sample wine products and reviews photos of old
and valuable stock before placing orders with
wine merchants and wineries. Upon receiving the
products, we conduct thorough quality control
inspections to ensure compliance with our high
standards. We also adhere to the suppliers’ return
policy, which is in line with industry practices, to
protect consumer rights.

To facilitate customer satisfaction and address any
quality concerns, we offer the option for customers
to request returns or exchanges for wine products
with vintages below ten years and selling prices
below HK$1,000 per bottle. To initiate this process,
customers are required to present proof of purchase,
and upon verification of quality issues by our Group,
appropriate actions will be taken promptly.

If quality or food safety issues are identified
during the quality control inspection or reported
by customers, our management will recall the
affected products and implement timely remediation
measures. Furthermore, we conduct thorough
analyses of product recall incidents to identify their
root causes and prevent their recurrence. This
process allows us to continuously improve our
quality assurance practices and implement necessary
corrective actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
record any products sold or shipped that were
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Customer Satisfaction and Complaint
Management

Madison’s business philosophy revolves around
prioritising customer satisfaction and delivering
exceptional customer service. The Group’s
clientele primarily consists of local and overseas
wine merchants, passionate wine collectors in
Hong Kong and the PRC, renowned restaurants
in Hong Kong, and high net worth individuals.
With a focus on providing a convenient one-stop
shopping experience, the Group strives to offer a
diverse range of unique, high-quality products at
competitive and reasonable prices. To meet the
diverse needs of its customers, the Group extends
a comprehensive range of services, including wine
consultation, sourcing, delivery, storage, evaluation,
and consignment services. In recognition of its
commitment to excellent customer service, the
Group has received certification under the Quality
Tourism Services Scheme issued by the Hong Kong
Tourism Board. Feedback and complaints from
customers hold significant value for the Group as they
contribute to its continuous development. The Group
has established dedicated procedures for handling
feedback and complaints, which are thoroughly
discussed and reviewed by the management during
regular meetings. This proactive approach enables
the identification of areas for improvement, ensuring
that appropriate corrective actions are promptly
implemented to prevent recurrence.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any incidents of non-compliance with related
laws and regulations concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

B.

HeEm)

B6.

EmEEE)
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6.

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Data Privacy Protection

The Group prioritises delivering quality service
and ensuring a positive customer experience
through standardised service quality management.
To minimise customer complaints and potential
adverse consequences like product recalls, our
sales executives maintain close communication
with customers from the ordering stage through
delivery. We have established procedures to handle
customer feedback and complaints professionally.
Our sales executives promptly address inquiries and
complaints, aiming to understand the root causes
and identify areas for improvement.

In addition to complaint management, the Group
places great importance on protecting customer
privacy. We are committed to treating customers’
personal data with the utmost confidentiality. Strict
policies governing the collection and use of customer
data are documented in the Employee Handbook.
Our employees, regardless of their employment
status at the time, are prohibited from disclosing or
exploiting any confidential information or customer
data. Any employee found to have unauthorisedly
shared confidential information with third parties will
face disciplinary action.
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &+ & (&
B6. Product Responsibility (Continued) B6. Enu;{f(ﬁ%)

Advertising and Labelling EERER

Madison recognises the serious implications of akﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁi* B &ﬁ*ﬁii)\i
improper information dissemination and the sale 5 E/@#QEDDE’JFE TE - ERBEMEA
of alcoholic products to minors. As part of our EEHERENEAZEN—ZD R &
commitment to responsible alcohol sales, we have {’Eﬂq?:_'%;? B BABRMEIEAFEmIS
developed informative posters that emphasise our BATHEBENBREKE - SLERE
strict policy of only selling alcohol to individuals HMMEBERERE TRHEYRIEE w7
who are 18 years of age or older. These posters BT ERERLEREAETHRET
serve as a visual reminder to our customers and BHEGE  BRMIEETERH IERAARREE
staff, reinforcing our dedication to upholding RBFBRATHEE REERZE - WHER
legal requirements and promoting responsible EEMEARNERKE - RPN T EME RS
drinking practices. We place utmost importance BTEACERHABENNRTE  RES
on preventing the sale and supply of intoxicating EEHRME -

liquor to individuals under the legal drinking age, as
well as ensuring the accuracy of our promotional
materials. Our promotional materials strictly adhere
to the regulations outlined in the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance of Hong Kong, maintaining a high level of

compliance.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Dutiable AN - BRI E B (2018 F EREF M (1B3T)
Commodities (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 of Hong &) HEaFEEKEERERERAESH
Kong, Madison is obligated to prominently display a REEZFHBN ZBNENRTES
sign containing both Chinese and English versions ERRTE  UHERERE -

of the prescribed notice. This notice informs the
public about the relevant legal requirements and is
positioned in a highly visible location.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6.

B7.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Intellectual Property (“IP”) Rights

The Group maintains a vigilant approach towards
monitoring and managing its intangible intellectual
property (IP) rights, while implementing robust anti-
counterfeiting measures. To safeguard its IP assets,
the Group has obtained trademark registrations in
Hong Kong, ensuring legal protection for its brands.
Furthermore, Madison has proactively registered its
domain name, reinforced its online presence and
protected its digital identity.

In line with its commitment to IP rights protection,
the Group strictly prohibits employees from installing
unauthorised or illegal computer software and
applications. This policy is enforced to ensure the
observance and protection of IP rights throughout the
organisation.

Anti-Corruption

The Board sets a tone of zero tolerance towards
fraud and corruption. The Group’s Employee
Handbook states guidelines that require employees
to comply with all applicable rules on conflicts of
interest, insider dealing, anti-competition and anti-
corruption. It demands strict adherence from every
employee to applicable laws, rules, and regulations in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The Anti-corruption Policy provides guidance for
employees on recognising and avoiding unethical
behaviour in a range of business contexts, including
procurement of goods and services, accepting and
offering corporate gifts or hospitality, and making
political or charitable contributions. Any solicitation
or acceptance of an advantage, bribery, extortion,
fraud, or money laundering are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was unaware
of any material non-compliance with related laws
and regulations regarding bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering that would have a significant
impact on the Group. No concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or its employees during the Year.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B7. Anti-Corruption (Continued)

B. € (&)
B7. RES(#)

Anti-Corruption Training

The Group places a strong emphasis on ensuring
adherence to its governance policies, and to achieve
this, comprehensive training programs are provided
to employees. As part of the induction process, new
employees receive training specifically tailored to
familiarise them with the Group’s governance policies
and principles.

The Group’s director and staff have received
comprehensive anti-corruption trainings. The
directors underwent anti-corruption training provided
by the ICAC, while both directors and staff received
training on professional ethics and legal practice.
During the Reporting Period, each participant
dedicated approximately 1.9 hours to these
training sessions, ensuring a focused and thorough
understanding of anti-corruption measures, ethical
practices, and legal frameworks.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group encourages its employees and other
stakeholders, including customers and suppliers,
to raise concerns about suspected improprieties,
misconduct, or malpractice. A confidential channel is
in place for employees and stakeholders to report any
suspected incidents.

Following the guidelines outlined in the
Whistleblowing Policy, the Group treats every
reported incident with the utmost confidentiality and
ensures that whistleblowers are protected from unfair
dismissal, victimisation, or unwarranted disciplinary
action. Incidents related to fraud and corruption will
be thoroughly investigated.

R&E 553
AEEFFERHRETEERREK - X
BEREERHEZEBEIGFE - ER/AR
B - - HEITHEXEFEPHEI
AABAEENERBR KRR -

AEENEZRETITHERXEZENRE
SEH c EEEEXBRBEAZRHENRE
AEH - MEFREIHEERIEXRER
FEREREI - RBEHRAR - B2
MEGRAL.9 N2 EEHIRE - R
HRESHE BREANEIZERES
RREBRT AR

FHEEK
AEEZBMETIREMHNE(BREEPRK
HEBRAIRNTHRITR  TETRIE
BOTRARLRE -BEIRFBOHEAMBBER
BREBREMAIRENS -

RESEHBEPIHLNES - AKEHE
—EBHREHHLSEBRT  LEFRER
ARERE TEEBEXTRAFHE BF
X TEENCEED - BRFLRESER
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B. SOCIAL (continued) B. &+ & (&
B8. Community Investment BS. &E?ﬁfﬁ
Madison engages in community investment initiatives BHHRLEMEREFHEREMETLAE
as part of our commitment to social responsibility EXRELERERBEENAEN—LHD
and making a positive impact. Community investment HEBEREZBHEDZ  FHRMENAEEERN

is crucial because it allows us to contribute to the
well-being and development of the communities
in which we operate. During the Reporting Period,
Madison actively engaged in community investment
initiatives in Hong Kong and PRC. Specifically, our
Group participated in the “Harriman x Christian
Action New Year Recycle Programme” and the “Food
Collection Programme” by Food Angel in Hong Kong.
In the PRC, we contributed to the clothing donation
campaign, demonstrating our commitment to making
a positive impact and supporting those in need
across different communities.

In the “Harriman x Christian Action New Year Recycle
Programme”, Madison recognises the importance of
embracing the Chinese New Year tradition of spring
cleaning. This Programme not only promotes tidiness
but also encourages the community to consider the
value of their unwanted items. By donating clothes,
accessories, toys, shoes, bags, and electronic
devices, Madison contributes to the welfare of
underprivileged individuals, ensuring that these items
find new purpose and bring joy to those in need.

Through our participation in the “Food Collection
Programme” by Food Angel, we raised our
employees’ awareness of food waste and scarcity. By
donating surplus food, Madison helps bridge the gap
between food resources and individuals struggling to
meet their nutritional needs. This program ensures
that edible food is redistributed to those who need
it the most, minimising waste and making a positive
impact on food security in the community.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B8. Community Investment (Continued)

B. € (&)
BS8. HERE (&)

Our Group collaborated with the Beluga “Hfz&”
organisation in Chongging to organise a community
activity focused on used clothing donation. This
collaborative effort aims to bring warmth and
support to those in need. By joining forces with
the Beluga organisation, our Group is dedicated to
making a positive impact and spreading compassion
throughout the community. Together, we encourage
Group’s employees to donate their gently used
clothing items, which will be distributed to individuals
and families facing challenging circumstances.
Through this collaboration, we hope to send a
message of care and solidarity to those in need
while fostering a sense of unity and community
engagement.

AWARD

The Group’s subsidiary, Run Tong Credit (Liangjiang
District Chongaqing) Co., Ltd. (EE ™M I ¥ &8
B/NEERBEMRAA), has been bestowed with a
prestigious award from the Chongging Municipal
Tax Service, State Taxation Administration for being
recognised as an A-level taxpaying enterprise (A
BANFR %), This achievement is a testament to
the commitment and diligence displayed by every
member of our Group. We have consistently fulfilled
our tax obligations with utmost integrity, contributing
to the growth and development of the local
economy. This recognition not only highlights our
Group’s financial responsibility but also serves as a
testament to our strong ethical values and dedication
to corporate citizenship. We extend our heartfelt
gratitude to the Chongqging Municipal Tax Service,
and State Taxation Administration for acknowledging
our efforts and their continuous support.

AEBREEN ARAJESEE  EE
—RNEXRBEREHNLEREE - LA
BEEEREFTEALHEREBRMFE -
BAEAKRAMABANE  AKERNIRNE
BEEdTRELEESZELFEREDL - B
ZRASEETHREACHNERY  B&
KB D EREREROEARRE - &
MELBABERAE RAETEALRE
MEMBENER REEEE&ENMTR
SEMER -
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AEENOMBLAREETM/INERR
NEERBRAFAKEBRRBRBARE
EmHERREN ABRMAREE IKER
BeoEm KR BRARNEE BN S KA
MBH - BPBEARERENEERT
MBEY  BEABEENERREREN
BR - E-RETEYEAKRENUBE
T TEARMBENEREEBENY D
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MAJOR APPLICABLE LAWS AND FTEBREERAH
REGULATIONS

Aspect Main Applicable Laws and Regulations

& TEEREERRH

Environment ° The Hong Kong Waste Disposal Ordinance

RIR (EEBREYMERE RN )

The Water Pollution Control Ordinance

K7 28 Hil 151D

Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKEMBIRFREE)

The Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic of
China

(pE ARKEMBARISEMEE)

Employment and Labour
Standards
BNk s TR

Employment Ordinance

ClE 1R 151 )

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance

o MR B S 5T ENE DD

The Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKMBESEE)

The Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKEMBELEE RE)

The Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKEMBIT SREE)

Health and Safety
fEEET P

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

CBE 2 2 AR ERIRBI)

Law on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s
Republic of China

(RE AR KB ERDRE)

Product Responsibility
EmAE

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

CE A E K (RLER ) 164651 )

Trade Descriptions Ordinance

CEREAE YN

Copyright Ordinance

Chi 4 16651 )

Law on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the People’s Republic of
China

(REARKMBEEEERRREE)

The Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKMBEFEFE)

The Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FEARAMBEEREEE)

The Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKMBESEE)

Anti-corruption
k&5

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

By L Bl BE AR 51 )

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing Ordinance
GTERBERRM D FESBRER)

The Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China

(R AR HEFEE)

The Company Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKMBERGE)
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK

EXCHANGE ESG REPO

R &

RTING GUIDE

_::‘*j:

ERERBER

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

Description

1

Section/Declaration

-1

FTEHER BEH —REER

ERERER

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1: BT

General Disclosure

Information on:

Emissions Control

BB 4E IR IRAT A

data.

BEm R R MRRE P I EUE -

— e E (a) the policies; and P
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
ERABERIAZEREBER  AKREIMOEES - A
ELEEBREVNELESTH
(a) BE: Rk
b) BTFTHBETABEATENHEBEERRH
HE R
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions | Emissions — Air Emissions

PRI — BE R BRI

KPI A1.2
BRI IERAL 2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.
BEE(BE1)REREZ(EE2)RE=
(ABEEHE) R (@A) EE °

REHEBE

Emissions —
GHG Emissions
BERU — R E RS HER

KPI A1.3
a4 48 WUEIEA1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.
FMELEEEEEYRE(UHEAFEIRTE -

Emissions -
Waste Management

B —EEYERE

KPI A1.4
BB BUIERA1 .4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.
FTEEEEREEVRE (LA EIRTE -

Emissions -
Waste Management

B —BEEME R

KPI A1.5
FARAAMIERALS

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HATEI VM E BB E R AERELE
B 2B o

1% P EREX

Emissions

BEm)

FMHREREESRAT F:mo02324 117
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE
(Continued)

BMIXFN(RE HEREARABERE
SI)RBESI xR (&)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

PB4 IR IRA1.6

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.
HMEEEERBEEEREVN L  BAOERB KM
MSHIK R °

TEHE EBEH - —MREER Description Section/Declaration
BEREMIER it =3:0 1]
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous | Emissions —

Waste Management

Ry —EEMEE

EEA2: ERER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure

— R E

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BREAER(BERR  KEREMRME) K

A

;ﬁo

Use of Resources
BIREM

KPI A2.1
BSR4 IR 1R A2, 1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
in total and intensity.

REAESNEER KEEREREREREE -

Use of Resources —
Energy Management

BIRERA—EREE

KPI A2.2
BB AR IR IRA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREKERETE -

Use of Resources -
Water Management
BRFEA-KIREE

KPI A2.3
FAS AR IR 1RA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.
3t B R A R R B e S PR ER IS BRI B R ©

Use of Resources —
Energy Management
BIRfER— =g

KPI A2.4
FEAAMIERA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

i st SR EGE R /KR ERI BRI R - B KB R
HSHI R °

Use of Resources —
Water Management
BRFEA-—KIREE

KPI A2.5
BB AR IR 1RA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced.
BRMTAEEMMNEE(UBAE)REBEES
ffEE o

Use of Resources — Use of

Packaging Materials

BRER-SRMENER
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wEE

R #HERERBRE
CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK B %
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE 5I) AR R & (#)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

RREMER

General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER -BE - —KREER

Description

Section/Declaration

E4: 0 1.l

BEA3: BERAXRER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant

The Environment and

FA 2 48 IR 1R A3

on the environment and natural resources and the

actions taken to manage them.

? L%?‘/EEMI&%&%%QA?EGEK CERBR
EREEXENTY -

—BWE impact on the environment and natural resources. Natural Resources
BEZBTAHRRERRABRENBEAXZEZNR | RERRAREBR
= o

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities | The Environment and

Natural Resources —
Indoor Air Quality
RERRKAER-EANZE
REE

BEA4: RIZE1L

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure

—RWE

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
%&%U&EE%#E%@&T@EQ%T%&GAF% CEMERN
RIREEEENHBR

Climate Change — Physical
Risks and Transition Risks
R t—EERERLE
AU 2 fg

KPI A4.1
B B4R IR 1R AL 1

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
Mt E AR EHBITAEETENERNRIKRE
HEEH  REHTH -

Climate Change — Physical
Risks and Transition Risks
REESE(—FRERRKE
i}gﬂ /\/\
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R #HE8kELAHRE

CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE
(Continued)

BTN (ERE HEREABRERE
SI)RBESI xR (&)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE E@ - —MBREER Description Section/Declaration
BREENRIERZ Ha =W BH

Aspect B1: Employment

EBEB1: EE

General Disclosure Information on:

— MR E (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BERFMk@E BEREST  TERE - RE -

TE#e  Zolt RESUREMERRER

7y -

(@ B%E: &k

b) BIFHBITABERFZEMNEBEERAN
BB R -

Employment — Recruitment,
Promotion and

Dismissal, Compensation
and Benefits, Equal
Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-Discrimination and
Employee Communication
Channels

BIE—BE S KEE:
MERTE: TE#HE - %
b RRIER  BEBE®
RE

KPI B1.1
BB AR IR 1R B 1

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

RIER - ERER  FRAMNRMWEZSHNESR
g o

Employment — Employee
Communication Channels
EBE—EERBEE

KPI B1.2
BASAE WUIERB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

mIER - FEARN RIEEBSHERRKRLE -

Employment — Employee
Communication Channels
EBE—EEBBERE
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BXN(RE HEREABREE
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SI)RBESI KR (&)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TEHE EBEH - —REER Description Section/Declaration
BEREMIEE it =3:0 1

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: @RERE

General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
—BWE (@) the policies; and EERZLT S

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BRRHZE2TEREMRERBELBEERE

By

(a) HE: R

(b) BIFHBETABERTZENEBEERLAN

BB RS -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
B A& M 1EB2.1 ETTHeAS R E - fRRERTE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BB IRIEB2.2 EITHEAIEBS - RRERZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | Health and Safety
B854 M FE1EB2.3 measures adopted, and how they are implemented | {& EH % 2

and monitored.
HMFTER AR B R R 2 21006 - A R EHT
MEERFE o
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

(Continued)

BMIXFN(RE HEREARABERE
SI)RBESI xR (&)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
FEHEE BH —REER
BREENRIERZ

Description

Section/Declaration

E4: 1 3.l

FEEBS3 : /R KRIE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and

Development and Training

Bl 52 48 IR 12 B3. 1

and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).
U REEEN(INESREREE  HREEE)E
STHZINEEBL ©

— R E skills for discharging duties at work. Description of | 2% & K& 57
training activities.
FARAREBRTIEBREN AN RRENBE -
A EIES o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender | Development and Training

R R

KPI B3.2
B SR MIE1RB3.2

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
RUEMNMKEEERE S  BEEETAXIINFH
8 o

Development and Training
R RE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : % T %8|

General Disclosure

Information on:

Labour Standards

B 5248 IR 1R B4.1

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
Ml REENNEEABREE T RAEHLT -

— AR ER (a) the policies; and & T B
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
EEMIEETH®EGE T -
(a) B%E: &k
b) BTFTHBETABEATENHEBEEZRRM
HE R o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Labour Standards

T AR

KPI B4.2
RS A IERB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

MO EZERERBASHREAB A ARG T
,%%\ o

Labour Standards
4 TR
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK BIXFN(RE HERERABKER
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SIYRB RS F (&)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

FTEHE  E@ - —MBREER Description Section/Declaration
BREEANREE i -1/

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS5 : itpESEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social | Supply Chain Management

— R E risks of the supply chain. HEEEIE
EREEENRE R RBRBUR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

B 5245 1% B5.1 miEEONHERHE - HrEEER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | Supply Chain Management

RASR 4B IR IEB5.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices | f i §# & I8

are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

M BB RHERNED  mERTEHEENN
HERHEE  ARBBERITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Supply Chain Management
852 42 NP5 12 B5.3 environmental and social risks along the supply | £ fE §# & 18

chain, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

W ARRAHEREERANRE KL SRR
BH - ARBEBERITRERTIL -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Supply Chain Management
RAIR B WIEIEB5.4 environmentally preferable products and services | & $# & 18

when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Ml EREHRERRERESZARRE M MREHIE
Bl - ARMEBERITRERT L -
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EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE 5I) AR R & (#)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

AREMER

General Disclosures and KPIs

TEER -BE - —REER

Description

Section/Declaration

E4: 1 3.l

EEB6 : EmEIE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure

Information on:

Product Responsibility

B 52 45 IR 152 B6. 1

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EENCDEXERBAYPRT 2 HERIEAMAD
W BH DL -

— MR E (a) the policies; and EmAT
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.
FHMREEERNRBENEREZSY  BS  RH®
RILBEEIARER T AN
(@ HE: &
b) BETFTHBETABERZEBNHEBEERKRAN
BB o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped | Product Responsibility —

Customer Satisfaction and
Compliant Management
EnEf-EFPREER
KR E IR

KPI B6.2
S AE WUIE1RB6.2

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BREBREMIRBHIRFEE AR EL X -

Product Responsibility —
Customer Satisfaction and
Compliant Management
EmEE-EPMEER
R E IR

KPI B6.3
FASE AR WUIE1RB6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

W R E N RENBREERBOED -

Product Responsibility —
Intellectual Property Rights
EmEE-—MBER

KPI B6.4
BB AR WUIE1RB6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

i EEmEBiERERLKERF -

Product Responsibility
EmET

KPI B6.5
BB AR WUIE1RB6.5

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

R B EEERRERALBEE - UREARITR
BERAIE -

Product Responsibility —
Protection of Customers’
Privacy

ERET—XFLERE

] 24 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HEkELAHRE

RERKEE
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EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE SIYRB RS F (&)

(Continued)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE - EHE - —BEER Description
BRENEE 0t

Section/Declaration

E4: 0 1.l

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: RES

General Disclosure Information on:

Anti-corruption

B8 5248 IR 12 BT .1 corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERAABETASIHEEREVECELENES
FARHHEE RFRER -

—BWE (@) the policies; and k&S
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
ERAMIEHE R HFEREBEN
(@) BX: &
b) BTHETABEATENHEBAEENLRM
B &R
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding | Anti-corruption

R&ES

KPI B7.2
B AR IERBT.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R &SRB REF  ARBEERITRERA
& e

Anti-corruption —
Whistleblowing Policy
RES —BHBBE

KPI B7.3
BASAE WUIE1RBT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
HaAmESERETRHEORESHEI -

Anti-corruption — Anti-
Corruption Training
RER-REFHEI

HHEKREREEBRAT F3#2023/24
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(Continued)

RERKEE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE E@ - —MBREER Description Section/Declaration
BRENIEE i - 1:I

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHB8 : HtERE

operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
FENTEZ2ERTREEMECHEFTENBERA
¥BEHEEEMEFENBE -

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand | Community Investment
— R E the needs of the communities where the issuer | LR & &

culture, sport).
EIERER(NHE BEFH SITFR &
Bk #8F) -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, | Community Investment
B8 82 4B WIE 12 B8.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, | &% &

EEIRBAHAER(MEEXKHE)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the | Community Investment
B8 52 4E 512 B8.2 focus area. ftEIEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VI =

Gr
Taamk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MADISON HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 134 to 279, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
THE GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$17,790,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024. In addition, as at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$34,435,000,
while its amount due to a shareholder, loan from a non-
controlling shareholder and borrowings, totaling amounted
to approximately HK$208,012,000 which will be matured
within the coming twelve months from 31 March 2024. These
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Recoverability and impairment assessment of loan
and interest receivables

B R A S WK IR KB B RR R R

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 173 to 178.

The key audit matter
HRETEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s loan and interest
receivables amounted to approximately HK$264,709,000,
net of loss allowance of approximately HK$22,521,000.
HZE2024F3HA31H - ESBEMNEKEREIERIEF
#E#) /5264,709,0007% 7T + R £V22,521,000% T oI B &
B -

The measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”)
requires the application of significant judgement and
increased complexity which include the identification
of exposures with a significant deterioration in credit
quality, and assumptions used in the ECL models, such
as the expected future cash flows and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors.
EHEEBR(AUMFEBR ) NISFTEREAEAHE
MBMEREY  BEIFEREERERLHOHMO - A
REBEHREEBEENPERORE  HINBEHRKES
MEBMATEMNZELERE -

We consider the impairment assessment of these
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance
of these receivables (representing 75% of total assets)
and the subjective nature of the calculation because the
estimates on which these provisions are based entail a
significant degree of management judgement and may be
subject to management bias.

BB RELREREN BB EEEEZNETFE
RELEFENSEM(HREENTS% )M EN TN -
AAELBEMERNMEGT I REZNEIR 2B - WA s

REEERANTE -

BAREFTEE &)

BRMG AP B RRWT24MEA7IE178E MG HEUR ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMERSFPNMERLESE

We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model input, model design and
model performance. We assessed the reasonableness of
the Group’s staging criteria for assessing if there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis.
BAFET ESEENRHCEESBERANSGEL - BFEER
WA HERETARR LR c BHMFAE T EXEFGEEARA
RELAEBREEMNYPRENSIELE  KMATREEIAE
HEEERIEcREENEE -

We assessed whether historical experience is representative
of current circumstances and of the recent losses incurred in
the portfolios and assessed the reasonableness of forward-
looking adjustments including the impact parameters,
regression specification and way of application.
BMTRTREECBREERREANBERARKEASTHANE
Ko WAl TAIMEHAENSBEREFEL2Y - @EREN
i

For input parameters applied, we reviewed their reliability and
accuracy by checking to the source of data independently.
HRMERNBAZE - BMERB I REERRRRESH
A SE VR A EREE o

We checked the calculation of the Group’s ECL by reviewing
the calculation worksheets.
BMERAEEHEIERRRE

H o
7t

BEREEHERBRNE

For a sample of exposures that was subject to an individual
impairment assessment, we specifically reviewed the
Group’s assumptions on the expected future cash flows,
including the value of realisable collateral based on available
market information.

HR—ELBEBBEF AR AR - HFSHIEET &
SEHBEMRKBERENRRE - BREERNTATSEENE
REREE-
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion,
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, active taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung

Practising Certificate Number: PO7806

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeEakHEtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

Revenue
— sales of alcoholic beverages
— loan financing services

Cost of operations
— cost of alcoholic beverages

Other income
Staff costs
Depreciation
Administrative and
other operating expenses
Net impairment recognised on loan and
interest receivables
Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”)
Change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments
Finance costs

(Loss) profit before tax
Income tax credit (expense)

Loss for the year
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2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
21,921 39,896
46,166 57,278
68,087 97,174
(16,544) (30,781)
15,031 20,144
(31,662) (33,388)
(4,179) (5,197)
(8,563) (12,345)
(29,775) (19,902)
664 713
660 13,638
(13,481) (20,569)
(19,762) 9,487
1,972 (10,914)
(17,790) (1,427)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeEakHEtE2ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: AR ALTEEFAERE
— Owners of the Company S N/NEIEZZ =N (16,217) (2,211)
- Non-controlling interests —JEIE IR R A (1,573) 784
(17,790) (1,427)
Loss per share (HK cents) FRERCGEW) 16
Basic AR (2.60) (0.395)
Diluted e (2.60) (0.35)
Loss for the year FREE (17,790) (1,427)
Other comprehensive expense Htt2MmEBI X
Item that may be reclassified BE1E ] BEEFT 7 4EF)
subsequently to profit or loss: EmIHE -
- Exchange differences arising from —MEBINEBEELZ
translation of foreign operations FE X ZE% (18,499) (25,267)
(18,499) (25,267)
Total comprehensive expense for the year & N2 [ X 85 (36,289) (26,694)
Total comprehensive expense LTATEEFAZE
for the year attributable to: F X 4258
- Owners of the Company S VYNEIE T =N (26,457) (15,945)
- Non-controlling interests — JEIERR R = (9,832) (10,749)
(36,289) (26,694)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BB AR AR

As at 31 March 2024

R2024F3H31H
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
bt &t FET FAET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Plant and equipment %= K&k 17 672 1,058
Loan receivables FE W E X 24 28,854 29,456
Deposits e 25 701 3,135
Intangible assets A E 19 1,280 1,280
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 5,465 7,932
Finance lease receivables BhE & e W FIE 20 - 2,232
Deferred tax asset ELEFIEE E 21 5,596 4,116
Goodwill EES 22 9,028 9,028
51,596 58,237
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 23 7,157 8,210
Finance lease receivables ARG EWKIE 20 2,100 8,422
Loan and interest receivables EWE LA E 24 235,855 257,398
Trade and other receivables B NEmEKRE 25 19,367 26,810
Amounts due from associates FE U B 22N B I8 26 298 290
Bank balances and cash SRITEHREE S 28 34,435 72,911
299,212 374,041
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade and other payables B 5k HMENFRIE 30 12,729 19,301
Lease liabilities HEaflE 20 4,937 9,954
Contract liabilities aHaE 29 3,713 7,053
Amount due to a shareholder FEfRf— Z IR I 27 107,366 110,525
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder & 5 — % JE#E AR IR &R
ZERK 31 75,654 80,838
Borrowings [EEN 32 24,992 39,992
Tax payable FE R 18 6,044 9,068
Derivative financial instruments TESMTA 34 29 9
235,464 276,740

] 36 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B RS IR R &

As at 31 March 2024

R2024F3H31H
2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
e FAETT FEIT
Net current assets MEEEFE 63,748 97,301
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERRDEE 115,344 155,538
Capital and reserves EARMBFEHES
Share capital B& 2 35 6,231 6,231
Reserves 1 (45,106) (18,649)
Equity attributable to owners KAREB AE(hH#ER
of the Company (38,875) (12,418)
Non-controlling interests FE15 AR 2 152,159 161,991
Total equity M B R 113,284 149,573
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Deferred tax liability EEHRBEAGE 21 422 864
Lease liabilities HEAE 20 1,638 5,101
2,060 5,965
115,344 155,538

The consolidated financial statements on pages 134 to 279 were £ 134 E 2798 2 G A MM FE R 2024F 6 427 H &
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  ZEEe# FREEEITIHRUNTEERAERE
27 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ji Zuguang Kuo Kwan
FT4E % E
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Y EY L E:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARRREAEE
Convertible
bonds -
Share equity Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options  conversion  Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
TARES-
Ra  ROEE  RHEE  RARE  AKER BRESE BEREREE  BERRE  ERER  2iER @i FERER #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE7 TET iz fEr FiEr T FEr Tz TE7 TEr TET fE7 fEr
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
(Kita) (Kib) (Kite) (Kitd)
Asat 1 April 2023 R2023% 481 6,231 1,311,985 20,047 (90,894) (598,127) 20,189 - (13,279) 6,643 (684,213) (12,418) 161,991 149,573
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - - (6217 (16,217) (1518 (17,190
Other comprehensive expense for the year. EREMZARS
- Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ —BEGS £ BEL 2 ELES
foreign operations - - - - - - - (10,240) - - (10,240) (8,259) (18,499)
Loss for the year and other comprehensive FRABERENEDZERS
expense for the year - - - - - - - (10,240) - (16,217) (26,457) (9,832) (36,289)
Lapse of share option BREXH - - - - - (2,259) - - - 2,259 - - -
Appropriation to statutory reserve funds EERBEIIR - - - = = = = = 208 (228) - - -
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3A318 6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (598,127) 17,930 - (23,519) 6,871 (698,399) (38,875) 152,159 113,284
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRAEEARE
Convertible
bonds -
Share equity Non-
Share Share Other Capital Merger options  conversion  Translation Statutory ~ Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
TARER-
i RiEE o st AHRE  BRERE ERELEE BERE hya:1 ] ZitBE @it FohEsR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FiEr T Tz Az FET T T T T i T Tz
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Ki#ta) (Wito) (Wite) (Hta)
Asat1 April 2022 R2002%4R18 6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (698,127) 21,185 174,782 485 5,228 (856,335) 3,621 172,740 176,267
(Loss) profit for the year ER(] - - - - - - - - - 211) 211) 784 (1427)
Other comprehensive expense for the year: FREMZART
- Exchange differences arising on ranslation of -~ B EENEREL ZEHEE
foreign operations - - - - - - - (13,734) - - (13,734) (11,833) (25,267)
Loss for the year and other comprehensive FREERFNAMRER
expense for the year - - - - - - - (13,734) - (2.211) (15,945) (10,749) (26,694)
Lapse of share option BREXK - - - - - (966) - - - 966 - - -
Release of convertiole bonds - equity conversion £ foi& NEBDTRRES
reserve upon expiration of the option (Note 33) Bt (h233) - - - - = - (174,782) - - 174,782 - - -
Appropriation to statutory reserve funds EERES AR = = = = = = = = 1,415 (1415) = = =
As at 31 March 2023 12023%3A31R 6,231 1,311,985 29,047 (90,894) (598,127) 20,189 = (13,279) 6,643 (684,213) (12,418) 161,991 149,573
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VAN
=

== N\ /7
/\ nl:lln

& Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

Notes:

(a)

The other reserve was arisen from the transfer of the entire issued
share capital and shareholder loan in Madison Wine (HK) Company
Limited to Madison International Wine Company Limited upon
reorganisation.

The capital reserve was mainly arisen from the changes in
ownership interests in subsidiaries without loss of control,
common control combination, deemed contribution from a related
company and the issue of put option.

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
acquisitions of subsidiaries under common control and
represented the difference between the consideration paid for
the acquisition and the carrying amount of the net asset of
the subsidiaries at the date when the Group and the acquired
subsidiaries became under common control.

On 18 May 2018, an amount of approximately HK$76,213,000
had been capitalised into the share capital of Bartha International
Limited, a then subsidiary which adopt merger accounting for
common control combination. As a result, HK$33,363,000 and
HK$42,850,000 were recognised in merger reserve and non-
controlling interests respectively.

In accordance with the relevant regulations applicable in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), companies established
in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their statutory
annual profits after tax in accordance with the relevant statutory
rules and regulations applicable to enterprises in the PRC to the
statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the statutory reserve
may be used to offset against accumulated losses of the
respective PRC companies. The amount of the transfer is subject
to the approval of the board of the directors of the respective PRC
companies.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FMERETMER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax (credit) expense
Bank interest income
Government grants
Depreciation
Net gain on disposals and written-off
of plant and equipment
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Amounts written-off as uncollectible on
other receivables
Net impairment loss recognised on loan
and interest receivables
Net exchange gain

Interest income from consideration receivable
Interest income from finance lease receivables

Gain on deemed disposal of right-of-use
assets

Finance costs

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss on early termination of sublease
arrangements

Change in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
Decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in loan and
interest receivables
Decrease (increase) in trade and
other receivables and deposits
Decrease in trade and other payables
Decrease in contract liabilities
Net decrease in financial assets at FVTPL

Cash (used in) from operations
Income tax paid
Withholding tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

1R EE

FRER

FATIEE AR :
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2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(17,790) (1,427)
(1,972) 10,914
(127) (59)

= (760)

4,179 5,197

- (534)

(660) (13,638)

= 2,543
29,775 19,902
(10,567) (9,814)
= (510)

(222) (1,270)
(353) (2,519)
13,481 20,569
= (1,253)

253 =
(664) (713)
15,333 26,628
1,053 5,806
(23,804) 29,618
8,851 (10,900)
(5,577) (12,268)
(3,340) (5,481)
664 713
(6,820) 34,116
(560) (934)
(2,076) (2,369)
(9,456) 30,813




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Purchases of plant and equipment BEWEKEE (129) (139)
Proceeds from disposals of plant and HEMERLEZEERAY
equipment FT8 3 - 769
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HEWB AT 2R R L F5E - ()
Advance to associates SEENE: /NI E= | (8) (17)
Bank interest received EUERITHIE 127 59
Receipt of finance lease receivables WEIFERE }fuﬁl KIE 9,572 8,626
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEMSRE ¥R 9,562 9,299
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
Interest paid =ENEAES) (7,276) (5,143)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE (11,397) (11,572)
Repayment of borrowings BEER (15,000) (5,000)
Repayment to a shareholder M — &R EIE K (3,159) (2,069)
Government grants received B W AT 4 BE = 760
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®E & EE AT IR & %58 (36,832) (23,024)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASHAND  R& RIS ZEW R4 )Emn
CASH EQUIVALENTS F (36,726) 17,088
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUReRREFEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 72,911 49,738
Effect of changes in exchange rate [ERBEFH 7 FE (1,750) 6,085
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERBEREET R
END OF THE YEAR, REEEY  RITEHRZ
represented by bank balances and cash bR 34,435 72,911

TEFRERPHLHMEIT -

=113

Please refer to note 37 for details of major non-cash
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

GENERAL

Madison Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands (“Cayman”) under
the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman as an exempted
company with limited liability on 15 April 2015 and its
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 October
2015. Royal Spectrum Holding Company Limited (“Royal
Spectrum”), which is a company incorporated in the
Republic of Seychelles (“Seychelles”) and is beneficially
interested in approximately 31.44% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and Mr Ting
Pang Wan Raymond (“Mr. Ting”), which is aggregately
interested in approximately 41.58% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024 and has
control over Royal Spectrum, are controlling shareholders
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its major
operating subsidiaries are mainly engaged in sales of
alcoholic beverages, the provision of financial services and
the provision of loan financing services.

The functional currency of the Company and the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) while that of the subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are Renminbi
(“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the financial
statements, the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$17,790,000. In addition,
as at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately HK$34,435,000
while its amount due to a shareholder, loan from a non-
controlling shareholder and borrowings, totaling amounted
to approximately HK$208,012,000 which will be matured
within the coming twelve months from 31 March 2024.
The Group’s ability to meet these liquidity requirements
depends on its ability to generate sufficient net cash
inflows from future operations and/or other sources. These
facts and circumstances indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. Taking into account the Group’s cash
flow projection, including:

- The holder of amount due to a shareholder had
agreed not to demand for repayment of the
outstanding balances due from the Group until such
time the Group has the financial ability to repay
without impairing its liquidity position;

- Implementing various strategies to improve the cash
flow status, such as managing the loan receivable
portfolio and various investments; and

- Putting extra efforts on the collection of trade debtors
to improve the debtors turnover days.

GAMBRENFEHEE

REBRE E2024F3A31H L FEHEFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e mERME
For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs, issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) where are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning on 1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and February
2022 amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to Hong Kong Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Accounting Standards
("HKAS”) 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES HEETENE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments”)’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments)’
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements’
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HK Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of financial

statements — Classification by
the borrower of a term loan that
contains a repayment on demand
clause’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these amendments to existing standards,
new standards and new interpretation in the period of initial
application. In addition to the above, there are a number
of minor amendments to HKAS/HKFRS under the annual
improvement project of HKICPA. The Group has analysed
these amendments and these amendments are not likely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EREBHHBEAE

INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal (or most
advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value-in-use in
HKAS 36.
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NOTES HEETENE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at
fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective
fair value measurement.

The material accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. If
a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments
are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements in
preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the Group’s accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability
to use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the Group’s returns. When the Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an investee, power over the
investee may be obtained through: (i) size of the Group’s
holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from
other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group’s voting
rights and potential voting rights; (iv) any additional facts
and circumstances that indicate that the Group has the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decision need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholdings’ meeting; or (v) a combination of
the above, based on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
entities of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred
to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the
business combination are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based
payment transactions with the share-based
payment transactions of the Group are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease
was a new lease at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another
standards, are measured at acquisition-date fair value
except for non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

Or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGU(s)”) (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then
to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. ERBFTHEMR (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in associates (Continued) REBEQNTNRE(F)
After application of the equity method, including RERERLZ(BEEERAB2S A Z2ERB (M

recognising the associate’s losses (if any), the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
additional impairment loss with respect to its investment
in the associate. Goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of an investment in an associate is not separately
recognised. The entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised

ENG AEEETEEROFTERRBZ QA
ZRERABETMBINRERBE - BRREZRQ
ARERAE-— B cHETEORER - &
B(EREE) 22 REERE-—EELETTR
BRI FTEASEARDERE(AEREBEER
RPFEROERRN zREHE /L) BHEKHEEF
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BREEZ — 87 o BIERIEZ & DRI
BHREMZ AAWEEERR -

Wy 225 7 5R
WHERAHBAZFEEAZS ARG -
i‘ﬁ Hipt X%

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects ZeBERMZE 2EE M RTE

the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled AESZRE - HEMES  XEEHEAAELSE

in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the MRS

Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer F1 . BAEBEFZEH

Step 2:  Ildentify the performance obligations in the Fo4 BAEKHZEOER
contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price E3F BETEXRFHE®R

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the Fax BRGBEEIEZEHNZBAOET
performance obligations in the contract

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity F5F ¢ RERBTHKEHNECHBERRR
satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance AEEBR(HEE)TKBLHSTR (B TR

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° The Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created and enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a
customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

o Sales of alcoholic beverages

o Loan financing services

o Provision of corporate finance and advisory services
° Provision of loan referral services

Revenue from sales of alcoholic beverages is recognised
when goods are transferred to and accepted by the
customers, which is the point of time the customer has

the ability to direct the use of the products and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the products.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from loan financing services is recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy of financial
assets.

Financial advisory fee from corporate finance and advisory
services is recognised over the service period based on
services provided as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the services provided by the Group over the
period in accordance with relevant terms of the agreement.
Payment of the transaction is due immediately when the
services are rendered to the customers. The Group has
the primary responsibility for providing the services to the
customer or for fulfilling the order, for example by being
responsible for the acceptability of the services ordered by
the customer.

Loan referral services income is recognised at a point in
time when the service for the transaction are completed
under the terms of each engagement and the revenue can
be measured reliable as only that time the Group has a
present right to payment for services performed.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight line
basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant
event or change in circumstances resulting in a
change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using
revised discount rate;

° the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless
the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount
rate is used); and

° A lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement
of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made
at or before the commencement date and any initial direct
costs, less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group
incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove
a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or
restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of
the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-
of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative standalone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
(Continued)

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not
to separate non-lease components, and instead account
for any lease and associated non-lease components as
a single arrangement. The Group has used this practical
expedient for all leases.

Lease modification
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to right-of-use assets. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

] 60 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

4.

HE (&)
SEEREBEA(E)
HEBIERE R EKE D (&)

ER—HEBRNEEZ  BAUBREER
%165ﬁu MEABATESEEREARLY D
- MESEMEERERNFEEEEARED

N

f’EﬁE ZHRER - AEBCOHMBRER
REtEMREE 2 -

HE LXK

EUATEARAT AKESHEZEEREBN
HEETERERE :

s BHCRBEMNER—ENKZ
BARBEAHERE : &

HEAMEERN

e MEMHUE i‘ﬂﬂﬁ’]igﬁgﬁiil}.}%ﬁmﬁi
ERERE  AHZBLEBRETEMNE
MBEEARREESRMNBER

HRAEREBHEHEARNEEESR  A&H
BBEEREMARAEETNNREREEE
AIMEEMKETIG  RELEFTHNHEEN
HERREFTEHERE -

FEEERHBEA
AEBEEREEAREEREEET LM
ZH o AFEEEREBAAEEI RRERKE
HE - -AHEGRRBHEEENBARD AR K
OHREBREABAANEE a9 AREHR
E-FBHEMBEENNREEHEE -

WeanFREESREERIAEEART D - A%
EEABERMBHREERNEIGEHRASORED

EE&HD



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to the
underlying asset. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the group applies the exemption described above,
the sublease shall be classified as an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are reattributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as “deferred income”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit cost

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment held for use in the supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of
items of plant and equipment less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or
less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances
and cash as defined above.

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivable arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), and fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding ECL, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate is
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
including ECL, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument
on initial recognition.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss, interest
income from loan receivables is included in the “revenue
and segment information” (note 8). Any other interest
income is included in the “other income” (note 9).
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition; or

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is disclosed
separately in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 7.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “Normal”. “Normal” means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group ’'s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

The ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is 1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any
gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid
on the financial liabilities and is included in the “change in
fair value of derivative financial instrument”.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-
trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an
equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the conversion option for the
holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is included in
equity (“convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” or
“convertible bonds issued by a subsidiary”).
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4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
“convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” until the
embedded option is exercised, in which case the balance
stated in “convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve”
will be transferred to share capital. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in “convertible bonds — equity conversion reserve” will be
released to the accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bond using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions of
the Company

Share options granted to directors/employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited,
lapsed or cancelled after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses/retained earnings.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless the fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted.
The fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve), when the Group obtains the goods
or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. Please refer to note 2 in relation to the going
concern assumptions adopted by the directors of the
Company.

Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the ageing of the
inventories at the end of the reporting period, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer saleable in the market. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of
estimation of the net realisable value of items of inventories
and judgements on the conditions of items of inventories.
Where the expected net realisable value is lower than
the cost of certain items, a write-down of inventories
may arise. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount
of inventories is approximately HK$7,157,000 (2023:
HK$8,210,000). No impairment allowance for inventories
was recognised as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables

The loss allowance for loan and interest receivables
are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting
the inputs to the impairment calculation, bases on the
number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding
as well as the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may
be necessary to make additional impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. As at 31 March 2024, the
carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables are
approximately HK$264,709,000 (2023: HK$286,854,000),
net of accumulated impairment losses of loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$22,521,000 (2023:
HK$16,645,000).

Loan receivables mainly include financing advances
provided to customers which are mainly secured by real
estates and other collaterals. Apart from assessing the
financial positions of customers, the management further
reviews value of the pledged real estates and other
collaterals by reference to recent market transactions in
comparable properties or fair values determined by the
directors of the Company. If the market value of secured
real estates and other collaterals is deteriorated and is
below the carrying amount of the corresponding financing
advances, provision on impairment may be required.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment of intangible assets

The management of the Group estimates the recoverable
amounts of intangible assets to determine whether the
intangible assets are impaired. The impairment loss for
intangible assets is recognised for the amounts by which
the carrying amounts exceed their recoverable amounts,
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The
recoverable amounts of intangible assets are determined
based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost
of disposal. These calculations require the use of estimates
such as the future revenue and/or discount rates. As at 31
March 2024, the carrying amounts of intangible assets are
approximately HK$1,280,000 (2023: HK$1,280,000). No
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Useful lives of intangible assets

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, intangible asset is a club
membership acquired from third parties with indefinite
useful life.

The Group’s club membership is classified as an indefinite-
lived intangible asset in accordance with HKAS 38
“Intangible Assets”. This conclusion is supported by the
fact that there were no specific terms for the rights. As at
31 March 2024, the carrying amount of club membership
of the Group is approximately HK$1,280,000 (2023:
HK$1,280,000).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March
2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is approximately
HK$9,028,000 (2023: HK$9,028,000), net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$3,817,000 (2023:
HK$3,817,000) as detailed in note 22. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, no impairment loss of goodwill
(2023: Nil) was recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred
or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the assets belongs.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

The future cash flow is estimated based on past
performance and expectation for market development. As
the current environment is uncertain, the estimated cash
flows and discount rate are subject to higher degree of
estimation uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
HK$672,000 and HK$5,465,000 (2023: HK$1,058,000
and HK$7,932,000) respectively. Details of the impairment
of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in Notes 17 and 20, respectively.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors
of the Company are responsible in determining the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The directors of the Company work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
directors of the Company regularly assess the impact and
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and
liabilities.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments,
including call option written to the ultimate holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder. Note 7 provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination
of the fair value of various assets and liabilities. As at 31
March 2024, the carrying amount of derivative financial
liabilities are approximately HK$29,000 (2023: HK$9,000)
and change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
during the year were approximately HK$651,000 (2023:
HK$12,273,000).

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Deferred tax asset has been recognised
on deductible temporary differences as disclosed in
note 21. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for period in
which such a reversal takes place.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and issue of new debt.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

EXEARERE &)

ARBEFTEHRRITELARE - FR/RE —
B ARAEFEREAKNANEZBEALRN
BHER - REAAREZNHEER A5 E
HBEBKNERE  BIHRORBETHETE
HERBEANRE -

@ T A
(a) =@ T AEH

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEKATEZEREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BERSNMESEEY) 320,406 398,905
Financial liabilities £l 3=
Derivative financial instruments TESMmTA 29 9
At amortised cost RN ARG E 220,741 250,656
220,770 250,665
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

€@ IE®)

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
finance lease receivables, loan and interest
receivables, deposits, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amount due to a
shareholder, loan from a non-controlling shareholder,
borrowings and derivative financial instruments.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions
involving RMB must take place through the
People’s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange.
The exchange rate adopted for the foreign
exchange transactions are the rates of
exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of
China that are determined largely by supply and
demand.

Certain bank balances are denominated in
RMB, HK$, United States dollar (“US$”),
Euro (“EUR”) and Pound sterling (“GBP”),
certain trade payable are denominated in USS$,
EUR and GBP, and certain borrowings are
denominated in JPY, which are currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

(b) M HEAMREEBEFEREE

AEENTESRIACEREHER
WHE  BREREMNE - ZE BHK
H i B UCRIR - FEUEEE AR FUR - RTT
R kBE  BHREMENIOR - B
—BBRRFRE  RE-BFEERRZE
R BRETELRIA -ZZeRIA
MEFBREXNHBMNE BHZFEeRTA
BEREONRREET SRR (EEEAR&H X
R) EERBRERBESRER - B LI
MERZERRNFRIR T - EEE
ERVERZFTRARUBREEEREE
EEREM -

™5 AR

() EEEE
ARBTAIBHAAIBBINEG - FTEH
MARBHINEZZEESBPEAR
IRITRH AR ITHNE B B A
BT - INEX FIRMAIE R Ty b &
ARBITFIHFMER (TS RERE
E) e

HETRITEBUAARE BT - XL
(T&x ) B ([8x]) REE ([
#)tE ETRREEHENREA
AET BTREHFHE RETHE
FABBE(REREEERNEER
SN B’ )FHE -
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. @M TR (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEKEEBEERBE (&)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mIERAK (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EBmEE(E)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency
of relevant group entities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

RBEMR  AEEUREEEER
D EE I EEIENEREE
LRBEREENT :

2024 2023
2024F 20234

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EBE =R BE afE
HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
RMB AR 8 - 3,609 -
us$ E7T 5 221 4 93
EUR E i - 102 = 1,262
GBP g 2 7 4 1
JPY B 61 75,654 = 80,838

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the
US$/HKS exchanges rate. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the foreign currency
sensitivity analysis does not give additional
value in view of insignificant movement in the
US$/HK$ exchange rate.

No sensitivity analysis is presented for RMB,
EUR and GBP as in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the expected change in foreign
exchange rates of these currencies will not have
significant impact on the loss during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If a 5% increase/decrease in JPY against
the HK$ and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
year would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$3,156,000 (2023: increase/decrease by
HK$3,375,000). 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items.
The sensitivity analysis includes cash and cash
equivalents where the denomination is JPY
other than the functional currency.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate loan receivables,
finance lease receivables, other borrowings
and loan from a non-controlling shareholder.
The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances. To mitigate the impact of interest rate
fluctuations, the Group assesses and monitors
the exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity
risk management section of this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the prevailing
market rates on bank balances.

7.

R I A #)
(b) BHEMREEEEREE (&)

mERK(E)
() EWEE(E)
BRE D (E)

(i)

HWBENXBTHE BEBES% M
FMEEMEERFTTE  AAKHE
AEEBRBEBRBE M BRI H
3,156,000 7T (20234 : & in /i§ 4
3,375,000 L) c 5% AMEEE R
ANBEHINER BB AR EFTA 2 &
BE VAEREBHINEERSIER
BEEE 2T - UREDITESREIN
EHEIE BT EZ E R IRINE o SR
EoMeIEABE (LI EE )T
BZRERREEED -

T [

76 B T e B B E M R U E R - B
BHERKEFR EMERMES —
ZEBRBERZERERO R FER
KR o AEE B FIEA N R EHER
ReoAm EEESEENZRAR -
Y HEBREEANXEAREEEER
HREM L EREE -

FEBERILRGEBEERS
FEMERR - AERFERBH Y
£ o BT T B R A A R
A% -

AEEHR SR A EMEENFNEER
FERAAMERBESRREE —
fi- AEEReRENXEARIEE
PR IRITABRBITIIG N KR KE -
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non—derivative instruments at the end
of reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis point
(2023: 10 basis point) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis point (2023:
10 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$29,000 (2023: HK$61,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk on its variable rate bank
balances.

Credit risk

As at the end of each reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables, and loan and interest receivables.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an on-
going basis.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

R I A #)
(b) BHEMREEEEREE (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of loan and interest receivables,
representing financing advances to customers under
the Group’s loan financing business, individual credit
evaluations are performed. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s financial background and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates.

As at 31 March 2024, 24% (2023: 33%) of all
financing advances given out are backed by real
estates and motor vehicles situated in Chongging,
the PRC as a security. The Group also verified legal
ownership and the valuation of the collaterals. An
advance given out is based on the value of collaterals
and is generally less than the estimated value of the
collaterals. The Group closely monitors the ownership
and value of the collaterals throughout the loan
period. Advances to customers are due by the date
as specified in the corresponding loan agreements.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. As at 31 March 2024, 5% (2023: 7%) of
the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s
largest debtor.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of the collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of loan receivables as at the end of
the reporting period. The Group does not provide any
guarantees which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

FERR(E)
REMEREFE(BAREERBRE XK
ATAFEFRENBERFOME @ ET
ERIEERE ZEFEREEFPUBE
ERBARXMNEN Ut REPUAKRER
LEMEEEREABONETER -

MR2024FE3AZTAEENFBEME B AL
24%(2023%F : 33%) AN RFABREENE
ERABEERT ERER -AEEE
BRETZERRRNEEBEERRGE -
FIRHZ8 R NERERRZEE  — K&
BREFRZGHEE AEEREEERY
MEYERETR s EREELEE AT
FEHZBFRARERBET BN B
EIER -

AEEMEYNEERR  TEXEREF
MENFEMEE MIFRERFPEE
FTEMTEXRER  AREAEERELE
MEFHMERARKRE  BELASEEFTH
ZERK - R2024FE3A31H - BWEK
A 5% (20234 & 7%) Ty fE UL A £ B &
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

cofl- =
(b) BHEMREEEEREE (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk for bank balances is considered
minimal as such amounts are placed with banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines
the ECL on an individual basis for customer with
significant balances and/or collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience, as well as the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

For other non-trade related receivables, finance lease
receivables, other receivables and amounts due from
associates, the Group has assessed whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical location for trade receivables is mainly
in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2023:
100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March
2024 respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk of loan
receivables by geographical location is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 94% (2023: 94%) of the
total loan receivables as at 31 March 2024.

With respect to credit risk arising from trade
receivables, the Group has limited concentration of
credit risk as it has a large number of customers in
sales of alcoholic beverage segment.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout the reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° internal credit rating
° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor

° significant changes in the value of the collateral
supporting the obligation or in the quality of
third-party guarantees or credit enhancements

° significant increase in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the debtor

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status of
debtors in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the debtor

7.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible to
develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading
to categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available
financial information and reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtors,
including changes in the payment status of
debtors.

The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework

comprises the following categories:

Category (Grading) Description

Rl (FE4R) fut

Normal For financial assets where there has low risk of
default or has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition and that
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

EHE RENRBRREIRVBERRUREERR I

R I A #)
(b) BHEMREEEEREE (&)

Fﬁﬂlﬁ(ﬁ)

REFAZEERR (&)
$%lé.‘.?ﬁﬁﬁ’]1*gﬂw$i&¢[§5 BIAT
1R

BRZEMIRYELREERENSREE
(EE—FER)

Special mention

For financial assets where there has been a

significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

BT AR

BRI U 46 e PR DA RS B L B R R 0B X S

REERENESREE(FBF _HR)

Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

Financial assets are assessed as credit
impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer

to as Stage 3)

RS
QE=3
BRE

BERLE

Write-off

HRBEEMLAARRRESREER T
FEN-ARZAEEMN
EROREEREGES =

Ale@EES KT
129

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

9 A

BRTEBABABREYKEREEAREE

AR B R AW A R FRIR

HEHAEREEMER AT F32023/24

Basis of recognising ECL

BRARNEEBRANEE

12-month ECL

128 AFRHEEBE

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

E2HIEMEEER
— I EHREERE

Lifetime ECL - credit impaired

2HIFRMEEER
—HBREERE

Amount is written-off

MEBASE
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7.

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group’s financial assets, as well as the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating

cofl- =
(b) MHEAMREEEEREE (&)

FERR(E)

FEEFRZEERER(E)
TRAMARESREENEELERUR
BREERRIEANDAEEHENRAE
ERRMO

grades:
2024 2023
2024% 20235
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying  carrying Loss  carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount  amount allowance  amount
128525 B
Mt ABEEFER RHEERE REAE BEA%E REFE FELE FREGE ROE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
fér FTErT FEr  FET  TErT  TExn
Loan and interest 24 Normal 12-month ECL
receivables 194,733 (2,024) 192,709 161,354 (1,458) 159,896
RERRFR Iy REAEBEERR
Loan and interest 24 Special mention Lifetime ECL
receivables - not credit impaired 13,012 (1,557) 11,455 53,264 (577) 52,687
FRERRFR b EXEEARE
-ABEERE
Loan and interest 24 Substandard, Lifetime ECL
receivables Doubtful and Loss - credit impaired 79,485  (18,940) 60,545 88,881  (14,610) 74,271
BB RA S RER - A5 2HBAEEER
REXE -FERE
Trade receivables 25  (Note) Lifetime ECL
- simplified approach 1,407 (299) 1,108 1,862 (473) 1,389
EHRUGE (W) FHBMEEER
-BRI%E
Deposits and 25  Normal 12-month ECL
other receivables 17,756 - 17,756 26,807 - 26,807
Be REMERHE iy REARSEERR
(22,820) (17,118)

i LB SBUGRIEM S ARECDRARE

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on these items by using
a provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience based on the past due status
of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect
current conditions and estimates of future economic
conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these
assets is presented based on their past due status
in terms of the provision matrix. Note 25 includes
further details on the loss allowance for these assets
respectively.
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and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
at FVTPL as disclosed in note 18 best represent their
respective maximum exposure to credit risk. The
Group holds no collateral over any of these balances.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration on the measures currently undertaken
in respect of the Group ’s liquidity position. As
disclosed in note 2, the directors of the Company
believe that the Company will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as they fall due
for at least the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative and
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. e RMIEA (%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEEMEEEERBEK (&)

FERR(E)

AEEARZZERR(E)

MM ERN  SENAAFEEEGE
HEAWNESRMEEZREE  &ERKE
FEENERRRZKE SEHELE
BRI R F5 A I o

REBE SRR

RERRDESAR  AKRBERRER
EEERS/ARNRE KRS FEYK
FoURAEHEZERHRESRBRERS

MEKBTE -

ARAEECEREERAMAASENR
BE MR RIA I E o B0 K 2R 3
B ARREZER/ARAKEAETHD
LEEUMETHABREHRESREKE
D1I2EARMHBEME  HUERSMB
BROVBFELEELERE -

TRAXEEFNTERTESHAGBHT
BREHMBEHRE  ZEXREASER A&
AEECRAEREAHNESRABRRY
AReRERE  -HtFTESRAESD
HMETREREERAHPEE -

ZERBEEMNERAEZRERE - WA E
MERFHNE - AIRBBESERERS
IR MK RETE -
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables

As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H

Non-derivative financial ~ #f74¢REE
liabilities

Trade and other payables & %&H‘r@fﬁ TR

Amount due to a shareholder J&{f—% Bk E 7

Loan from a non-controling K& —% 3H§H§H§$

shareholder ZE®
Borrowings ER A
Derivatives fTETH
Derivative financial fTEE®MTA
instruments
Lease liabilities HEgE

7. @M TR (&)
(b) MBEKREEBEERBE(£)
REBESRARKR(E)
More than More than

On demand 1yearand 2years and Total
or Within less than less than undiscounted Carrying
one year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

REREE AR
H—FR —-EZWE WEEZLE REFEHLE HREE
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’°000
FET FET FEL FET FET
12,729 - - 12,729 12,729
107,366 - - 107,366 107,366
79,092 - - 79,092 75,654
24,992 - - 24,992 24,992
224,179 - - 224,179 220,741
29 - - 29 29
5,192 1,666 - 6,858 6,575
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bt Z2024F3H31HILF/E
7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 7. E®MIH &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BMEEMREEEERBE£E)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRAK(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) REESXK(E)
More than More than
On demand 1 year and 2 years and Total
or Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
one year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BEXER AT
F—FEN —FERFE WMEERF Ren=LE RHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FAT
As at 31 March 2023 R2023%F3A31H
Non-derivative financial ~ #fi4$FEaE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ E5 R E B HHE 19,301 - - 19,301 19,301
Amount due to a shareholder [FEff— &M% E FIE 110,525 - - 110,525 110,525
Loan from a non-controlling & — & JEI IR
shareholder ZEN 88,556 - - 88,556 80,838
Borrowings EE: 39,992 - - 39,992 39,992
258,374 - - 258,374 250,656
Derivatives fTETR
Derivative financial fTEE®MTA
instruments 9 - - 9 9
Lease liabilities HEARE 11,014 4,199 1,169 16,382 15,055

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2024, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$24,992,000 (2023: HK$39,992,000).

Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that
it is probable that the lenders will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that these
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows of other borrowings will
amount to approximately HK$26,948,000 (2023:
HK$43,148,000).

EWHEERERBEROERIA LB
o [RERKEEX —FNRN]HME
o FA2024F3A31H » ZERM A
K& 4258 4 /5 24,992,00078 JT (20234
39,992,000 7T ) °

LA RAEBENHBEMRR  ARAEER
BREATAEITEERNBEZ KNG
BR -ARREEREZSEFEREER
HHpEHTEERBHEE - @K H
HEFNAEeEMERSRLBEROR
26,948,000 7T (2023 £ : 43,148,000
JT) °
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. @M TR (&)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) ETMIEMNAEENE

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial AEEETEREERBENSMENR
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each EATEHE SRBEEEREEZAT
reporting period. The level in the fair value hierarchy BEEFAZER  DHERELTFETESB
within which the financial liability is categorised BRZEEBRBABEE S - REBK
in its entirety is based on the lowest level of input NFEFAFERRR2EREBEHE Y
that is significant to the fair value measurement. ZUTATERER :

The financial liabilities of the Group at fair value in
the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into fair value hierarchy as follows:

Relationship of key inputs

Fair value  Valuation technique Significant and significant unobservable
Fairvalue asat  hierarchy  and key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
BROAHEREATTEE
RTSBE2ATE AVEER MERGRBREAHE EXTUBERAHE BARBRAVEZBE
2024 2023
4% 2023F
HK$'000  HK$'000
FEn  TET
Derivative financial instruments
fixeRIA
- Call option written to 29 9 Level3 Binomial Option Pricing Expected volatility of 112.14%  The higher the expected
the ultimate holding Model (2023 56.62%) volatility, the higher the value
company of a non-controlling (note (i)
Shareholder
-~ REBRRRNFLRBR B f  —BHETERY BERE112.14% REkRES  BEES
AR ERE (20235 : 56.62%) (Hitly)
Notes: B
For recurring fair value measurements categorised within HOBEATLEERE = Q&Z%« % [ER/N Tr{gﬁ
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the impact of changes in EMs  EFERG AT (LT REE
unobservable inputs are detailed as follows: T
(i) If the expected volatility to the valuation model (i) {mg@ﬁ%%‘lZ}EHH&mmi*jJu/,@@ >O1E E
were 10 basis point higher/lower while all the other Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BEHOEFTE - B2
variables were held constant, the carrying amount EREENSERIERATI CEREZCET
of the call option written to the ultimate holding 1B 18 5 Bl 4 3 Hn491,0007% 7t (2023
company of a non-controlling shareholder would F 1,000 7T) °
decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,000 (2023:
HK$1,000).
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B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. @M TR (&)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) TMIEMAFETNE(E)
instruments (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of BEEHEREEZHemEE(AE)D
financial assets (liabilities) on recurring basis: FEFTEZEHE
Call option
written to
the ultimate
holding
company of a Put option to
non-controlling the promissory
shareholder note holder Total
—BHFERKRE
MBRAERAE AAEBEEA
2B 2R @
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2022 202254 H1H = = =
Grant of share option (Note 34) RO EREN734) (12,282) = (12,282)
Extension of promissory note (Note 36) 7# 1, Z# L8 (f7:£36) - (1,365) (1,365)
Lapsed during the year (Note 36) FRKBK(H536) - 1,365 1,365
Gain on fair value changes (Note 34) D FEE & (F15134) 12,273 = 12,273
As at 31 March 2023 720235 3A31H 9) - 9
Grant of share option (Note 34) o XD (680) = (680)
Gain on fair value changes (Note 34) A F{EE &)W (f1534) 660 - 660
As at 31 March 2024 K2024F3H31H (29) - (29)
During the year, there were no transfers between FR A FEEBERESRN zEITEERE o

levels of fair value hierarchy.

The directors of the Company consider that the RKAFEERAE  BEABExNEESHRIE
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial B EHEMEHRERPEBETRFZEN
liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the BEKRNAREORDLREENSRBEBE
effective interest rate method in the consolidated MEmMEBEREAFERS -

financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.
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#H F2024F3H31HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8.
INFORMATION
Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the sales of
alcoholic beverages, the provision of loan financing

& K 2 & & #
I 25

AEBZEEZEBRBRAK S

iH &

CREER

MERGLERSBRYE -AKBZREZZD

services and the provision of financial services. An analysis s
of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers HEREZAEHWE
Disaggregated of revenue by RIEEMIRBEE H M=
major products or services lines
Sales of alcoholic beverages segment ERERBEED S
- Sales of alcoholic beverages income —BESRmEERA 21,921 39,896
Loan financing services segment EFEE RS D E
— Loan referral services income —EFENRBEKA 11,231 14,541
Total revenue from contracts with customers LR B 7 & 4545 33,152 54,437
Revenue from other sources H 3R 2 s
Loan financing segment EFXmEDE
- Interest income - Micro loans —FBWA - NEER 28,455 34,999
- Interest income — Other loans —FEWA-EMER 6,480 7,738
34,935 42,737
Total revenue I &5 A R 68,087 97,174
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition RERAGHE S WE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition g 25 HeE 52 B T
At a point in time ¥z B ] B 33,152 54,437
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

8.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

All sales contracts are with an original expected duration
of one year or less or contracts for which revenue is
recognised at the amount to which that Group has the right
to invoice for the performance performed. Accordingly,
the Group has elected the practical expedient and has not
disclosed the amount of transaction price allocated to the
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
satisfied) as of the end of the reporting period.

Segment Information

Information has been reported to the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”) (i.e. the executive directors),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Sales of alcoholic -
beverages

EAE R i i & -

2. Loan financing services -

,\T/\K—‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁfk - TTET/\,\
3. Financial services -

T BIRG - RHPBEARS

WERDHBERE &)

Wss ()
TEERTENEEZXZER

FIBHEENZMAERABERS —FHATH
REASEERIIBTZBENLARRZS
MERRDECAH - Bt AEBECEZRTHE
HAERTERBEORERBEHARERET
(ABOBETIZBHNEEZRHEBREHE -

pEER

HRERIPELFBLHRBME (AERERZH
FEOREFIRIRBHOER) T ELERKSE
(TXEEEEBERRED(ARTES )EEREE
B o RENRAEENRED IR T ELERK
EWEEHTERHR 2 ERKLEEDES -

ARmME  AEERBEBFEVH RS ERFR
ZATEBRREEDHNMT ¢

retail sales and wholesales of wine products and other alcoholic beverages
TERMEHEBERREMBERSR®

provision of loan financing and loan referral services

XA N E SR E N AR

provision of financial consultancy services
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8.

INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable and operating segments:

Revenue W &

Sales of alcoholic beverages BB mIEE
Loan financing services B & Bk
Segment (loss) profit 7 &8 (&5 18 )5 A
Sales of alcoholic beverages B mIEE
Loan financing services B E R
Financial services © B AR TS

Total segment (loss) profit

72 88 (B8 ) ) M 48 58

Unallocated income Ko B A
Unallocated expenses IR
Finance costs B & Bk AR

(Loss) profit before tax Br 30 A (B8 ) i A

Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss) profit
from each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ salaries and certain
other income, changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL and derivative financial instruments and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.
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WEzRDHBERE &)

(a) DU EREE
WTAEAEEZETERREESIE S
W REE S

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FAET
21,921 39,896
46,166 57,278
68,087 97,174
(2,480) (4,462)
(2,290) 19,851
(1,462) (1,918)
(6,232) 13,471
15,280 29,535
(15,329) (12,950)
(13,481) (20,569)
(19,762) 9,487

DE(ER)ENESE DB (BR)ER -
WX EOEPRITBRAN  EEHSRE

TEMBUKA

CRATFEF AR

ZERE

EZPHLRMTESHMIAZAFEZS R
BRA - fRftE T E B E
TERDPERKRRFGZFAERS -

ERRE LA
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Bt Z2024F3H31HILF/E
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WE R HEX #)
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) PHEEMEES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and NEBIREBETFTERRLEESLEA S 2 EE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: EREBESTWT
Segment assets DEEE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Sales of alcoholic beverages BERMEE 14,129 18,420
Loan financing services ERmE RS 286,373 318,490
Financial services & @b AR & = 4
Total segment assets DESEERE 300,502 336,914
Unallocated assets RKOLEE 50,306 95,364
Consolidated total assets IREBAEBE 350,808 432,278
Segment liabilities AEEE
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Sales of alcoholic beverages B RS R 8 14,417 24,150
Loan financing services BEREE IR 6,412 10,485
Financial services & B AR & 23 92
Total segment liabilities DEBEREE 20,852 34,727
Unallocated liabilities Ao aE 216,672 247,978
Consolidated total liabilities HEBBEASE 237,524 282,705
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WmKko#MESR &)
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) PEHEEMERB(#Z)
Segment liabilities (Continued) PWEEE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance MERDHRBENRDBELOEERMS

and allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments - FMEBEEBETREERS BEHERE
other than deposits, finance lease receivables, Wk A TEMEREIE - EEH
certain other receivables, deferred tax asset, HEE  BWREEARIFRIE  RITHE
amounts due from associates, bank balances BRREURETROEBIHEE)
and cash and certain unallocated head office DEELEDI K
assets; and

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments - FERBE(TREETHEaE &
other than certain lease liabilities, certain other TEMEMRE BN —BRER
payables, amounts due to a shareholder, loan B RE—RIFEBEREZER - E
from a non-controlling shareholder, borrowings, T EMBECELHREBEBAERITAE
tax payable, deferred tax liability and derivative EMIE)DEEZEED -

financial instruments.

(c) Other segment information (c) HEfbnZHEE
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B EZ202453A31BLLEE
Sale of Loan
alcoholic Financial financing
beverages services services  Unallocated Total
BRUNEE CRER ERBERE KA a3t

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FEx FET FET FET

Amounts included in the measure of 3t A 7 585 7 &5 &
segment profit or loss or segment FEZ %4

assets:
Additions to non-current assets (Note) FE 3R & & (H3t) 8 - 2,088 11 2,107
Depreciation e 2,738 3 1,402 36 4,179
Net impairment loss recognised EREFRTISHR

on loan and interest receivables HEBEFE - - 29,775 - 29,775

Amounts regularly provided to the EH#EMHFTELERZFE
CODM but not included in the BEEHATFEZD
measure of segment profit or PHEEFEZLH
loss or segment assets:

Bank interest income RITFBYA - - - 127 127
Finance costs BEME - - - 13,481 13,481
Income tax credit (expense) FERES(FY) - - 1,991 (19) 1,972
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B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. WE R HEX #)
INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) EtbnZER (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F3A31HIEFE
Sale of Loan
alcoholic Financial financing
beverages services services Unallocated Total
BRAHEE cRRY ERRERY ADE @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEL T TET FET

Amounts included in the measure of 3 A 7 5557 H& &
segment profit or loss or segment ;fE2 24 .

assets:
Additions to non-current assets (Note) HREIEREEE (M) 97 - 7,424 1,428 8,949
Depreciation e 3,183 6 1,922 86 5,197
Amounts written-off as uncollectible  E-fth FE I VB R & £ U @ fy

on other receivables MEne® 2,543 - = = 2,543
Net impairment loss recognised ENERETERDR

on loan and interest receivables REERTE - - 19,902 - 19,902

Amounts regularly provided to the ZH#EMHFTELEREE
CODM but not included in the YA BERS
measure of segment profit or AHNEENEZLE

loss or segment assets:
Bank interest income RAFEMA = - - 59 59
Finance costs BB K - - - 20,569 20,569
Income tax expense FERAY = = 10,914 = 10,914
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments Bt ERBDEETEREBMIARELERIE
and deferred tax asset. BEE -
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Geographical information
Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of
operations. Information about the Group’s non-
current assets other than finance lease receivables,
deferred tax asset, deposits and loan receivables, is
presented based on the geographical location of the

assets:
PRC HE
Hong Kong S

(e) Information about major customers
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
there is no customer contributing over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.
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8. WERKRDIBER (&)

(d) #EEEE R
ERAEE RGN BELP 2R ZERT
REEWBL2T  c ARAEBIERDEE
(MEEERKZE ELERELE - B2
DREWERBINZERIZEEDREBLESR
5l

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
RENBEF 2z E EREBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234 20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FAT FET FET FET
39,686 49,540 2,059 1,378
28,401 47,634 14,386 17,920
68,087 97,174 16,445 19,298

(e) EEEFEH
REE 20244 K2023E3A31AILEE -
MERFERBARNEBAKZEN10% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bt Z2024F3H31HILF/E
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HMW A
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Bank interest income RITH B WA 127 59
Consignment income FEWA 527 475
Management fee income (Note (b)) BRI A (KfaF (b)) 1,732 1,310
Net exchange gain B 5 U 5 F 2R 10,602 7,630
Government grants (Note (a)) BT 8L (A it (a) = 760
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment & E &5 # /U - 534
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE KB ARz W
(Note 38) (B1:£38) - 1,253
Interest income from consideration AR EF E U A
receivable - 510
Interest income from finance REHEREWRIBEF B U A
lease receivables (Note 20) (B it20) 222 1,270
Gain on deemed disposal of right-of-use R AL EFRELE Y W
assets (Note 20) (HtzE20) 353 2,519
Others Hith 1,468 3,824
15,031 20,144
Note: Htat -
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount (@) B ZE2023F3A31HILFE  Z&BETEBM

represents government subsidies granted due to the
COVID-19 pandemic under the Employment Support
Scheme of the Hong Kong Government. There were no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
government grants.

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered (b)
into sublease arrangements as a lessor for certain office
space to its tenants in which 10% of addition management
and administrative fee would be charged on top of the lease
agreement.

R [R5t % 5T I EECOVID-19&Z B &K T 19
BFHA  HEEZERFHEA @O REK
BERRREIR -

BE20243AB31HILFE - SEERBHEAER
HEPFPEKTHBERY  HRLERLE=HEME
FTEERP  ITHBIMEI0%ERMITHRER -
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. @ & X A<
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest expense on: TH®EZHMERE :
— convertible bonds — AR ES - 4,404
— promissory notes payables —ERERELEE = 1,365
— other borrowings —H &K 4,099 5,143
— loan from a non-controlling shareholder — 3K B8 — & IEIERIRE 2 B 8,439 8,204
— lease liabilities —HEAaE 943 1,453
13,481 20,569
11.INCOME TAX 11. T8
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FEr
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”): R EPTISR
([EFREH])
Current tax BV HA 5 18 963 61
Over provision in prior years A EBREEE (3,214) -
(2,251) 61
Deferred taxation (Note 21) RERLIE (A aE21) (1,797) 8,484
Withholding tax TEHIA 2,076 2,369
Income tax (credit) expense Fris®i (e )M (1,972) 10,914

2 ] 4 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

11.INCOME TAX (Continued) 11. B8 % (&)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits during both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is charged under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. For the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the tax rate of 16.5%.

Tax exemptions represented reduction of Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the year of assessment of 2023/2024,
subject to a ceiling of HK$3,000 (2022/2023: HK$6,000).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits tax has been made as
the Group has no net assessable profits derived from or
earned in Hong Kong during the year.

Profits of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are
subject to PRC EIT during both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory EIT tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%,
except for certain subsidiaries which qualified as small
enterprises and micro enterprises and enjoy preferential
EIT tax rate from 2.5% to 15% for both years. Further 10%
withholding income tax is generally imposed on dividends
relating to profits.

EBEFNESHEZMEFEGMARERT R A A
16.5%5T & -

EEFESREFINESHMAHNBY  aEREE
2,000,000/ 7T i Fl 2 B & £ 8.25% + M B i@
2,000,000 7T 2 & M T E B16.5% © 8 E2024
F3A3TA NM2023F HFE AEELAEKETE
WEBNEREMNEERAGGTE - TFHEM
BAESHHNENEMETEEEETENF BiEE
BIZ16.5% M — B R EF -

T B R % 15 15 2023/2024 R E B 2 BB FI 5
o &R EE LR A3,000/% 7T (2022/2023 -
6,000 7T ) °

AR AEERFRNLERE FE LN FTERR
B e RR B0 0 AR RR - B B L B I E B
B -

KA BRS 2 M B R 25NN M EFEEAR
MPBEEEMEH -

REBEC(HBEGCEMBHEIEEREBHED R
TEMSBEERIES - RMEFE - - EN B
REIMEELEMEHHER25% BT ETH
ANARBACEREENNBLAR  EEXE
BHCEMSEHRER25%FE15% - —REHHE
i A A B R BS RURERIM 0% TR T 1S 7
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

1. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can
be reconciled to the (loss) profit before tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

1. B8H (&)
MEBEEORESH (e ) B TasaE%
H fth 2 U 2% & PRI B AT <J§ﬁ,s>,mu§¢a§zzu
T:

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
(Loss) profit before tax BB AT (&8 %= A (19,762) 9,487
National tax on (loss) profit before tax, RS A EEERS
calculated at the rates applicable to FEMERAE R TR
profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned  (E18) & MM B ETHIE (3,359) 870
Tax effect of subsidiaries entitled to EXBENTEMSHEE
preferential EIT tax rate E’] B RARMMG 2 (1,354) (2,580)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARTHRANTEZE
tax purpose (2,325) (3,139
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT B S A B A 5 2
for tax purpose 9,570 4,783
Utilisation of tax losses previously FAEBTARERNRIAEIE
not recognised (194) (259)
Utilisation of deductible temporary FRABAREROATNE
difference previously not recognised o R (5,362) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR EBEORIGZE 2,161 4,383
Other deductible temporary difference Huh R RN TR =5E
not recognised 372 4,712
Over provision in prior year FEREEE (3,214)
Withholding tax A 1,733 2,144
Income tax (credit) expense for the year  FRAER (ER)F X (1,972) 10,914
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bt Z2024F3H31HILF/E
12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FREA
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss for the year has been arrived FRBEEMNRGIA) T
at after charging (crediting): £I8
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEME (HF13) 3,584 4,317
Salaries, allowances and other benefits He A NREMER 26,004 26,888
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme iR (ki@ 7| 5T 2| (% =% 2,074 2,183
Total staff costs B TR AR 31,662 33,388
Net increase in allowance for loan and EWMEZT R T B EELS FEIEN
interest receivables 9,645 10,860
Written-off of loans and interest receivables & U & 5 & 71| 2.4 84 20,130 9,042
Net impairment recognised on EKE H &7 B HER
loan and interest receivables B F 5 29,775 19,902
Auditor’s remuneration? % BT B &2 690 630
Depreciation of plant and equipment BMEREBEZITE 474 805
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 3,705 4,392
Cost of inventories recognised as expense' #&ER A X 17 &K 41 15,541 29,613
Net gain on disposals and written-off HEMMERE R REZ
of plant and equipment? W 25 588 = (534)
Lease rentals for office premises* AR HER S 887 282
Amounts written-off as uncollectible Hth fE SR IE A A e
on other receivables? i $ifl 38 1) & KR2 - 2,543
1 Amounts included in cost of operations 1 BEEKATBENSE
- Amounts included in administrative and other operating 2 THEEMKER YR BRSNS R
expenses
3 Amounts included in other income 8 HEmAFBEHNEEE
. The amounts represent lease rentals related to short-term 4 e RIER A B RELENFE 165518 | B4 H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BLZ2024F3H31HILF/E
13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 13.EEM &
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors ENfREMASESTHMSOT -

were as follows:

For the Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ2024F3831BILLEE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances Share-  to retirement
and other based benefits
Fees benefits payments scheme Total
54 28 BHRER
e  REMEF BREBER eI @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FE7 FE7 FA7x FA7 FEx
Emoluments paid or receivable in REXQARHENELR
respect of director’s other EREREENES
services in connection with WEERECAR,/5
the management of the affairs Ehe#e

of the Company and/or its
subsidiary undertakings

Executive directors HTEE

Ms. Kuo Kwan SEL - 1,690 - 36 1,726
Mr. Zhang Li (Note i) RH £ (A iti) - - - - -
Ms. Xie Mengna (Note ii BEM L (hiti) - 210 - 14 284
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley (Note ifi) %= E & + (i) - 100 - 4 104

Emoluments paid or receivable in FEAEERDATEME

respect of a person’s services AFEECHN/E

as a director of the Company ElzHe

and/or its subsidiary undertaking:
Non-executive directors FYTES
Mr. Ip Gho Yin, Jr. ERERE  trHr 180 - - - 180
Mr. Ji Zuguang FHEXEE - 930 - = 930

Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES

Ms. Fan Wei (Note iv) BT (Witiv) = = - - -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus AREESE 180 o - - 180
Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean YeEeEL 180 - _ - 180
Mr. Zhou Li (Note v) BA%EHv) - = o - -

540 2,990 - 54 3,584
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2023

Emoluments paid or receivable in
respect of director’s other
services in connection with
the management of the affairs
of the Company and/or its
subsidiary undertakings

Executive directors

Ms. Kuo Kwan

Mr. Zhang Li (Note i)

Ms. Xie Mengna (Note i)

Emoluments paid or receivable in
respect of a person’s services
as a director of the Company
and/or its subsidiary undertaking:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Ip Cho Yin, J.p.

Mr. Ji Zuguang

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Fan Wei (Note iv)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Dr. Lau Reimer, Mary Jean

Mr. Zhou Li (Note v)

RERLTRENELT
ERERERNES
MERRBEAH,/F
Bz

YES

BELL

R EE (M)
BEHT L (Hiti)

REARERLAIEKE
NAEZEEAN/
RS

FYTES
ERELE  trss
LA

BUFHTES
BEZT (W)
KFEEEE
AsEREL
bl

13.EEME (2
B E2023F3A31ALEE

Salaries, Contributions

allowances Share-  to retirement

and other based benefits
Fees bengfits payments scheme Total

e 28 BIREH
we  REMER Ript SIS @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAET
- 1,690 - 36 1,726
- 793 - 16 809
- 193 - 10 203
180 - - - 180
- 975 - - 975
64 - - - 64
180 - - - 180
180 - - - 180
604 3,651 - 62 4,317

EEARREESRAT FH202324 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\lj_\

R T

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

13.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Zhang Li was appointed as a non-executive director with
effect from 3 October 2019, re-designated as an executive
director with effect from 22 November 2019 and resigned as
an executive director with effect from 10 February 2023.

(ii) Ms. Xie Mengna was appointed as an executive director
with effect from 26 September 2022 and resigned as an
executive director with effect from 31 December 2023.

(i)~ Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan Shirley was appointed as an executive
director with effect from 22 December 2023.

(iv)  Ms. Fan Wei was appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effect from 21 September 2015 and
retired as an independent non-executive director with effect
from 9 August 2022.

(v) Mr. Zhou Li was appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effect from 9 August 2022.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Zhou Li has waived his
director’s emoluments of approximately HK$0.2 million as
an independent non-executive director of the Company
(2023: HK$0.1 million director’s emoluments for the period
from 9 August 2022, being the date of his appointment,
to 31 March 2023 was waived by Mr. Zhou Li). Save as
disclosed, none of the directors of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

There is no discretionary bonus paid during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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13.EEM € (#)

(i) RALEEEZFARIENITES - H2019F10A3
BAEM - AERBNITESE - R2019F 118228
ERR o BIEHITES - 12023F 28108 £/ -

iy MWEPLITEZTAENTES  H202296F9H26
BAR - BERITES - N20283F12A31H4E
e

@iy KEMBELIEZMEABHITESE + KR2023F 12 A
22H &K o

(iv) EEZRLIEZTABIIEHNITESE  $H2015F9
A21BEM - REBLIERITES - 1202248
BOB AR -

(v) BEOEEBRZERBILIIFRITES  1K20229F8
BOB &R -

REE2024F K2023F3A31HIEFE » K&
ERESNENTFARNESEAMALEER
2 NIERBEZIEE - RE E£2024F3 A
S1HIEEE AHE4LERHRWREEALRARD
A—BBUIFERTEEZEEHE - 200,000
7 7T (20234 : 100,0007% 7T A7 2022F 8 A9 H
(ZEMH B HE)E202343 318 il 2 % £l
CERANEERPWER) - RETBEENANADI

REE2024F K2023F3A31HILFE @ &
KRB EEREXRZRETAFHH -
HE2024F K2023FE3A3THILEE  #lEX

N BIBIEAL ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2024, whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 13 above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2023: three) individuals for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

14.

EEMS
HE2024F3A31BILEE  AEB TSRS
HMATH  ZZ(2023F : —H)AARQAE

FEHMIEEN EXHFE13 c RELE 20244
K2023F3A31TAIEFE » #4F =4 (2023%F :
—Z)ATHBE 0T ¢

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EEEMEMER 2,416 2,725
Contributions to retirement benefits IRRAE R ET B4 X
scheme 50 35
2,466 2,760
Their emoluments were within the following bands: EMENFLATESHE :
Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 Tt & 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3

No incentive were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office was
incurred during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

There is no discretionary bonus paid by the Group to the
five highest paid individuals during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

15.

15.

HE2024%F M2023F3A31BILFE - A&EH
BERAIASeTMALTINNE  (EARE
EMASIRMAREERNRBSIERABERE

f& -

REE2024F K2023%F3A31BIEFE » K&
EfERnREZReFMA LTI HBIBEL -

R E
#%2§2024¢&2023¢3H31E|¢¢F i
TRSFEZERE  BREPRENEZREM
Hﬂg °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss B
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted
loss per share for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

Number of shares BB EE

Weighted average number of ordinary FE
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share

The computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share
options as the exercise price of which were higher than
the average market price of shares for the year ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.
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16. 3 REE
ARTEEAEEESRER R EEERDRE
T st E

At EARRREEARIGFA
BREANREEER 2 EIE

EEREARBEERZ
A BN T 19 2R

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
(16,217) (2,211)
2024 2023
20244 20234
623,127,227 623,127,227

EREEFEENTERRXTTEARBETH
MARITEZERE  AAEHZE2024F &2023F
SAGIHLEFEMNITEESRREN TS M
{g o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COST

As at 1 April 2022
Additions

Disposals and written-off
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023
Additions

Disposals and written-off
Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT AND

DEPRECIATION

As at 1 April 2022

Charge for the year

Eliminated upon disposals and
written-off

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2023

Charge for the year

Eliminated upon disposals and
written-off

Exchange realignment

As at 31 March 2024

CARRYING VALUES
As at 31 March 2024

As at 31 March 2023

AR
202254 A 1H
NE
& R 3H

R A

R2023%F3H31H
AE

HE R

& 5, 3
R2024%3A31H
R RERTE
R2022%F4 A 1R
FATH

1 T g5 B 1 4
ERzEE=S
R2023%F3H31H
FREH

T T S B 1 3
ERZEEE-

R2024%F3H31H

KA
R2024%F3H31H

R2023%F3H31H

17.BERRKRHE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
B KB
HEMERE AWNRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
5,190 8,637 6,748 20,575
- 135 135
(44) (4,659) (4,703)
(186) (403) (346) (935)
5,004 8,325 1,743 15,072
- 129 - 129
- (19) - (19
(134) (292) (3) (429)
4,870 8,143 1,740 14,753
4,904 7,145 6,476 18,525
267 528 10 805
- (42) (4,426) (4,468)
(186) (321) (341) (848)
4,085 7,310 1,719 14,014
19 445 10 474
(19) - (19
(134) (253) (1) (388)
4,870 7,483 1,728 14,081
— 660 12 672
19 1,015 24 1,058
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

17.

18.

19.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 17.MERKX®E#)
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated LB ERBREBER DA SRR THFE Rt
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: ’BITE -
Leasehold improvements Over HEMEERER FAER

the term of

the lease

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% BRI HREMPERZAE 20%
Motor vehicles 25% HE 25%
The impairment loss for the plant and equipment as at 31 N20244 N 20233831 B ME LR EHWRE
March 2024 and 2023 were assessed with reference to a BIEEC2EEEMBNREELEEUNFERE
value-in-use calculation of the CGUs to which the assets BETHE  WERABEERS -
belong, no impairment loss is recognised.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 18. R AT HFAEBERZEMEE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recognised realised gain from wealth management
products of HK$664,000 (2023: HK$713,000).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

HEC024F3A3IHIEFE r AEENEH
EMEERIWIEL A664,0008 7T (20234
713,000/ L) °

9.8 EE

COST B A

As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

CARRYING AMOUNTS
As at 31 March 2024

As at 31 March 2023

The club membership is an intangible asset acquired from
third parties with indefinite useful life.

Club
membership
SRS
HK$’000
FET

MR2022F4 818 ~ 20233 A31H -
2023F4 518 K2024%F3A31H 1,280

ERmEE

R2024F3831H 1,280
R2023F3831H 1,280

224 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

AF)’TA%@FJQ"*_?ﬂﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁBETﬁﬁ%E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VAN
R A

B %5 ¥R R MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

20.

Impairment testing on club membership with

indefinite useful life

The club membership held by the Group is considered by
the directors of the Company as having indefinite useful life
because it is a life-time membership which has no explicit
legal life. The club membership will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite. Instead, they
will be tested for impairment annually and wherever there is
an indication that they may be impaired.

No impairment loss has been recognised for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the recoverable amount
was higher than the carrying amount. The recoverable
amount has been determined based on fair value of club
membership.

The fair value of the Group’s club membership at the
end of each reporting period have been determined by
the directors of the Company with by reference to recent
market prices for similar assets in similar transaction and
conditions.

LEASES
(i) Right-of-use assets

As at 1 April R4A1H
Addition NE

Derecognised upon entering into
sublease arrangements

Transfer upon early termination of
sublease arrangements

Depreciation e
Exchange realignment FE 5 2
As at 31 March M3H31H

The Group has leased arrangements for leased
properties (office premises and warehouses).
The lease terms are generally two to three years.
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$1,978,000 (2023: HK$7,386,000), due to new
leases of properties.

19

20.

BREEE#)

%gﬁ@mﬁmi%Z%ﬁ%%Zﬁﬁ
Uk
ARRBEERAKERBEZEMERABER
AERES DAEREMER /L BHPEELTE
FHNRGERE MRS I THE EEH
AERFHEERERMBL - TR HlEF
EREBEBRBRAIERERETRERR -

Bt H £ 20244 202338318 IFF E#E
REEEE REARAQRREEFRATKE S
HorEEE ke esBhIRESHREE

AFEER -

AEENEMEENETRERARZAFEIH
ARBELESERURGREHATHEEEN

BETH R AR I RERR

TR AT AR 1F 88 7H 22 PR B 8 43

HE
(i) EREEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
7,932 5,307
1,978 7,386
(917) (233)
221 =
(3,705) (4,392)
(44) (136)
5,465 7,932

AEBEHEME(NRASHMEE) W
HEZE HEHR-—MRAEWME=ZF -
HE2024F3ABIBILFEE  ARFHEE
VI FRAEBEEILING1,978,000% T
(20234 : 7,386,000/ 7T ) °
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
20. LEASES (continued) 20.HE (&)
() Right-of-use assets (Continued) (i) EREEE#)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group RNEE2024FE3A3IBILFEE » REEE]
entered into sublease arrangements classified as UnHEAEREHEMNEHTZE  RAed
finance lease and deemed disposal of the right-of- EFREEAELNI17,000/ T (20234
use assets of approximately HK$917,000 (2023: 233,000/ 70 ) R ER B E H & R WA
HK$233,000) and recognition of finance lease #31,270,0007 JT (20234 : 2,752,0007%
receivables of approximately of HK$1,270,000 (2023: L) EERALEFEREEEZWNZD
HK$2,752,000), resulting in gain on deemed disposal 353,000/ 7T (20234 : 2,519,000/ 7T) °

of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$353,000
(2023: HK$2,519,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of right-of- MR2024F3H31H  EEAHEMENTH
use assets was approximately HK$5,465,000 (2023: HEEMNRMEMEY A5,465,000/8 T (2023
HK$7,932,000) in respect of the leased properties. £ 17,932,000 7C) °
(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Non-current ERH 1,638 5,101
Current M 4,937 9,954
6,575 15,055
Amount payable under lease liabilities HEEEETENSE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 1 year 1F R 4,937 9,954
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FZE2F 1,638 3,958
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FE5F = 1,143
6,575 15,055
Less: Amount due for settlement o 1218 B REIHAR
within 12 months FEFRIB
(shown under current liabilities) (ERBABTER) (4,937) (9,954)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A & B BB A FE 5 5R0B
12 months 1,638 5,101
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#22024F3H31H 1L F /&
20. LEASES (continued) 20.HE (&)
(ii) Lease liabilities (Continued) (ii) HEEE#)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group HE2024F3A3IBIEFEE  AEEH
entered into a number of new lease agreements in HMEYET TS ESHBAERSE  WER
respect of renting properties and recognised lease HEABMEBLHA1,978,000/8 T (20234 :
liability of approximately HK$1,978,000 (2023: 7,386,0008 7T ) °

HK$7,386,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of lease M2024F3A31H r HEGBGEMNEREELY
liabilities was approximately HK$6,575,000 (2023: £6,575,000/%8 7L (20234 : 15,055,000/%5
HK$15,055,000). 7T e
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (iii) TERPRIANEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases S HIHESE A 887 282
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,705 4,392
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBEMABEMXZ 943 1,453
Gain on deemed disposal of RAEHEFEREEE
right-of-use assets 2z 353 2,519
(iv) Others (iv) EAfth
The total cash outflow for leases including interest HEZRGRNAERRHEAGEZFE
paid on lease liabilities and payment of lease liabilities EXNHEEEaEZHIELYHE12,284,000%
amount to approximately HK$12,284,000 (2023: JC (20234 : 11,854,000/ 7T ) °

HK$11,854,000).
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20. LEASES (continued)
(v) Financial lease receivables

20.f8 & (%)

(v) EHERWRE

Amounts receivable under
finance leases:

Within 1 year

After 1 year but within 2 years

Undiscounted lease payments
Less: Unearned finance income

Net investment in the lease

Undiscounted lease payments
analysed as:

Within 1 year

Over 1 year

Net investment in the lease analysed as:

Within 1 year
Over 1 year

The following table presents the amounts included in

profit or loss:

Loss on early termination of sublease
arrangements

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
MEHEEETEWFRIE :
1E AR 2,100 9,000
1FE2F - 2,250
FERBHEEN R 2,100 11,250
T R BRELELE WA - (596)
HEKREFH 2,100 10,654
RHBBEBEESRINS ¢
14E AR 2,100 9,000
HiE1F - 2,250
2,100 11,250
HEREFEIWNS -
1F AR 2,100 8,422
HiE1F - 2,232
2,100 10,654
TRENFABEZNEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
RATAR IEE AT B
=i} (253) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
entered into 1-year (20283: 2-year) sublease
arrangements as a lessor for certain office space to
its tenants.

The Group’s sublease arrangements do not include
variable payments.

The average effective interest rate contracted
approximately 9.21% (2023: 9.21%) per annum.

Management of the Company estimates the loss
allowance on finance lease receivables at the end of
the reporting period at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL. In determining the ECL of these receivables,
management of the Company taking into account the
historical default experience and the future prospects
of the industries in which the lessees operate, as
appropriate, in estimating the probability of default
of each of these receivables occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well
as the loss upon default in each case. ECL was not
recognised as the amount involved is insignificant
given that the low risk of default of such finance lease
receivables.

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY)

Deferred tax asset BELEHEEE
Deferred tax liability ELEHIEAE

B Z2024F3H31HIFFE
20. LEASES (continued) 20.HE (&)
(v) Financial lease receivables (Continued) (v) mﬂﬁ#ﬁhﬂﬁl& RIE (4% )

HE2024F3A3IBILEE REBES
PTHRARBEFEAFRPNETHAZTEME]
ST (20234 24 )EH L HE o

AEBNEHELZHEL IS ENK -

EHEEE RSN F
(2023¢ $9.21%) °

W BENEI21%

ARBEREBEFRNBERARNBRERE
FUFRERERGBEEEASR2HEY
FEEBE RETXFRUFENENE
EEAK  AAREHEENRBERBAOKL
BEEBEAMKETENRKAN R (WE
) - AR FRKRFAES BN ERAREE
RAFERRERABLEONREME - N
REBRATHEHNER ARZEFMEE
ERNFENRZORRERE  MPERL
TER WARERBHRERESLX -

EEBBREE(RE)

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
5,596 4116
(422) (864)
5,174 3,252

HHEREREERRAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY) 21.

(Continued)
The following is the major deferred tax asset and liability

EEREBEEE(RE) (#)

NTRREMMBEFERRANTIERTENRA

recognised and movements thereon during the current and BEREBELS
prior years:
Withholding
tax on
undistributed
profit of Impairment
subsidiaries on loan
in the PRC receivables Tax loss Total
e PN
RABRFIZ
EHH PEWE R E BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2022 M202264H41R (1,089) 11,581 2,084 12,576
Credited (charged) to profit or BPNCEI=PE -F
loss (Note 11) (Biat11) 225 (6,625) (2,084) (8,484)
Exchange realignment fE AR = (840) - (840)
As at 31 March 2023 72023F3 A31H (864) 4,116 - 3,252
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) & AEZS(HfF11) 343 1,454 - 1,797
Exchange realignment B 3 SR 99 26 S 125
As at 31 March 2024 M2024F3H31H (422) 5,596 - 5174
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY) 1. EEMBEE(RE) &)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unused tax loss of
approximately HK$136,955,000 (2023: HK$126,863,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the balance of
HK$136,955,000 (2023: HK$126,863,000) tax loss due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$328,000 (2023: HK$1,597,000) as at 31 March 2024
that will expire in five years from the dates they were
incurred. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has deductible
temporary differences derived from impairment of loan
and trade receivables of approximately HK$22,820,000
(2023: HK$17,118,000). A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to approximately HK$22,521,000
(2023: HK$16,639,000) of such temporary differences.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to remaining temporary differences of approximately
HK$299,000 (2023: HK$479,000) as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31 March
2024, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$37,898,000
(2023: HK$77,734,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

M2024%F3HA31H * & E K #136,955,000
7 7T (20234 : 126,863,000/%8 7T ) & 2 A i 18
FEETBERERREF - AR EFTEH
LATE B - UL E L 4582 136,955,0005%8 7T (2023
% 1 126,863,000/ )/ BE @ BB ERRE
IEFAEEE - 20243 A31H » AR EE
BEESNEESHSEAFTFARIBOEEY
328,000 JT (20234 : 1,597,000/ L) ° E
18 AT PR B A 6 o

M2024F3H31H  AEEEEERNLE HEK
SRIE R B B A R AT AR E B £ 88 922,820,000
770 (20234 117,118,000/ 7T ) - B EE
ZEREH22,521,000% 7T (20234 : 16,639,000/8
TL)BRELCEHEEE - BERBTEREZEY
299,000 JT (20234 : 479,000/ JT ) #E R IR i
REEE REZLTAAESA R RESE
AREHERB SR -

BIEBECEMERE - B2008F1H1A®E - R
EBARMRABRANE KK EEZMNE
i o 20244 3A31H R AEE 4L H# R
T EE R BEREENT R RRA
BEfrgRE MY ERTEKBARR;AF
JEAG 2 E B = ¥ #4937,898,00078 7T (20234
77,734,000 L )RR A B MERELIETER E
B o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
22. GOODWILL 22. 78
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET T
COST Jo#N
At the beginning and the end of R RFEEFYRFR
the financial year 12,845 12,845
IMPAIRMENT e
At the beginning and the end of REBBEEFENRER
the financial year (3,817) (3,817)
CARRYING AMOUNTS AREE
As at 31 March #R3A31H 9,028 9,028

For the purposes of impairment test, goodwill as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 has been allocated to a CGU, being
a subsidiary of the Company, Starlight Financial Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Starlight Financial”).

Starlight Financial

The recoverable amount of Starlight Financial has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation. In assessing
the valuation of the CGU, the management adopted
the income approach. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period, and a discount
rate of 9% (2023: 9%). Starlight Financial’s cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a pre-
tax 3% (2023: 3%) growth rate, which represents the long-
term inflation rate in the PRC. No impairment loss has
been recognised during the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 as directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the recoverable amount was higher than the carrying
amount.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change

in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of this CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

#H F2024F3H31HIFFZ

23.INVENTORIES

Goods held for resale

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Secured loans
Real estate-backed loans
Secured micro loans

Unsecured loans
Unsecured micro loans
Unsecured other loans

Interest receivables

Less: Allowances for loan and

interest receivables

Loan and interest receivables analysed
for reporting purpose as:

Non-current assets
Current assets

23.7 &
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
BIFEEE R 7,157 8,210
24 EWRERKEFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
BERBER
5 b R B K 25,728 31,324
BEBNEER 39,708 58,883
65,436 90,207
IR E R

| NEER 182,682 161,810
ERPEMBER 20,874 18,655
203,556 180,465
268,992 270,672
JE U FI) B 18,238 32,827
287,230 303,499

B B ERRF B B
(22,521) (16,645)
264,709 286,854

FUWEREFNBEREMRE W

=

IERBEE 28,854 29,456
MEEE 235,855 257,398
264,709 286,854

HHEREREERRAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24.FEWEFEFNE (&)
(Continued)
The average loan period as at the end of the reporting RBERARFEHERBALT -
period as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
Real estate-backed loans EihERBER 180 days to 180 days to
1 year 1 year
180K E1F 180K E14F
Secured and unsecured micro loans BEBEEEKHNEER 30 days to 30 days to
7 years 8 years
0RETE 30K EBEF
Other loans HEMER 180 days to 180 days to
6 years 5 years
180K £Z64F 180K 54
As at 31 March 2024, the loans provided to customers MRo024FE3A31H IR TFTEELPHNERESE
bore fixed interest rate at 0.3% to 3% per month (2023: o_3%§§3%(2023¢ g Ao0. 3%i3%)a’jlmﬂ
0.3% to 3% per month), and were repayable according to KRB WALKBERRZES -
the loan agreements.
As at 31 March 2024, included in the gross balances MROo024%F3H31H &8 aEUATENE
are loans of approximately HK$63,904,000 (2023: WEEEF N E R 463,904,000 jt (2023
HK$86,458,000) were secured by real estates in the PRC; F 1 86,458,000/ L) c LR BEEKBME
approximately HK$1,532,000 (2023: HK$3,749,000) X #1,5632,000 7% JT (2023 & : 3,749,000 /&
were secured by motor vehicles; and approximately ) FHAERA(BEBEE ) EZEROERD
HK$50,582,000 (2023: HK$76,760,000) were guaranteed 50,582,000 7T (20234 : 76,760,0005% 71 ) °
by guarantors (including related parties).
As at 31 March 2024, the Group held collaterals MROo024F3A31H ' AEEREBENTFTERLH
with value of approximately HK$229,270,000 (2023: BB A EEL229,270,0005 7T (2023 £F -
HK$291,216,000) over the financing advances to 291,216,000/ 7T ) WK @ -

customers.
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24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24.EWER KA E (&)

(Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance for loan and interest
receivables:

As at 1 April 2022 R2022F 4818

(Decrease) increase during the year A (4> ) & N
Write-off during the year 5 I 8
Exchange realignment ME 5, e B8

As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3831H

Increase during the year F I
Write-off during the year F 8
Exchange realignment b H SRR

As at 31 March 2024 202443 H31H

The increase in loss allowance for the year ended 31 March
2024 is due to the changes in loss rates resulting from
uncertainty in economic condition.

The following is an aged analysis of net loan and interest
receivables, presented based on the dates which loans are
granted to borrowers and interests are accrued:

B Uy B 0 R S 1R

Stage 3:
Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime
12-month Lifetime ECL - credit
ECL ECL impaired Total
FZRER
F—MER: EZRER: 2 HITEH
1218 A & 8 2 HIFAE FEEBEER
FEEE FEEE —-FERE #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEITL FHETL FHEITL FAET
2,024 11,290 37,482 50,796
(417) (1,794) 13,071 10,860
- (8,059) (33,572) (41,631)
(149) (860) (2,371) (3,380)
1,458 577 14,610 16,645
654 1,057 7,934 9,645
- (35) (2,757) (2,792)
(88) (42) (847) (977)
2,024 1,557 18,940 22,521

Within 90 days 90H K

91 - 180 days 91&180H
181 — 365 days 1812 365H
Over 365 days HiB365H
As at 31 March M3HA31H

HE2024F3A31B It FEMEBEMFEE INZH

RIS

SEECTES TR

NAEFERRARENERNRERNELRE
KA BOREMRE T

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
66,041 44,007
50,520 47,843
55,331 57,480
92,817 137,524
264,709 286,854

HHEREREERRAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

24.LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24.EWER KA E (&)

(Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, in HE2024F N2023F3A31BILFE RET
determining the ECL for these assets, the directors of the ZEEENEHEEEER  ARAEEDET
Company have taken into account the historical default FHTHBRTEANLBRUBERRL KRR E
experience, the financial position of the counterparties, BUREIAKLERETENRKEI= - T E
value of collaterals as well as the future prospects of the EZEEBRLEARZKEER 2 ZBINIEHRR - LA
industries in which the borrowers operate, considering G ZELsREESRERNEEEEIGERER
various external sources of actual and forecast economic CEAOBMERNELOBER -

information for estimating the probability of default of each
of these financial assets occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon and the loss upon default in

each case.
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or RASRE BEFHERERBREBBERMNBG
significant assumptions made during the current reporting RS EE N ERAREBREES -

period in assessing the loss allowance for loan receivables.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, an analysis of 20245 3A31H &2023F3A318 - BRER
the gross amount of loan and interest receivables is as LA BBESTWT
follows:
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
12024534310 #2023%43A31H
Stage 3: Stage 3:
Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime Stage 1: Stage 2: Lifetime
12-month Lifetime ECL - credit 12-month Lifetime  ECL - credit
ECL ECL  impaired Total ECL ECL impaired Total
EZRR: FoRR
E-Bg: #-EBR:  2HES F-RE: FZKR: 2HEH
12R%8 2HRE GEFEB RERRE  2EEH  FEHE

FEER REER -REAE #:t  REBE  FEER -RERE it
HKS$000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
FE7 FE7 FE7 FET TAT TAT TEL TAT

Gross amount; ok
Normal i 194,733 - - 194733 161,354 = - 161,354
Special Mention BiE - 13,012 - 13,012 = 53,264 = 53,264
Substandard iR - - 54,378 54,378 - - 82,327 82,327
Doubtful B4 - - 13,202 13,292 = = 6,190 6,190
Loss BRE - - 11,815 11,815 = = 364 364
194,733 13,012 79,485 287,230 161,354 53,264 88,881 303,499
During the year ended 31 March 2024, bad debts of HEC024F3A3NBILEFE  EEMBEERY
approximately HK$20,130,000 (2023: HK$9,042,000) 20,130,000/ Jr (20234 : 9,042,000 7T ) °

were directly written-off.
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25 . ES REMERFERES
AND DEPOSITS
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Trade receivables H 5 W FRIA 1,407 1,862
Less: loss allowance B B E T E (299) (473)
Net trade receivables 5 EWGRIEFRE 1,108 1,389
Payments in advance B RIE 698 1,223
Prepayments KN /TAIE 506 526
Deposits and other receivables & K HAth g Ue A 17,756 26,807
Total other receivables and deposits HuEW R ITBE RIS 58 18,960 28,556
Trade and other receivables and deposits & 5 & E i B TE KX & 20,068 29,945
Analysed as: DN A
Current mE 19,367 26,810
Non-current JFERE 701 3,135
Trade and other receivables and deposits & 5 & E fth g I X 18 R iR 4 20,068 29,945
Generally, the Group allows credit period of a range from 0 NEFB-MBETHELPHEZEHNF0EI0H -

to 30 days to its customers.
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND DEPOSITS (continued)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the
delivery dates, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period:

Within 30 days 30K

31 to 60 days 31260H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 91&180H
181 to 365 days 181%I365H
Over 365 days HBi#@365H
Total st

As at 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contract with customers
amounted to approximately HK$1,407,000 (2023:
HK$1,862,000).

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on
trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer basis.
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HibtBEWRERRE (#)

UTARBERRBINBEHARZ A (LB
W iR A MAE) 20 E 5 B UK E (F0k
RRBE) W RE DT

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
492 490

158 415

- 64

120 103

112 159

226 158
1,108 1,389

MR2024F3A31H BRFEFAHNEAEANE S EIK
TH 4858 A 491,407,000 7T (20234 : 1,862,000
BIT) o

AEBZHMEREEBRFEE S REIRNA
MEBREE BSRURFENEREEERE
REEEEMAT  ERN2EEBANEBEE
MR LEBANBRMBRRDON - LHE
BARERR BEHAEEMETENBEL
AR A R ¥R 5 B RS B A & BRI AR OR /O RF
fEEL R -

HRASERECEERERIRMTIRAER
HETBERATREBEERN  ERNEMRENE
BRETEE - IRAKETREFFHZHER

e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND DEPOSITS (continued)

Current (not past due) BNER (R )

0 - 90 days past due #AE0ZE90H

91 - 180 days past due AE91Z180H
181 - 365 days past due #51812365H
Over 1 year past due BERBIF
Total Bt

The expected loss rate is close to zero.

25. B R EMEWE

31 March 2024

RIERRE (#)

31 March 2023

2024%3A31A 20234 3H31H
Weighted Weighted
average Gross average Gross
expected carrying Loss expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance loss rate amount  allowance
miE¥H T
BHEEE SLREE 2 FBEREE EHEBEX:x LREE FEEG
% HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET % FET FHET
* 492 - * 490 -
* 158 - * 637 -
* 120 - ¥ 103 -
* 338 - ¥ 159 -
100% 299 299 100% 473 473
1,407 299 1,862 473
* EEEXRERE -

The movements in loss allowance of trade receivables are

as follows:

At the beginning of year
Write-off during the year

At the end of year

R EF A
F A 8

HEIRUHIBEREREEDHIWT

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
473 473
(174) =
299 473
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
26.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 26.0<E N A E &S
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of investment, unlisted K5 HH B K 2 —* o
Share of post-acquisition profit and W B8 1% 1| 58 A0 E A 2 T Uk 25 Y
other comprehensive income hEa —* -
Amounts due from associates FE W B 2 N R FE 298 290

*

*

The balance represents an amount less than HK$500. 8 D IRB5008 T ©

The amounts due from associates were unsecured, FEWBME AN B AERM @ KEERKE
interest-free and repayable on demand. i o
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2024 and B E2024%F N 2023FE3A31H - ANEBEEL N
2023 are as follows: BECEICECNE

Place of

establishment Class of Percentage of nominal value of registered capital and ~ Principal
Name of entity Form of entity  and operation shares held voting power held by the group activity
{24 157 RIREERE  FERHEN FRERGEREAAERRERADY IEED

Directly Indirectly
E# B
2024 2023 2024 2023

20245 20235 2024% 2023%

Telebox Technology Holdings Limited ~ Limited liability — Seychelles Registered capital 20% 20% 20% 20% inactive
(“Telebox’) and its subsidiary company
Telebox Technology Holdings Limited ~ REERAE  EEA iER e

([Telebox|) R 2B 1 F

The Group acquired 20% of the registered capital of 20184 + AEE UK E Telebox 20%H) 7 it & A&
Telebox in 2018 at a consideration of HK$156. As at 31 BB AE156/E T ° Bl 220244 202343 A 31
March 2024 and 2023, Telebox is inactive and the Group’s H > Telebox B R IEL & Ak - W B AREEHEH:Z
unrecognised loss of this associate is not significant. HENBNABERBRIATEK -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

27.

28.

29.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances RITH R

Cash in hand FHERE

Bank balances and cash IRITHEHRERS

Bank balances carries interest at prevailing market rate for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2028.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Sales of alcoholic beverages RS R R i B
Contract liabilities are mainly from sales of alcoholic
beverages. In general, the Group receives certain
percentage of the contract sum as advance payment from
the customers upon signing of the sales contracts. Receipt
in advance represented upfront payment receipt from
customers for agency services in loan financing business.

The changes in contract liabilities during the year ended
31 March 2024 were mainly due to the improvement in
management on purchases order and demand for agency
services from customers during the year.

27. Bt —BRERFHE
EUEZEAEER SORERBRMEE -

28-&&? n\l:l %&Iﬁuﬁ
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET TET
34,408 72,886
27 25
34,435 72,911

RE E2024F K2023E3A31B IEEE @ R1T
EHRIZRITMB A ERETE -

2 9 « 9 n’J E E
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
3,713 7,053

AHBBEIERAERRMFEE - —KRMEF @ &
SERRIHEANBEETPRIMANAEN
ETBEALEREAMNKE - RABFKETF®
& TRRYE AR5 B9 AR AR 7S W B A TR 5K

HE2024F3A31BILFEAHABZEFHEE
THREFARBREPHRBIIEMHEARERE
REIBREFTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\lj_\

R T

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

29.

30

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2024 that was included in the contract liabilities as at 31
March 2023 was approximately HK$7,053,000 (2023:
HK$12,534,000). There was no revenue recognised in the
current year that related to performance obligations that
were satisfied in a prior year. The directors of the Company
considered that the contract liabilities as at 31 March 2024
will be recognised as revenue in profit or loss within one year.

. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

29 = n\ljgﬁ/?m\

REE2024F3A31H It FEBRILET A2023
F3H3IHZEHNAEENKZEL A7,053,000%
70 (20234 :12,534,000/870) o AN F E W EER
R F—FEERBTEBOETEB ZHKE - &
NABEERBN2024F3A31ANAHNEEER
—FAREZTERBRE -

E5 Kk HAEMNRE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Trade payables B 5 EMNRIE 3,625 3,831
Other payables and accruals ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘éﬁmlﬁ)}ﬁ’éﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ 7,770 15,470
Amounts due to related parties FEA R A LR 1,334 -
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E fth B IR 12,729 19,301

All trade and other payables (including amounts due to
related parties) are expected to be settled or recognised as
income within one year or are repayable on demand. The
amounts due to related parties are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

Within 30 days 30BN

31 to 60 days 31£60H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 91£180H
181 to 365 days 1812 365H
Over 365 days HiAm365H
Total st

The average credit period on purchases of goods
ranged from 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk
management in place to ensure that all payables are
settled within the credit timeframe.
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MEBRZ MEMENFIR(BEEMNEEEALR
F)BEABE-—FAEERBIARKRALERE
REE  BNBEEALTREREERR REKA

IWTARBRESRRIZEZEAHZINNE 5 EN
FIERERER D 1T ¢
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
36 1,510
33 483
11 344
102 730
1,770 320
1,673 444
3,625 3,831
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31.LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING 31.RE—B*FEBRBREZEXK

SHAREHOLDER

The amount of approximately HK$75,654,000 (2023:
HK$80,838,000) with fixed interest rate of 4% (2023: 2%)
per annum was guaranteed by Mr. Ting, a controlling
shareholder of the Company and is repayable within one
year.

On 6 June 2022, the Company, as an issuer, entered into
an option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with SRA
Holdings Inc. (“SRA Holdings”), as subscriber, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to grant
an option to SRA Holdings, entitling SRA Holdings to
require the Company to allot and issue up to a maximum
of 85,922,330 option shares at option price of HK$1.03
per Share subject to the terms and conditions stated in
the Option Agreement upon the exercise of the option. As
at the date of Option Agreement, Wine Financier Limited,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
was indebted to SRA Holdings, in the principal amount
of JPY1,500,000,000 (the “Loan”) which was due for
repayment on 30 September 2021. In consideration of the
Company agreeing to enter into the Option Agreement
to grant the option to SRA Holdings, SRA Holdings has
agreed to extend the maturity date of the Loan to 30
September 2023. The grant of option was subsequently
completed and the loan extension become unconditional
on 283 August 2022. The option period had ended on
30 September 2023 and none of the option had been
exercised. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Option Agreement, the option had lapsed automatically
upon the expiration of the option period on 30 September
2028.

475,654,000 7T 2 B (20234 :80,838,000
BIT)AARERRR T EAER - BEEEFE
B4%(2023%F : 2% )W HE—FANEE -

MR2022F6A6H + AAR({EA%EITA)HESRA
Holdings Inc.([ SRA Holdings |) ({fE &R E A)
FIuERERE((BREBR] - Bt - AAA
BB 4R E & R4 i SRA Holdings & #
BB AR 15 5% FT S IR B AR R AT (E B AR
FRERAQNAIRBREERESTR1.038 L%
N 3175 % 85,922,330 lE IR AR 1D - RIEAR
EHEAY BBEERAR  ARQAMH—EHE
B2 ENE QA - 4 XSRA HoldingsAx & 58
#1,500,000,0008 Bl E R (B ) B 72021
FOASHEIHEE - EEEARFREFME
fi% # 1 3% LA W SRA Holdings#% - & J& # - SRA
HoldingsE R B & E R8I A £20234F 9 H 30
H o BREMNELBEEZN2022F8A23H E K
WEERTERKAEEGD BREBARER
2023F QA0 R M EM M IEREETE - 1B
BRI R RSN - BRI 20235
ORAS0RMEMRHEERMR E MR 8 B KK -
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31.

LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER (continued)

As at the date of the Second Option Agreement, Wine
Financier Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, was indebted to SRA Holdings in the
Loan which was due for repayment on 30 September
2023. In consideration of the Company agreeing to enter
into the Second Option Agreement to grant the option to
SRA Holdings, SRA Holdings has agreed to extend the
maturity date of the Loan to 30 September 2024. The
grant of option was subsequently completed and the
loan extension become unconditional on 5 December
20283. On 3 October 2023, the Company, as an issuer,
entered into a second option agreement (the “Second
Option Agreement”) with SRA Holdings, as a subscriber,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to grant an option to SRA Holdings, entitling SRA Holdings
to require the Company to allot and issue up to a maximum
of 85,922,330 option shares at option price of HK$1.03
per Share subject to the terms and conditions stated in
the Second Option Agreement upon the exercise of the
option. For further details of the Second Option Agreement
and the Loan, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 7 November 2023 and the announcements of the
Company dated 3 October 2023, 24 November 2023 and
5 December 2023.

The effective interest rate of the Loan is 5.04% (20283:
16.36%) per annum.
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S1.RE—BFERBRRZER (&)

—HhERERZES BEEBERAT
ZlKZ\\jE@_FEﬁFEﬁTfaFEZéMTJLEZ\\E 45 R SRA
Holdings M 3% B ;X © K 202349 A 301 X HiE
B oZRIARRREBILFE _MHERERZH
LA M SRA Holdings# i & iz # - SRA Holdings
BRBEREREEBAE2024F9A30H - B
R EBEEZENR20283F12A5ATK T AEER
IEHARK AR - 20234108 3H @ AR A
(e A% 17 A ) B SRA Holdings(1E &R A )T
VYEZhEREDZ((E-H0BREHE]) -
B AR EEBKGRER L ERERSRA
Holdings B #ER 15 8 — 0 M AR 15 % FT 5 G 3 &
BHERITEBRERZRAQAIRBREES
&A% 1.037%8 JUiic 8 & 3 17 & % 85,922,330 IE
RN BEE-HDEREHEZRERNF
B B2HA AR HAA2023F11 A7HH B K
2023108 3H - 2023411 524 H K 20234
12A5BMAE -
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32.

33.

BORROWINGS

Other borrowings SWIREEN

The other borrowings are all repayable within one year.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s other
borrowings are as follows:

Other borrowings

All the other borrowings are at fixed rates.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$24,992,000
(2023: HK$39,992,000) which bore interest at fixed rate.
The fixed rate of other borrowings carried interest at
12% per annum and contained a repayable on demand
clause. These borrowings are secured by the Company’s
interest in 77% of the entire issued share capital of Hackett
Enterprises Limited (“Hackett”) and personal guarantee
provided by Mr. Ting, the substantial shareholder of the
Company.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued convertible bonds with zero coupon
rate at a total principal value of HK$150,000,000 (“CB”)
on 28 July 2017 to Bartha Holdings Limited (“Bartha
Holdings”). The convertible bonds entitled the holder
thereof to convert 136,363,636 shares in the Company at
the conversion price of HK$11 per share (after adjusted for
share consolidation on 20 January 2022).

32.

33.

& FX
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
24,992 39,992
HEMERANR —FREE -
AEBEMERNERANEHEEDT -
2024 2023
20245 20234

12% per annum

FFE12%

12% per annum
FE12%

FrBEEM BRI REEMNEFTE -

M2024F3H31H  EMERNEEEBEN R
24,992,000 7T (20234 : 39,992,000 JT ) A
BEFEE B o Efbfg sk AEEFFE12%E
B UBEEREXKEEKRR SLEEHREAQA
LAHackett Enterprises Limited([ Hackett]) & &8
EBETRANT7T%EERRFNEERRT %
ARENEAERRERER -

AR ES

KA B 72017 % 7 A 28 B [ Bartha Holdings
Limited ([ Bartha Holdings |) 317 7T T Z 8 #
AR ES - ANe 4 A150,000,000 7T ([ 7
BREFR]) R ESFFBEAEEATR
ST i (B 5 5 136,363,6360% A A A % {5
(FR2022F 1 A20B TR A G HAER) -
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 33.AMBRES (&)

The fair value of the convertible bonds as at 28 July 2017
was valued by an independent valuer at HK$271,290,000.
The convertible bonds comprise a liability component and
an equity conversion component.

The fair value of the convertible bonds as a whole is
determined by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.
The fair value of the liability component of the convertible
bonds is calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate
based on an equivalent market interest rate of 9.23%
per annum for equivalent non-convertible bonds using
market comparable approach. The initial carrying amount
of the equity component is determined by deducting the
estimated legal and professional fee and fair value of the
liability component from the fair value of the convertible
bonds, which is included in the “Convertible bonds — equity
conversion reserve” under reserve of the Company.

CB has been settled on its maturity date during the
year ended 31 March 2023 by certain loan and interest
receivables and the remaining balance are transferred to
amount due to a shareholder.

The movement of liability component of the convertible
bonds is as follows:

Liability component as at 1 April 2022
Add: Effective interest expense hn
Less: Redemption at maturity pEaE

Liability component as at 31 March 2023 and 2024
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R2022FEAR1R 2B ESH
BERANERX
Z| HAEE [0

AR ESR2017F7A28B 2 A ETYH B L
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ABREESFCcAFEESBEIEB -ZREAH
REBRABET AREEFAGEIZAF
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the Company
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FHT
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 4.7THEE®MIA

INSTRUMENTS
Summary of the Group’s derivative financial
instruments is as follow:

Call option written to the ultimate holding

company of a non-controlling shareholder RNE B
Changes in fair value: NEEZE
— Call option — gt
- Put option —Roh B

Call option written to the ultimate holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder

On 6 June 2022, the Company, as an issuer, entered into
the Option Agreement with SRA Holdings, as subscriber,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to grant an option to SRA Holdings, entitling SRA
Holdings to require the Company to allot and issue up to
a maximum of 85,922,330 option shares at option price
of HK$1.03 per share subject to the terms and conditions
stated in the Option Agreement upon the exercise of
the option. As at the date of Option Agreement, Wine
Financier Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, was indebted to SRA Holdings, in the
principal amount of JPY1,500,000,000 which was due for
repayment on 30 September 2021. In consideration of the
Company agreeing to enter into the Option Agreement
to grant the option to SRA Holdings, SRA Holdings has
agreed to extend the maturity date of the Loan to 30
September 2023. The grant of option was subsequently
completed and the loan extension became unconditional
on 23 August 2022. The option period had ended on
30 September 2023 and none of the option had been
exercised. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Option Agreement, the option had lapsed automatically
upon the expiration of the option period on 30 September
2023.

AEEMESRMIAEZHMENT :

— % FRIE AR A R R AR R Y

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
29 9

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
660 12,273

= 1,365

660 13,638

—BFERBRRNIERERAFAZBERE

M2022%F6H6R KRR ({EAEITA)ESRA
Holdings ' tEARBA STV BEREDRZ - B
- ARQBE BIEERER R MmSRA
Holdings A # 1R 1 i IR # 155 52 FT 71 16 3 I A& 1
RITEERERERAQRIZEREERER
1.037% 7T B2 % M % 17 & % 85,922,330 % f# Az #&
f1p - REEREGZBE  BEEBER AR -
AARM—HEZEIEZENB AR - £ KXSRA
Holdings 2 & %8 /4 1,500,000,000 H Bl E K B
M2021FQHB0REIEAEE - tERARAIRER]
37 B8 A% 4 5 5% DA A1 SRA Holdings#% i B8 A% 4 49
KB  SRA HoldingsE REXEREREHAZE
2023 9HA30H - B AR A 5 I BE1& 7R 20224 8
B23AFERI B ERIEIK B EKRMED - B
REEAMR B R 202349 A 30 H 4 R N 42 (T {a] BE A 4%
BATHE o BIRARE R R GRFEY - BARERT
202349 A 30H s % 1 HARR fE M B B BY 2R3 ©
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 34.9TEEM I E (#)

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Call option written to the ultimate holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder
(Continued)

On 3 October 2023, the Company, as an issuer, entered
into the Second Option Agreement with SRA Holdings,
as a subscriber, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to grant an option to SRA Holdings,
entitling SRA Holdings to require the Company to allot
and issue up to a maximum of 85,922,330 option shares
at option price of HK$1.03 per share subject to the terms
and conditions stated in the Second Option Agreement
upon the exercise of the option. As at the date of the
Second Option Agreement, Wine Financier Limited, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
was indebted to SRA Holdings in the Loan which was due
for repayment on 30 September 2023. In consideration
of the Company agreeing to enter into the Second Option
Agreement to grant the option to SRA Holdings, SRA
Holdings has agreed to extend the maturity date of the
Loan to 30 September 2024. The grant of option was
subsequently completed and the loan extension become
unconditional on 5 December 2023. For further details of
the Second Option Agreement and the Loan, please refer
to the circular of the Company dated 7 November 2023
and the announcements of the Company dated 3 October
2023, 24 November 2023 and 5 December 2023.

The fair value of the call option is determined based on
the valuation conducted by an independent valuer on
the call option as at 23 August 2022 and 5 December
20283. The call option is presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position as a liability recorded at fair
value with subsequent changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income at each reporting date as a gain
(loss) on change in fair value on remeasurement of the
option liability.

248 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

—BHEBRBRRIKRERAFAZBERE

(%)

M2023F10H3H + "R A (EAEITA)ESRA
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Call option written to the ultimate holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder
(Continued)
The fair value of the call option at initial recognition and
the end of the reporting period are determined by using
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The significant inputs to the
model were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Risk free rate

£ [3 b M)

Expected volatility

T8 HA R 18

Year to maturity

FEFR

Share price of the Company
KRB ZRE

The fair value of the call option is determined based on
the valuation conducted by an independent valuer, on the
call option as at 5 December 2023 (“Second Call options
Valuation”). The fair value of the call option is determined
by Binomial Option Pricing Model of approximately
HK$680,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Risk free rate

£ [ P ) &

Expected volatility

8 B 18

Year to maturity

FEFR

Share price of the Company
RRRZRE

4.7TEE®M I A (&)

—BHERBRRIERERAFAZBERE

(&)

BERENRFEER
AR EER
WABBENT :

Y125 W SR M ¥ B K BB
BETF ZFBEAZEKR

HZ2024%3A31HILEE

Initial recognition
NSwA

5 December 2023
20234 12A5H

4.39%

4.39%
124.42%
124.42%
0.82 year

0.824F
HK$0.16
0.1678 7T

EREMNAFEASENB LA ERMY ERE
MR2028F 12 AsEHMME(IE=-NEREMLE])
ETHGHERN BRENATFEEEARBC-
THEiRE FEEEAERA - £9/45680,000/ 7T ©

B Z2023%3A31HILEE

Initial recognition
R

23 August 2022

202298 H23H

2.84%
2.84%
54.38%
54.38%
1.1 year
1.1
HK$0.89
0.89% 7T
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 4.7TEE®M I AR (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Call option written to the ultimate holding —ZIERRRNBERERA T ZEBRE
company of a non-controlling shareholder (4&)
(Continued)
The fair value of the call option is determined based on the EREMNAFEARERNB LA ERYERE
valuation conducted by an independent valuer, on the Call R2022F 8 H23H M HE([BREME ) ETH
option as at 23 August 2022 (“Call options Valuation”). RN  -BRENATEESBBE _HBE
The fair value of the Call option is determined by Binomial EEEAERE - £9/512,282,0008 7T °

Option Pricing Model of approximately HK$12,282,000.

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
20244 3H31H 20234 3H31H

Risk free rate 4.53% 2.84%

[ Bz 1| = 4.53% 2.84%
Expected volatility 112.14% 56.62%
& B R 18 112.14% 56.62%
Year to maturity 0.5 year 0.5 year
FEFR 0.5%F 0.5%F
Share price of the Company HK$0.13 HK$0.32
KRR ZRE 0.138 T 0.327 7T
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group REZE2024FE3A831BILEE » KEBRBIZAF
recognised gain on change in fair value of financial liability Bt \EBFzeaaBE s A TEEHERIKZE
at FVTPL amounted to approximately HK$660,000 (2023: S FE#H A660,000 7T (20234 : 12,273,0007%
HK$12,273,000). TT) °
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35.

36.

SHARE CAPITAL 35. &
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE [N
HK$’000
FAET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.01BTZEER
Authorised: JERE
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R2022F 418 * 2023%F
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, 3A31H : 2023%F4A1H
of HK$0.01 each K 2024 3H31H8 -
FREE0.01E T 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRBEAR
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, M2022F4H1H - 20234
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, 3A31H * 2023%F481H
of HK$0.01 each 2024 3H31H -
FREE.O1E T 623,127,227 6,231
PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLES 36.FBEfEHEE

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding principal amount of
the promissory note (“PN”) of HK$65,595,000 was due for

MR2022F3A31H  REEZEALEER([ER
ER|)KS % AE65595000F8TEHEHESE - RB

settlement. On 1 April 2022, the maturity date of PN was P2022F 4A1H AR EHEMNIBPBAERIESR

extended for 1 year to 29 March 2023 and was redeemed

early on 16 June 2022.

As at 1 April 2022

Less: discounting effect of extension
of PN on 1 April 2022

Add: effective interest expenses

Less: early redemption

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024

R20229F4/81H
o 2022F 4 A1 H AN BB

AT HA &9 B 3R e
e E'ERAEMAX
e ?mﬁl BE o

2023F3H29B R 2022F6 A 16 HIERE[D

Total
#at
HK$’000
FAET

65,595
(1,365)

1,365
(65,595)

HN2023%F K 2024 3H31H

HHEREREERRAF

F452023/24 251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RS ¥R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

37. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following major non-cash
transactions:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
entered into new lease arrangement in respect of
property. Right-of-use asset and lease liability of
approximately HK$1,978,000 was recognised at
the commencement dates of the leases (2023:
HK$7,386,000).

(o) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group entered into sublease arrangements
and derecognised the right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$917,000 (2023: HK$233,000)
and recognition of finance lease receivables of
approximately HK$1,270,000 (2023: HK$2,752,000)
and resulting in gain on deemed disposal of right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$353,000 (2023:
HK$2,519,000).

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
early redeemed the promissory note on 16 June
2022. The Group recognised gain on change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments amounted to
approximately HK$1,365,000 as it was lapsed upon
early redemption of promissory note.
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37.XEHFBRERH
RERS BB IRR AR TS - AL EG N
TEBHRERS

(@) REE2024F3A31IHILFE » KEBET
VITEBBEEVENTRERS - NHEER
HHHBEERETAREEATEEARBEAY
1,978,000 7t (20234 :7,386,000/8 7T ) °

(b) B E2024F3H31BHILFE r AEBE
FIVEHTHYREEREAEEED
917 0007 7T (20234 : 233,000/ 7T ) M fE
DEEEEBEREWRIEA1,270,000/% 7T
(20234 : 2,752,000/ ) EEBR AL E
i PR 4 B BE W 25 49353,00078 7T (20234 :
2,519,000/ 7T ) °

(c) B E2023F3A31BHILFEE @ KEB &
HEBENR2022F6A16HIZRER - K%
WﬁiﬁmiﬂﬁuWE%)D;%—E}E}EE,E%
kB A FEEZHERRESBHA
1,365,000/ 7T ©
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 38.HE—BEMHE QT
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31BLLFE
Rosy Market Holdings Limited BWRERERAT
On 14 April 2022, a disposal of Rosy Market Holdings MN2022F 48148  NERBE EXRE ER
Limited (the “Target Company”), which was indirect EE2EWB AR ERERERA AT (BEERD
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group was entered ) e REBER2022F4 148 TR Ll (&
into at a consideration of Nil. The Group no longer had % THEBEBEARNIEHE LHEER  KEER
control over the Target Company after the completion BB HEWEE1,253,000 T ' IKEBEHEEE
of abovementioned disposal on 14 April 2022. Following JRENBEARZABTFE  BHEIBRITE
the disposal, the Group recorded a gain on disposal of IR & N H A FE 2 491,253,000 JT ©

HK$1,253,000, calculated by taking into the net liabilities
of the Target Company comprising bank balances and
cash and other payables of approximately HK$1,253,000.

The net liabilities of the Target Company disposed of at the EHEREARNEERHMNEaEFENT ¢
date of disposal are as follows:
HK$’000
FET
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 3
Amount due to fellow subsidiary FER R Z B AR (1,256)
(1,253)
Gain on disposal of the Target Company HEBEQATAMYE 1,253
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HERELENESRALFE
Bank balances and cash disposed of EHERITEHRERS (3)

SEARREESRAT F£5202324 253
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B E2024F3A31HIFFE
39. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 39. B KEREHE
Hong Kong &8

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs and up to maximum of HK$1,500
per month for each employee to the scheme, to which the
same amount of contribution is matched by employees.

The PRC

Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by
the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the required contributions.

There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset
employers’ contributions for the year. The employers’
contributions which have been dealt with in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income were as follows:

Employers’ contributions charged to the
consolidated statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
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AEBASHEMEAERBERERERTEES
g ZAEMBEERAEEEEIHARTE - X
HEXTANRESEE - AEERABIEXAS
B5% N &% & HA1,5008 T REMIEES M EIH#
R EEEFLHEREE -

T E
FEMBARZEEDATERFLENBER
BERARBANGFENKE - HBEBRAARFT
RARXR—FEABDLLARAKBHNEEELEN
WK - AKEHRARBHNAIZE-—BE/E
HEE 2K -

RAFE SERUNHFTANEHERE ZH#
H-BEGGBERAREMEZARSERANEBER
BEHERZRMOT :

AR REME®E
Wak & BB E R

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
2,128 2,245
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40. RIS
TRANSACTIONS
The Company has conditionally adopted a share RIBEARRBIRER20156F9A21H BB 2 EME R
option scheme pursuant to a written resolution of the R CARAEBBRUERMBRESE(TBR

shareholders of the Company passed on 21 September BiaE ) LA EBRELEERZEEB B A
2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of TREHB S ER LS EAEBER KR
providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons for BEFAAUALEIIHAEEMSAEBEZA
their contribution to the Group and/or enabling the Group TER -

to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract

human resources that are valuable to the Group.

On 17 December 2015, the Company granted an
aggregate of 18,100,000 share options to the grantees
of the Company, to subscribe, in aggregate, for up to
18,100,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company under the Share Option Scheme.

Upon the share subdivision becoming effective on 8
November 2016, adjustments had been made to the
exercise price of the outstanding share options and the
number of subdivided shares to be allotted and issued (the

P2015F 128178 » AR ARIBEBRET 8 ®
& 2£18,100,000f% BEAZ # T A 2 Bl AR A
LAREBARRQAIRAFRE £ &% 18,100,000% &
S EEO.01E TR @A -

BIRDIFMANR2016FE11 ASHBEEME - BT
WHEAERRITEBBRE 2 TEERRBHET
FEEATEBEREMNS 2 RBEERE TRER
BT 2D (TR A DEB EHFAE -

“Subdivided Share(s)”) upon full exercise of subscription
rights attaching to the outstanding share options in the
following manner:

Immediately before the share Immediately after the share
subdivision becoming effective subdivision becoming effective

BERAFAERA EBEROFRERE
Number of Adjusted Adjusted
shares number of exercise
to be issued Exercise Subdivided price per
under granted price per Shares Subdivided
share options share option to be issued Share

&

ERHBRE BRAEKT BRARER
BFRTZ BHBRE BiTZ HAR G
Date of grant REBEH 10 & B THEE RARGEE THEE
17 December 2015 2015F12817H 18,100,000 HK$8.00 181,000,000 HK$0.80
8.00 T 0.80/8 T

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged. Details
of the adjustments to the share options upon the share
subdivision having become effective are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2016.

Br LN - RIBERESEEL 2H KT
FERECMEEMBERRGGOEFIE -
EHERBRODIFAEREHEREZFAESFBED
RARBBEA2016F11A7THZAEHIEE -

SHARREEGRAT F£H202324 255
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40.RBNERRS (&)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

On 3 April 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of
219,000,000 share options to the employees, directors
and consultants of the Company, to subscribe, in
aggregate, for up to 219,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
at exercise price of HK$1.89 each per then issued
share of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 April 2018.

On 17 August 2018, an ordinary resolution was passed
by the Company’s shareholders to refresh the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme, such that
the maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company
that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of share
options which may be granted by the Company under the
scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 428,330,871
shares, being 10.0% of the total number of the then issued
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the
resolution approving the said refreshment.

On 13 December 2018, the Company granted an
aggregate of 48,000,000 share options to the consultants
of the Company, to subscribe, in aggregate, for up to
48,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at exercise
price of HK$1.12 each per then issued share of the
Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 13 December 2018.

On 6 December 2019, the Company granted an aggregate
of 355,400,000 share options to the employees, directors
and consultants of the Company, to subscribe, in
aggregate, for up to 355,400,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at exercise price of HK$0.207 each per then
issued share of the Company. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 6 December
2019.
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R2018F4A3H » ARAIRARREE S
N BB % H A $£219,000,000 A% B8 A% # - A%
RARERITEESR1.89ETRE AR K
R & H 5 %219,000,0000% & A% H 15 0.001 7
THEBRR - -BHEFE  H2HAQAREHA
2018F4A3H Z A% »

M2018F8A17H * A AR RBB T —HE®
RER  UENMETERETS THER®E
RE UWEAARBEBEEFECENTR TE
B ETEERERTURRMBEITAR
AT @R R A E B428,330,8710% - ARt
HEENBEHETMARAZERBAEANEARAAE
BT AR EM10.0% ©

M2018F 124138 » AR A AR R A BB &
i & #£ 48,000,000 % FERR # » IR A Q& E
BITFEESRII2ELRBARAGEARS
48,000,000 ELi@A% - BEEFFIE - F2HAQF
HHIA2018F 12 A13A 2 A& °

B2019F12A6H » ARARIAAREEE - EZ
N FARS % A $£355,400,000% 88 B - LAIR AR
NAEBTEEER0207ETRBEAARS K
& % 355,400,000/% L @Ak - BAEFIE - B2 H
NATRBHEA2019F12A6H 2 A% »
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B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

On 31 July 2020, an ordinary resolution was passed
by the Company’s shareholders to refresh the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme, such that
the maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company
that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of share
options which may be granted by the Company under the
scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 519,272,689
then issued shares of the Company, being 10.0% of the
total number of the then issued shares of the Company as
at the date of passing of the resolution approving the said
refreshment.

Upon the share consolidation becoming effective on
20 January 2022, adjustments had been made to the
exercise price of the outstanding share options and the
number of consolidated shares to be allotted and issued
(the “Consolidated Share(s)”) upon full exercise of
subscription rights attaching to the outstanding share
options in the following manner:

Immediately before the share
consolidation becoming effective

40. R FRRZ (&)

M2020F7H31H  AARBREBBAT —HLRE
RER  UNENMETERETE THERE
RE UEARAREBEENETENAUKTE
R EIET R ER A UARBEMETARR
FERMRMDEANEE R519,272,689% & i@
B BRI E LTI ENETHAZRBAEH
B EITRMBER10.0% -

B & B 2022F1 A20B £ 5% - B8 T4
FREBATEEREZITEEBERIREBHTE
EWATEBEREN S 2 REEES TRE K%
TZzaRe(TE6RM DEE ER AR

Immediately after the share
consolidation becoming effective

RERGAHENRA ZERBEHENR
Number of Adjusted Adjusted
shares number of exercise
to be issued  Exercise price Consolidated price per
under granted per share Shares to be Consolidated
share options option issued Share
%

R A BRE RBEKT RAEER
BFETRZ TRERE BiT2EH AR5
Date of grant RHBH BROEE TEE BROEE TEE
17 December 2015 2015F 12178 181,000,000 HK$0.800 18,100,000 HK$8.00
0.8007%& 7T 8.00/ T
3 April 2018 2018 4H3H 198,900,000 HK$1.890 19,890,000 HK$18.90
1.8907% 7T 18.90% 7T
13 December 2018 201812 13H 48,000,000 HK$1.120 4,800,000 HK$11.20
1.120/8 7T 11,208 7T
6 December 2019 2019F 12 A6H 80,400,000 HK$0.207 8,040,000 HK$2.07
0.207%8 7T 2.07ETT

508,300,000 50,830,000

EUREREMERAT £H2023/24 257
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme remain unchanged. Details
of the adjustments to the share options upon the share
consolidation having become effective are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2022.

On 9 August 2022, an ordinary resolution was passed
by the Company’s shareholders to refresh the scheme
mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme, such that
the maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company
that can be allotted and issued upon the exercise of share
options which may be granted by the Company under the
scheme mandate limit so refreshed would be 62,312,722
shares, being 10.0% of the total number of the then issued
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the
resolution approving the said refreshment.

On 23 August 2022, the Company granted an aggregate
of 85,922,330 option shares under the specific mandate
(the “Specific Mandate”), to SRA Holdings, to subscribe,
in aggregate, for up to 85,922,330 ordinary shares of the
Company at exercise price of HK$1.03 per share upon the
exercise of the option pursuant to the Option Agreement
entered into between the Company and SRA Holdings
dated 6 June 2022. The option period had ended on 30
September 2023 and no option had been exercised. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 9 August 2022 and 23 August 2022 and the circular
of the Company dated 19 July 2022.

On 5 December 2023, the Company granted an aggregate
of 85,922,330 option shares under the Specific Mandate,
to SRA Holdings, to subscribe, in aggregate, for up to
85,922,330 ordinary shares of the Company at exercise
price of HK$1.03 per share upon the exercise of the option
pursuant to the Second Option Agreement entered into
between the Company and SRA Holdings dated 3 October
2023. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 3 October 2023 and 5 December 2023
and the circular of the Company dated 7 November 2023.
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40. R FRRZ (&)

B EMARIN  BEBERETSELZHART
FHEREZMEEMERRIGGEZTE -
BRROEHERBEBEREZFAEFBEER
KABHEA2022F1F18B 2 AEHRHE -

MN2022%F8 A0 - ARAIRE@EBT —HELE
RER  UENETERETS THER®Z
RE UEARFREBEENETENAUKTE
REFSTTEERERUURBMBETAR
REBEBONSZAERE B62,312,7220% © ARt
BELNBHETMNAZERBRAEANARAE
BITRMBEMN10.0% °

R 2022F 8 A23H + ANA RIR R HEF R ([ 45 51
& # |) 1 SRA Holdings#% H} & #£85,922,330%
BRERD  URTEBRESREAAQFHE
SRA Holdingsi 20224 6 A6 H % 7] # I8 % # 1
HRETEESR1I.0BETRBEARAG RS
85,022,330 L imfx o AR EHIR B 120234
QABORKE RN EB R EEITMHE - BHFE &
2B AR F B AE2022F8 A9H K 202248 A
283H 2 AE K2022F7 A19H 2K -

#2028F 12858 » AR AR IR 45 B 1% 7 [ SRA
Holdings#% i & ££85,922,330 I% B8 AX #E R 15 -
LA 74 17 {68 % A% 4 05 4R 38 S 2 7] B SRA Holdings
N2023F10ASHEME_HIBEREHZ
RIFEESER1IGBEILREARFTNALERS
85,922,330 L@k - EMFFIE HRHALQF
BHEIA2023F 10430 K2023F 12 A5H Z A&
K2023F11A7TH 2B K °
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40. R Z (#)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the number of share options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme and the Specific Mandate were
50,370,000 share options (31 March 2023: 50,630,000
share options) and 85,922,330 option shares (31
March 2023: 85,922,330 option shares) respectively,
representing approximately 8.1% (31 March 2023: 8.1%)
and 13.8% (31 March 2023: 13.8%) of the total number of
shares in issue as at 31 March 2024. Fair value of share
options granted to consultants was measured at market
prices for their services provided.

No share-based payment expenses was recognised by
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 in relation to
share options granted by the Company (31 March 20283:
Nil).

Details of the Company’s share options held by grantees
are as follows:

MR2024F3A31H  BREAERERET
EREEDNARTENBRENEBRHDEE
7 Bl £50,370,000 % % A% # (202343 A 311
50,630,000 A% fE A% # ) & 85,922,330 % B A% #
f% 17 (202343 A 31 H : 85,922,330 4% B A% 4 A%
7)) HERARXGR2024FE3831HETRGD
BHE#H8.1%(2023F3A31H :8.1%) % 13.8%
(20234 3HA31H : 13.8%) - AR KR L 2B’
ERAFEDRESRERE 2 MENE -

HEC024F3A3IBILEE  REBIERAR
A A BE AR R AR (9 15 T 2 2 FERR (20234
3A31H &) o

Outstanding

Outstanding as at

Category of as at 31 March

participant Date of grant 1 April 2023 2024

R2023F4818 R2024%3F31A

28HENE REAH R ITE HRTE

Shareholders 17 December 2015 2,100,000 2,100,000
&Y 2015% 12178

Consultants 17 December 2015 16,000,000 16,000,000
Ef 2015% 12178

Directors 3 April 2018 560,000 560,000

2% 2018%4A3H

EBREABEARARA 2 BREFBOT :
Exercise price
Vesting period Exercise period per share
FEH i BROEE
17 December 2015 to 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00
16 June 2016 16 December 2025
2015128176 % 2016F6717EE 8.008 T
2016467 16H 2025% 123168
17 December 2015 to 17 June 2016 to HK$8.00
16 June 2016 16 December 2025
2015 12A17HE 2016F6A17HE 8.00%8 T
2016467 16H 20254127 16H
3 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to HK$18.90
31 December 2018 2 April 2028
2018F4A38% 2019F1F1HE 18.908 L
2018F 127318 20284728

HHEREREERRAF

£472023/24 259
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Category of
participant

SRENR

Employees

E&

Consultants

BR

Consultants

L

Directors

%

Directors

g%

Consultants

B

Date of grant

R AH

3 April 2018

201854 A 30

3 April 2018

20184 A 3R

13 December 2018

201812138

6 December 2019

2019%12H6H

6 December 2019

201912768

6 December 2019

201912768

Outstanding

as at

1 April 2023
12023545 1R
ESEd

780,000

18,450,000

4,800,000

750,000

750,000

2,595,000

Outstanding

as at

31 March

2024
1#202453A31H
B RATE

570,000

18,450,000

4,800,000

750,000

750,000

2,595,000

260 MADISON HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

40. R 0 1

Vesting period

BES

3 April 2018 to
31 December 2018
2018F4A38%
20181274310

3 April 2018 to
31 December 2018
2018F4A30%
2018F 127318

13 December 2018 to
30 June 2019

2018F12813B 2
2019%6A30H

6 December 2019 to
5 December 2020

2019F12A6HZ
202012450

6 December 2019 to
5 December 2021

2019F12A6H%
2021%12 /50

6 December 2019 to
5 December 2020

2019F12A6B%
2020912 A5H

-

R2(#)

Exercise period

TS

1 January 2019 to
2 April 2028

201951R1HZ
2028%4 A28

1 January 2019 to
2 April 2028

201951R1HZ
202844 /28

1 July 2019 to
12 December 2028
2019F7R1HZ
2028F 127128

6 December 2020 to
5 December 2029

20206 12A6H%
202951250

6 December 2021 to
5 December 2029

2021126 E
202951250

6 December 2020 to
5 December 2029

2020E12A6HZ
20294127450

Exercise price
per share

BRITEE

HK$18.90

18.90% T

HK$18.90

18.90% T

HK$11.20

11.20% T

HK$2.07

2.07% T

HK$2.07

207

HK$2.07

2,078 T



NOTES HEETENE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40. R Z (#)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Outstanding
Outstanding as at
Category of as at 31 March Exercise price
participant Date of grant 1 April 2023 2024 Vesting period Exercise period per share
1202354518  1202453A31A
SEENE RAAH i RATE HROE BB id: BRITEE
Consultants 6 December 2019 2,595,000 2,595,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2021 to HK$2.07
5 December 2021 5 December 2029
B 201912 6H 2019F12A6B% 2021%12A6B% 207871
2021412450 2029%12A5H
Employees 6 December 2019 625,000 600,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2020 to HK$2.07
5 December 2020 5 December 2029
E& 2019512 76H 2019512A6B% 2020F12R6B% 207871
202012 A5H 202951250
Employees 6 December 2019 625,000 600,000 6 December 2019 to 6 December 2021 to HK$2.07
5 December 2021 5 December 2029
fE8 20195 12A6H 2019%12A6H%E 202151260 % 2078
202112750 2029512750
The ultimate holding 23 August 2022 85,922,330 - Immediate on date 23 August 2022 to HK$1.03
company of of grant 30 September 2023
a non-controlling
shareholder
—RFERERS  202068[238 it A e 2022%8R 230 % 1.03% 7T
REERAT 2023F9A308
The ultimate holding 5 December 2023 S 85,922,330  Immediate on date 5 December 2023 to HK$1.03
company of of grant 30 September 2024
a non-controlling
shareholder
—EZFBRBEEN 2023512458 Rt AEE 202351250 % 1,038 7T
RIRERAT 2024F9A 30H

EHARREESRAT F5202324 2061
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Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The following tables disclose movements of the
Company’s share options held by directors, employees,
shareholders, consultants and the ultimate holding
company of a non-controlling shareholder during the
years:

During the year ended 31 March 2024

40. R MK 5

(&

)
=/

TREBEFANHESE  EE BRR BERE %
FEERBEROKEERDFFAE AR ABER

T

B E2024F3A31HILFE

Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
as at 1 April during during as at 31 March
Category of participant SHESE 2023 the year the year 2024
H2023%F 120245
4A1H 3A31H
fef R 4T 6 FRFZE FREMK i R AT 66
Directors BF 2,060,000 - - 2,060,000
Employees BE8 2,030,000 - (260,000) 1,770,000
Shareholders fi% 3R 2,100,000 - - 2,100,000
Consultants s 44,440,000 - - 44,440,000
The ultimate holding company —— %% 342 Hxﬁx%ﬁﬁ
of a non-controlling RRERA A
shareholder 85,922,330 85,922,330 (85,922,330) 85,922,330
136,552,330 85,922,330 (86,182,330) 136,292,330
Exercisable as at ®2024%3H31H
31 March 2024 AT 136,292,330
Weighted average MEFEHITERE
exercise price (HK$) (&) 5.0 1.0 1.1 4.9
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40.RBNARKXB (@)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE2023F3A31HIEFE
Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
as at 1 April during during  as at 31 March
Category of participant LHEENR 2022 the year the year 2023
A20224F 20234
4A18 3A31H
8 ARAT R FRRE FREY W AT
Directors o 2,190,000 - (130,000) 2,060,000
Employees EE 2,100,000 - (70,000) 2,030,000
Shareholders S 2,100,000 - - 2,100,000
Consultants 8 ] 44,440,000 - - 44,440,000
The ultimate holding company —— % 342 Hxﬁx%ﬁﬁ
of a non-controlling RRERA A
shareholder - 85,922,330 - 85,922,330
50,830,000 85,922,330 (200,000) 136,552,330
Exercisable as at 72023 3H31H
31 March 2023 AT 136,552,330
Weighted average MEFEHTERE
exercise price (HK$) (E7T) 11.6 1.0 10.5 5.0

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41.BBEALTRSF

In addition to the related party information disclosed BV EREREMBOEENEE HE L
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the 571\ CAEEEBEBRANEHRER ST ¢

Group has the following balances and transactions with
related parties:

(@) The balances with related parties at the end of the () MEBEHAREBEATZ2EHRREETH
reporting period are disclosed elsewhere in the WEREMEDHEE -

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl Z2024F3H31HIFFE

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the (b)
Group had following material transactions with its

(b)

related party:

Name of related party

Bgn &8

Bartha Holdings

Bartha Holdings

CVP Financial Group
Limited (“CVP”)

RRGREEGRAR]
(I8R1)

Madison Auction Limited

EERMPERR LA

Madison Investment (China)
Limited

FERRE(FE)BERRA]

Golden Liquid Fine Wine
Invest Limited

HEREBRRDA

Mr. Ting

THEE
SRA Holdings

SRA Holdings

Notes

it

iif

vi

vii

Nature of transaction
XEME

Interest expenses on CB
ARBREFZMERX

Interest expenses on PN

EREBZMBRAX

Sales of wine
BEENHEE
Purchase of wine
BEREN
Other income

H A4 A

Sales of wine

BEENHEE

Storage income

7B A

Sales of wine
BEBMNIEE
Purchase of wine
BEFEH
Storage income

FREUA

Interest expenses on loan from
a non-controlling shareholder

RE—RFERBRZERZ
8 5
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A1.BEBEANLTXRF (&)

2024
2024%F
HK$’000
FHT

408

1,887

514

22

145

237

8,439

H E2024F K 2023F3A31H IEFE &
EEBREFEALTZ EARSOT :

2023
20234
HK$°000
FET
4,404

1,365

461

561

45

31

217

184

8,204




NOTES HEETENE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\lj_\

R T

For the year ended 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3H31HIFFE

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Note i: Bartha Holdings is beneficially owned as to
approximately 88.9% by Mr. Ting.

Note ii: CVP is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. Ting.

Note iii: Madison Auction Limited is beneficially
owned as to approximately 61.43% by Mr.
Ting.

Note iv: Madison Investment (China) Limited is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. Ting.

Note v: Golden Liquid Fine Wine Invest Limited
is beneficially owned as to approximately
60.0% by Mr. Ting.

Note vi: Mr. Ting is a controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Note vii: SRA Holdings is indirectly interested

in 40,454,545 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 6.49% of the
issued share capital of the Company,
through Software Research Associates, Inc.,
being its direct wholly-owned subsidiary.

The transactions referred to in notes i and ii above
were connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which were
subject to the disclosure requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules. Further details of the transactions
referred to in notes i and ii above are disclosed in
note 33 and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report. The transactions referred
to in notes iii, iv, v and vi above were connected
transactions exempt from the report, annual
review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The transaction referred to in note vii above
was not a continuing connected transaction or
connected transaction as defined under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

1. BEALTRZ (&)

by (&)

Bt et Bartha Holdingsi T & £ B 25 ¥
A H88.9% S -

B i - REBRTAEETZHEAE100%E

Bt aziii HEBRMEERAAABT LLEE
VB H)61.43%HE %5 o

W ativ - EaHFRPE)REERARABT
HHEERHEBI100%ELS ©

Kty HWeREBRARHBT AEES
BB #60.0% % °

W atvi TEEBARBN—BERK
ﬁ °

B atvii SRAHoldingsiB B EEHZ 2 &

fif B » & Software Research
Associates, Inc. & # B A Q7
40,454,545 R IR 17 - (h AR AIE
BT AR 496.49% ©

EXHFIRITENR S AGEM ETT A
FOOEFMATMNEERS * BEFGEM E
MHRAMEERTE - EXHFiIRMiIiFRR
NRBNELZHFBEARSENEEGMBR
=K FESSFIN 36/ ' o £ ST sEiii
v VRVIFTEE MR 5 1R & 5 GEM 45 Al
F20EH R o EXHFVIFTIENR 5 IE
RIEGEM MBI 20E T R 5 E RS
ERXHREERS -

SEARREEGRAT F£5202324 2065



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS HM.BEALIRS (&)
(Continued)

()  The remuneration of directors and other members of ) RERNEZTNEMEZEEEREKES /N
key management during the year are as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Short-term benefits %2 B 4E A 5,432 5,943
Post-employment benefits B2 1 A 92 97
5,524 6,040
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EENTETHABZEMESTMEE 2
determined by the remuneration committee having A RERKRIBELEMIBEBREET -
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 2.BMETHMELERAEZHE
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERHFMAEEREZHFIEEAECE
arising from financing activities, including both cash BIERSRIFBEY  MEZTHMELERE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EHR S REE XA KXKBE S REENEEAR S
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future MERANDEARETHMELARSREZA
cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement & :

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities:

Non-cash changes

¥Re28
Recognition
Finance Recognition Foreign of derivative
Financing cost Interests of right-of-  exchange financial 31 March
1 April 2023 cash flows incurred accrued  use assets movements instruments 2024
2023% HE fE% B3 BRfiE 045

4818 RERE  MEAL  BHAE GREEE  HERE SRIE  9AME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
&L FEx FEr FEn FEn FET FET FET

Amount due to a shareholder ER-2REHE 110,525 (3,159) - - - - - 107,366
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder RE-2HEREEZER 80,838 - 6,063 - - (10,567) (680) 75,654

Interest payable 7S
(included in trade and other payables) GtABAREMERZE) 2,145 (7,276) 2,376 4,099 = (198) = 1,146
Barrowings 5 30992 (15000 4,009 (4,099) - - N 7Y
Lease liabilties HEBE 15,085 (11,397) 943 = 1,978 4 = 6,575
28555 (68%) 13481 - 1078 (10,769) (©80) 215733

Non-cash changes

$Re28
Recognition
Finance Recognition Foreign of derivative
Financing cost Interests ofright-of-  exchange financial 31 March
1 April 2022 cashflows incurred accrued  use assets movements instruments Redemption 2023
2022F g fiEE B R 20235

4818 RERE  MEAA  BHAE  REEEE  HERE  eRIR 1] 331
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL &L FEx FET FET FET FET FET TEx

Amount due to a shareholder ER-2REHE 18,286 (2,069) - - - - - 94,308 110,525
Loan from a non-controling shareholder RE-2HERRREZER 96,450 5 6,484 5 5 814 (12,28 5 80,838

Interest payable 8
(included in trade and other payables) GtABAREMERZE) 510 (5,143) 1,720 5,143 = (85) = = 2,145
Borrowings X 44,992 (5,000 5,143 (5,143) - - -~ 5 39,992
Convertible bonds (Note 33) MRRES (Hi53) 145,59 = 4,404 = = = - (150,000) =
Promissory notes payables (Note 36) LSS EE) 65,596 - 1,365 - - - (1,365) (65,59) -
Lease liabilties HERE 17,0714 (11,5572) 1458 - 7,386 514 - - 15,055
388,703 (23,784) 20,569 = 7,386 (0385 (13.647)  (121267) 248555

EHARREESRAT FH202324 2067
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43.A& QA KB Q8 2 215
THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 20244 k2023F3A31B 2 X EMB R AIF
and 2023 are as follows: (=R N
Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation/ Place of Class of paid share capital/ Percentage of equity Percentage of proportion of voting Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment operation share held registered capital interest attributable to the Group power held by the Company activities
2Rk
AL/ HBREE/
il PEL HIB%REH EEHY KERGZEN AREA FERELRER AL EAAFERERL S TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 20245 20038

Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
% k3 E% ) E% k3 E% A

Madison International Seychelles HongKong ~ Ordinary shares USS10,870/ 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Wine Company Limited 21 November 2013 US$1,000,000
(‘Madison International’)
FERERELARAT  EEA X ERR 1087057/ RERR
((anar)) 20135115218 1,000,000% 7
Madison (China) Limited Hong Kong HongKong ~ Ordinary shares HK$10,000/ - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Sales of alcoholic
14 April 1997 HK$10,000 heverages
FeR(hE)ERAA B 30 Eak 10,000%7/ EERDHE
199745148 10,000 T
Madison Wine Club Limited  Hong Kong HongKong  Ordinary shares HK$1/HKS1 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100%  Sales of alcoholic
12 January 2012 beverages and
wine storage
Madison Wine Club Limited &% 30 R Ay ERSRHER
2012615128 R R
CVP Financial Holdings British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong ~ Ordinary shares US$10,000/  89.34% - 89.34% - 89.34% - 89.34% - Investment holding
Limited (‘CVP Financial’)  (‘BVI') US850,000
21 September 2016
ERORBRERAR ERRLES 30 Eak 10,0005/ RERR
(lghem)) ([%BE%#E) 50,000% 7
2016595218
Madison Blockchain Seychelles HongKong ~ Ordinary shares Uss1/ 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Holdings Co Ltd 8 March 2018 US$1,000,000
Madison Blockchain £58 Eh LR 1#n/ RERK
Holdings Co Ltd 20185378 1,000,000% 7T
CVP Capital Limited Hong Kong HongKong  Ordinary shares HK$28,300,000/ - 50.98% - 59.98% - 67.14% - 67.14% Business
20 May 2014 HK$28,300,000 consultancy
CVP Capital Limited 3 &% 2Rk 28,300,000 7/ HER
2014855208 28,300,007
CVP Investment Holdings ~ Hong Kong HongKong ~ Ordinary shares HKS1/HKS1 - 89.34% - 89.34% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 28 June 2017
OVP Investment Holdings 7% Eh Lk 1BL/1EL RERK
Limited 2017565285
Hackett Seychelles HongKong ~ Ordinary shares US$100/ 1% - % - 1% - 7% - Investment holding
3 September 2014 US$1,000,000
Hackett 341 X ERR 100271/ RERR
201459537 1,000,000% 7T
Starlight Financial Holdings ~ Hong Kong HongKong ~ Ordinary shares HK$234,000,000/ - 539% - 539% - 70% - 70%  Investment holding
Limited 3 June 2011 HK$234,000,000
HEEAEHERARAT EE & R 234,000,000 7,/ Kank
201156437 234,000,000
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Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE
43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43.KXAGRIMIB AT 2518 (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation/ Place of Class of paid share capital/ Percentage of equity Percentage of proportion of voting Principal
Name of subsidiary establishment operation share held registered capital interest attributable to the Group power held by the Company activities
BRAR
R/ #rRA/
KEAALE RIBERAH EEBY KERGZEN ERER AEBEEREES Y ARRFERERLA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024% 2023% 20245 23F
Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly  Directly Indirectly
E# B B A% E# 3 B )
Treasure Like Holdings Hong Kong HongKong  Ordinary shares HK$1/HKS1 - 53.9% - 539% - 100% S 100%  Loan financing
Limited (formerly known 15 February 2013 services
as “China Runking
Financing Group
Limited’)
Treasure Like Holdings &% Bk Lk 1B/ ERRERE

Limted (B8 ‘#EEE  2013F2R 158
NEEBARAR)

City Eagle Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong HongKong ~ Ordinary shares HK$100/HK$100 - 539% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
27 June 2011
REERERLR B X Lk 100%7/1007 RERR
1156R277
Wine Financier Limited Hong Kong HongKong  Ordinary shares HK$10,000/ - % S 7% - 100% S 100%  Financial consulting
11 September 2014 HK$10,000 services
BEEERAR B Bk EER 10,0007/ RERARE
201459118 10,000 7T
Chongging Run Kun The PRC The PRC Registered HK$10,000,000/ - 539% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Financial consulting
Management Consulting 17 June 2013 capital HK$10,000,000 services
Company Limited#
(EERHLEEREN
ARAF)
ERENOFERRY HE il itmas 10,000,007/ RERARE
ERAT 201356178 10,000,000 7T
Run Tong Credit (Liangjiang ~ The PRC The PRC Registered US830,000,000/ - 539% - 539% - 100% - 100%  Loan financing
District Chongging) Co. 18 October 2011 capital 1S$30,000,000 services and
Lid! ((EEAMINERE microfinance
MEERERAT) services
BETMINERA ik ik iftEx 30,000,000¥7/ ENBERBR
MEERERAR 20115107188 30,000,000% ¢ MABERRK
# The English translation is for identification only. # WXEAREHRNZA -
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43.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
subsidiaries of the Company listed in the above table
principally affected the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result in
particular of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

The subsidiaries established in the PRC disclosed above
are limited liability.

Composition of the Group

Information about the composition of the Group other than
the principal subsidiaries disclose above at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Principal activities

TEED &E i B 3L 3t B

Investment holding Hong Kong

REER &
BVI
RBRUHS
Seychelles
EFTR
The PRC
&
Cayman
FEHRS

Loan financing services The PRC

ERBE RS T E
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Places of incorporation

A3. XN FMB AR ZHE (&)

ARREBERR  LRANARAKBERRE
w%ﬂiﬁgiﬁ BENABE - HAHMHEB
RAMFEBHEHRRERERITE

BENBAR
%’éfﬂfﬁ%m%‘ 2

RERIKFAEMEREERMD

ErRRBORTERTNHBEATNAERE
ERT -

REEZAK
RBREPREAAEE 2 AKX (TR L XAE
BOTEMEARDEHAT

Number of wholly-owned
subsidiaries

2ENBEARHE
2024 2023
20244 20234
4 7
3 4
- 1
1 1
- 1
3 3
11 17
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. KA FMEB AR ZHE (&)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Number of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries

Composition of the Group (Continued) REBZHARK(#Z)
Principal activities Places of incorporation
FEEH 5 A 37t Bh
Investment holding Hong Kong
KREZEK EB

The PRC

&
Financial services Hong Kong
T R’ AR 7% BB
Loan financing services The PRC
ENEE R H

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have V=
material non-controlling interests to the Group are B
disclosed below.

FEEMBLEHE

2024 2023
20244 20234
3 4

2 2

1 1

1 1

7 8

AR ASEEAEAFERESNIFZER
AFHBHRELT -
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

Place of incorporation/

Name of subsidiary principal place of business
WELEEE AMAIRY/TEEERY
CVP Financial BVI/Hong Kong

EReR SBRAEE/FE
Hackett (Note) Seychelles/Hong Kong
Hackett(f/st) ERR/EA

Individual immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

ERFaREENENTEANELR

Total
3t

Note:

Proportion of ownership
interests held by

non-controlling interests

FERERRRZRARLA

2024 2023
2024 2023%

10.66% 10.66%

23% 23%

The calculation included the non-controlling interest of
Starlight Financial, a 70% owned subsidiary of Hackett, and its

subsidiaries.
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A3. XN FMB AR ZHE (&)
REEAFERERZEZENBATZ

B
TRITAGEEEEERFERER 2R E
MEARZFHE
Voting rights held by (Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interest
FERRERACAZRE  AERZFERERC(BR)EA PRI $
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023% 20245 2028% 20245 2023F
HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS§'000 HK$'000
FE7 AT FEn T
10.66% 10.66% (574) (1,087) (21,940) (21,366)
28% 23% (999) 1,220 174,153 184,523
- 651 (54) (1,166)
(1,573) 784 152,159 161,991
Bt -

T E B T Hackett FTRF A B 70% K I B A 7] 2 N & &l

BFEIERER  UREWEBA

Al o
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. KX aMfB AR 2B (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEERIERERZEZENBLATZ
that have material non-controlling interests HiEE)
(Continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s REBEEEEAFERERNTFRAAINTBEE
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests ERENT cHEASEANNEBEINSEE
are set out below and the amounts are before intra-group
eliminations:
CVP Financial ER&w
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current assets MENEE 36,936 39,356
Non-current assets EREBEE 34,467 34,470
Current liabilities BB & (282,292) (283,251)
Non-current liabilities ERBAEGE = -
Equity attributable to owner of the Company AR Bl A A REGHEZ (188,949) (188,059
Non-controlling interests FEE IR R (21,940) (21,366)
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. KX alMfiB AR 2B (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEERIERERZEZENBLATZ
that have material non-controlling interests HiEE)
(Continued)
CVP Financial (Continued) EREem(E)
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue I &= = —
Expenses 53 (1,465) (6,322)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive  FREE NLFRN
expense for the year THERS A (1,465) (6,322)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive  ARAG#HEE AELHERNEE
expense for the year attributable to FERNTERIRE
owners of the Company (891) (5,235)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive JFEIEREREEFANEE X

expense for the year attributable to non- FAEHEMXEE
controlling interests (574) (1,087)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEEIR ML F5E (2,419) (6,356)
Net cash outflow from investing activities EEER R FE - (38,663)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHRESRA R 1,902 45,114
Net cash (outflow) inflow Re (R RAFRE (517) 95
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. KX aMfB AR 2B (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEEAEREZZEZENBLATZ
that have material non-controlling interests G &)
(Continued)
Hackett Hackett
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Current assets mENE E 459,832 481,947
Non-current assets IERBEE 35,552 45,392
Current liabilities mEBE (88,896) (102,030)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (917) (864)
Equity attributable to owner of the Company ~ ZNA T B A E(LfE 231,418 239,922
Non-controlling interests FIEIE IR 174,153 184,523
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43. KA TAMB AR 2518 (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary

BEEAFEREZZHZENBLAAZ

that have material non-controlling interests HiEE)
(Continued)
Hackett (Continued) Hackett( %)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Revenue W s 40,874 49,483
Expenses % (41,830) (45,221)
(Loss) profit for the year and total FANEE) AT RER
comprehensive income for the year T HK AR (956) 4,262
Profit for the year and total comprehensive 722 &) B A JE(E FE XN
income for the year attributable to wAEERER
owners of the Company W= B %8 43 3,042
(Loss) profit for the year and total FEVE % 1 2= FE G £ 1A
comprehensive income for the year (BR)SMEFANEE
attributable to non-controlling interests I %5 42 58 (999) 1,220
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEFHRSMAFE 7,996 55,744
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing BREFHHES R WA
activities FER (31) 623
Net cash outflow from financing activities mEEBHR SR L FE (34,795) (40,510)
Net cash (outflow) inflow R ORE)RAFE (26,830) 15,857
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 44,7 1 7] 2 B B AR OR &R

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FET FEIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRR ZHE (a) 429,033 429,033
Plant and equipment R = & % 10 8
429,043 429,041
Current assets ME)EE
Other receivables ﬁ{’ﬂ}‘&“u&z%ﬂﬁ 187 188
Amount due from subsidiaries FEU BT B A B I8 (b) 24,150 24,577
Bank balances and cash R1T ,\\uﬁ%&iﬁﬁ 455 5,248
24,792 30,013
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables H fth &~ 5K 1B 557 1,042
Amount due to a shareholder TEfN —Z IR R IR 107,366 110,525
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT KB A B 3kI8 (b) 202,330 177,182
Borrowings RN 24,992 39,992
Derivative financial instruments PTESRmIA 29 9
335,274 328,750
Net current liabilities mEAEFE (310,482) (298,737)
Total assets less current liabilities BELBERRDEE 118,561 130,304
Capital and reserves BEAKFEES
Share capital A% X 6,231 6,231
Reserves i (c) 112,330 124,073
Total equity MR 118,561 130,304
Non-current liabilities ERBEaE = -
118,561 130,304

HHEREREERRAF
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Con

tinued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

As at 31 March 2024, investments in subsidiaries
are carried at cost of HK$983,272,000 (2023:
HK$983,272,000), no impairment loss in respect of
investments in subsidiaries has been recognised in profit or
loss for the years ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

44. K DB 2B BMRRAER 2)
Bt -
(a) F2024F3A318  RHEBRRIMIKRE JHIRK A

#49983,272,00078 7T (20234 : 983,272,000
TSR MARKMBARMEBRE S RN REEIE
WEREE2024F3A31B L FEMBERPER
(20234 : #) o

The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured, non- (b) ER(EMMKMNBARNREAEIRT EEKE
interest bearing and repayable on demand. BREE -
Reserves of the Company (c) ADBZfHEE
Convertible
bonds -
Share equity
Share Other options conversion  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TERES
KB RE Bt BRERE -EZELRE 5y @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FET FE7 TE7 TAT
(Note)
(Hit)
As at 1 April 2022 R2022F 4418 1,311,985 62,217 21,155 174,782 (1,536,317) 33,822
Profit for the year and other FREFRERN
comprehensive income for the year 2 EMELE - - - - 90,251 90,251
Lapse of share options (Note 40) BRI IR (W at40) = S (966) - 966 -
Release of convertible bonds - BREREREED
equity conversion reserve upon mERES -
expiration of the option (Note 33) ERERREWE) = = = (174,782) 174,782 -
As at 31 March 2023 #2023%3A31A 1,311,985 62,217 20,189 - (1,270,318) 124,073
Loss for the year and other ERBERER
comprehensive expense for the year 2 EEX 28 - - - - (11,743) (11,743)
Lapse of share options (Note 40) BIRE IR (Wit40) - - 2,259) = 2,259 =
Release of convertible bonds - AREEREER
equity conversion reserve upon maRES-
expiration of the option (Note 33) EEEREEWH) - S = - - _
As at 31 March 2024 202453318 1,311,985 62,217 17,930 - (1,279,802) 112,330
Note: /zﬁné:t\r .

Other reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued for the acquisition of
Madison International and the consolidated net asset values
of Madison International and its subsidiaries at the date of
acquisition.
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NOTES HEETENE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ¥R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
Bl E2024F3H31HIFFE

45. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 45 FEH R EIH

PERIOD

On 28 May 2024, the Company as the vendor, CVP,
as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) and Mr. Ting, as
the Purchaser’s guarantor entered into the sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase, 38% of issued shares
of Hackett (the “Disposal Company”), representing
38% equity interests in the Disposal Company for a total
consideration of HK$56.4 million.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 28 May 2024, 4 June 2024 and 18 June
2024 respectively.

Save as the above, there was no significant event relevant
to the business or financial performance of the Group that
came to the attention of the Directors after the end of the
reporting period.

R2024F5A28H » ARFR(EBER)  &BEA
(ERBEFIER]) BHTEE(WEREAN
EBRAELBEEHZ Bt - X28EEHR
EHEMEHBRKMHREREBEHackett([ HEA
ﬁJ)ss%E%’éfﬁ%M*H“ﬁﬁAﬁE@aﬁE’qss%ﬂ&
1) #K{8 556,400,000/ 7T °

ERLEFE 2B ARAFHHEH A A2024
F5A28H 20245648 k202465 18H 1

N -

BrEdiES  RERRLAEIIERESTEME
AEEEGRMBRREEANERS -

EEARREESRAT FH202324 279



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AIFEMBHE

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue =

(Loss) profit before tax BrE AT (B8 )& H
Income tax credit (expense) P8 e ()

(Loss) profit for the year AT ATREER(EE)
attributable to: wm A

Owners of the Company VN/NETEF =N

Non-controlling interests FEVE R 2

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at 31 March

Total assets BERAE
Total liabilities BEBE
Total equity A%

HE3ABIBILFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
F#ET FET FET FET FET
68,087 97,174 130,492 106,896 196,535
(19,762) 9,487 (16,661) (46,030) (322,532)
1,972 (10,914) 617) (4,918) 4,250
(16,217) 2,211) (16,641) (34,968) (278,922)
(1,573) 784 (637) (15,980) (39,360)
EEREE
M3A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FEr
350,808 432,278 618,522 649,423 863,514
(237,524) (282,705) (442,255) (410,331) (665,599)
113,284 149,573 176,267 239,092 197,915
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